Regulation of adipogenesis and adipose maintenance by the mammalian TOR complex 1

INAUGURALDISSERTATION

zur Erlangung der Würde eines Doktors der Philosophie

vorgelegt der

Philosophisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der Universität Basel

von

Pazit Polak

aus Israel

Basel, May 2008

Genehmigt von der Philosophisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät auf Antrag der Herren Prof. Dr. M. N. Hall und Prof. Dr. Markus A. Rüegg.

Basel, den 20. Mai 2008

Prof. Dr. H. P. Hauri, Dekan

Table of Contents

Table of Contents
Summary5
Acknowledgements7
Introduction
General overview
The TOR protein 12
TORC1 13
Adipose tissue 20
Materials and methods 35
Results 42
mTORC1 is required for adipogenesis and adipose maintenance in vitro
mTORC1 does not phosphorylate PPARγ 45
Inhibition of mTORC1 does not affect the level or localization of PPARγ and its cofactors
Inhibition of mTORC1 decreases the activity of PPARy in 3T3-L1 cells downstream of the PPARy ligands
Generation and validation of adipose-specific <i>raptor</i> knockout mice (<i>raptor</i> ^{ad-/-}) 52
<i>raptor</i> ^{ad-/-} mice are lean and resistant to diet-induced obesity
<i>raptor</i> ^{ad-/-} mice have smaller and fewer WAT cells

<i>raptor</i> ^{ad-/-} mice have better metabolic parameters
Food intake or absorption, physical activity, adipose-specific lipolysis or expression of fat genes do not account for the leanness of <i>raptor</i> ^{ad-/-} mice
<i>raptor</i> ^{ad-/-} mice have higher energy expenditure due to an increase in uncoupled respiration in WAT
Discussion
References
PRAS40 and PRR5-Like Protein Are New mTOR Interactors that Regulate Apoptosis 100
Erklärung 111

Summary

mTOR, an atypical serine/threonine kinase, is a central component of a highly conserved signal transduction cascade that controls cell growth. It functions as part of two distinct multiprotein complexes, mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) and mTOR complex 2 (mTORC2). mTORC1 contains mTOR, raptor, mLST8, and PRAS40, and is sensitive to the immunosuppressive and anti-cancer drug rapamycin. mTORC1 controls protein synthesis via phosphorylation of two well characterized effectors, the kinase S6K and the translational repressor 4E-BP1. mTORC2 contains mTOR, mLST8, rictor and mSin1, and is not directly inhibited by rapamycin, although long term rapamycin treatment can inhibit mTORC2 indirectly in certain cell types. It controls organization of the actin cytoskeleton. Both complexes are conserved in structure and function from yeast to human.

The mTOR signaling pathway is controlled by nutrients, cellular energy status, and growth factors such as insulin. Since mTOR is regulated by metabolic signals, we focused our research on the roles of the mTOR signaling pathway in metabolic tissues, in particular adipose tissue. My research project concentrated on studying how mTORC1 signaling affects adipocytes, in tissue culture and in mice.

Adipose tissue functions mainly as a long term fat storage depot. However, it is also an important endocrine organ, which secretes hormones, cytokines and complement factors. In this thesis, I first present evidence confirming that mTORC1 is required for the differentiation and maintenance of adipocytes *in vitro*. In tissue culture, inhibition of mTORC1 caused a decrease in the expression of adipose transcription factors, which led to a decreased expression of genes related to fat metabolism and storage. This resulted in de-differentiation of the cells, manifested as loss of intracellular triglycerides. I further focused my research on the key adipogenic transcription factor PPARy, and tried to elucidate the molecular mechanism by which mTORC1 regulates its activity. The results suggested that rapamycin treatment acts to inhibit PPARy downstream of its ligands.

To investigate a role of adipose mTORC1 in regulation of adipose and whole body metabolism, we generated mice with an adipose-specific knockout of *raptor* (*raptor*^{ad-/-}). Compared to control littermates, *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice had substantially less adipose tissue, were protected against diet-induced obesity and hypercholesterolemia, and exhibited improved insulin sensitivity. Leanness was despite reduced physical activity and unaffected caloric intake, lipolysis, and absorption of lipids from the food. White adipose tissue of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice displayed enhanced expression of genes encoding mitochondrial uncoupling proteins characteristic of brown fat. Leanness of the *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice was attributed to elevated energy expenditure due to mitochondrial uncoupling. These results suggest that adipose mTORC1 is a regulator of adipose metabolism and thereby controls whole body energy homeostasis.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people:

Mike Hall for guidance and support.

Nadine Cybulski and Kathrin Thediek for friendly and fruitful collaborations on the raptor^{ad-/-} mice and PRAS40/PRR5L projects, respectively.

All members of the Hall lab for helpful suggestions and discussions. Special thanks to Andrea Löschmann for technical assistance with genotyping and histology.

Our collaborators:

- Markus Rüegg and members of his lab for generating *raptor*^{floxed} mice, helpful discussions and technical advice on histology.
- Johan Auwerx and members of his lab for helpful discussions and technical advice on MEF isolation and dissections. Special thanks to Jerome Feige for performing the cellular oxygen consumption experiment.
- Konstantin Beier and Isabelle Ginez for technical advice on histology.
- Andreas Hein and Philippe Demougin for help with qPCRs.
- Taufiq Harach for technical assistance with glucose tolerance tests.

And of course, to my family and all my friends for their love and support.

Introduction

General overview

TOR (Target of Rapamycin) kinase is a highly conserved, central controller of cell growth (Corradetti and Guan, 2006; Guertin and Sabatini, 2007; Hay and Sonenberg, 2004; Wullschleger et al., 2006). It was originally identified in *S. cerevisiae* (Heitman et al., 1991), as the molecular target of the anti-fungal drug rapamycin. Later on, TOR genes were identified also in algae, slime mold, plants, worms, flies, and mammals (Wullschleger et al., 2006). The fundamental importance of TOR is underscored by genetic studies showing TOR to be essential for cell growth and development; disruption of the *TOR* gene is lethal in all examined species (Gangloff et al., 2004; Kunz et al., 1993; Long et al., 2002; Menand et al., 2002; Murakami et al., 2004; Oldham et al., 2000). In humans, dysfunctional mTOR signaling plays an important role in many if not most cancers, as well as in diseases such as tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) and lymphangiomyelomatosis.

TOR is found in two functionally and structurally distinct multiprotein complexes termed TOR complex 1 (TORC1) and TORC2 (Jacinto et al., 2004; Loewith et al., 2002; Sarbassov et al., 2004). In mammals, mTORC1 consists of mTOR, raptor, PRAS40, and LST8, and is sensitive to rapamycin (Fonseca et al., 2007; Haar et al., 2007; Hara et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2003; Loewith et al., 2002; Oshiro et al., 2007; Sancak et al., 2007; Thedieck et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2007b). mTORC2 contains mTOR, rictor, SIN1, and LST8 (Frias et al., 2006; Jacinto et al., 2006; Jacinto et al., 2004; Sarbassov et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2006a), and is not directly inhibited by rapamycin, although long term rapamycin treatment can inhibit mTORC2 indirectly in certain cell types (Sarbassov et al., 2006). Knockout of *mTOR*, *raptor*, *SIN1* or *rictor* in mice is embryonic lethal, indicating that both mTORC1 and mTORC2 are essential (Gangloff et al., 2004; Guertin et al., 2006; Jacinto et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2006; Jacinto et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2006; Murakami et al., 2004; Shiota et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2006a).

mTORC1 is activated by nutrients (amino acids), anabolic growth factors (e.g., insulin and insulin-like growth factor), and cellular energy (ATP). The growth factor signal and energy status are transmitted to mTORC1 via the essential tuberous sclerosis complex proteins TSC1 and TSC2 (Crino et al., 2006; Kwiatkowski, 2003). The TSC heterodimer (TSC1-TSC2) is a GTPase activating protein (GAP) that inhibits the essential small GTPase Rheb (Garami et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2003b). Rheb-GTP binds and activates mTORC1 (Avruch et al., 2006). Akt phosphorylates and inactivates TSC2 in response to growth factors (Shaw and Cantley, 2006), whereas AMP kinase (AMPK) phosphorylates and activates TSC2 in response to low energy (high AMP) (Dennis et al., 2001; Inoki et al., 2003b). Nutrients impinge on mTORC1 at the level of Rheb or mTORC1 by a poorly understood mechanism involving the type III PI3K hVps34 (Avruch et al., 2006; Nobukuni et al., 2005). The upstream regulators of the more recently identified mTORC2 are not known, but mTORC2 appears to respond at least to growth factors, possibly via TSC1-TSC2 (Yang et al., 2006b). The mammalian TOR signaling network is depicted in illustration 1 (Soulard and Hall, 2007).

mTORC1 and mTORC2 separately control many cellular processes that collectively determine cell growth and development. mTORC1 controls transcription, protein synthesis, ribosome biogenesis, nutrient transport, and autophagy, among other processes. mTORC1 controls protein synthesis via phosphorylation of S6 kinase (S6K) and eIF-4E binding protein (4E-BP), two key regulators of translation initiation (Brunn et al., 1997; Burnett et al., 1998; Hay and Sonenberg, 2004). mTORC2 controls organization of the actin cytoskeleton via small Rho-type GTPases and Protein Kinase C (Jacinto et al., 2004; Sarbassov et al., 2004; Schmidt et al., 1997), and thereby determines the shape and possibly motility of the cell. In addition, mTORC2 phosphorylates Ser473 within the hydrophobic motif of Akt and thereby activates Akt toward substrates such as the Forkhead transcription factor FOXO and the apoptosis regulator BAD (Jacinto et al., 2006; Sarbassov et al., 2005; Shiota et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2006a).



Illustration 1. The mammalian TOR signaling pathway (Soulard and Hall, 2007).

Although mTORC1 is present in essentially all tissues, the findings that it is controlled by metabolic signals and is implicated in metabolic disorders suggest that it plays a particularly important role in metabolic tissues. Thus, we have focused on studying the role of the mTORC1 signaling pathway in metabolic tissues, in particular adipose tissue. My research project concentrated on studying how mTORC1 signaling affects adipocytes, in tissue culture and in mice.

Adipose tissue functions mainly as a long term fat storage depot. However, it is also an important endocrine organ, which secretes hormones, cytokines and complement factors such as leptin, adiponectin, TNF α and many others (Gimeno and Klaman, 2005; Shi and Burn, 2004), that regulate energy homeostasis, lipid metabolism, appetite, fertility, immune and stress responses. Excess or deficiency of adipose tissue can lead to severe metabolic diseases such as type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disorders and cancer.

Several studies in tissue culture have demonstrated that rapamycin treatment strongly inhibits differentiation and maintenance of adipocytes (Bell et al., 2000; Cho et al., 2004; El-Chaar et al., 2004; Gagnon et al., 2001; Kim and Chen, 2004; Yeh et al., 1995a). In addition, rapamycin is being used as an immunosuppressive medication, with the major adverse reaction of hyperlipidemia (Morrisett et al., 2002), which might also suggest a function for mTORC1 in adipose tissue.

In this thesis, I will present experiments that show the importance of mTORC1 for the development and maintenance of adipose tissue, and examine the molecular basis for mTORC1 requirement for adipogenesis and adipose maintenance.

The next parts of the introduction will include a deaper overview of the published literature concerning the most relevant aspects of my research work: mTORC1 structure, regulation and signaling, adipose tissue function, and the links between them.

The TOR protein

TOR is a large protein (~280 kDa), that was first identified in 1991 in *S. cerevisiae* as the target of the anti-fungal drug rapamycin (Heitman et al., 1991). It was subsequently isolated and sequenced (Cafferkey et al., 1993; Helliwell et al., 1994; Kunz et al., 1993), and found to have homologs in many other species, including the fungi *S. pombe* (Weisman and Choder, 2001), *C. neoformans* (Cruz et al., 1999) and *C. albicans* (Cruz et al., 2001), and the higher eukaryotes *A. thaliana* (Menand et al., 2002), *C. reinhardtii* (Crespo et al., 2005), *Dictyostelium* (Lee et al., 2005), *D. melanogaster* (Oldham et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2000), *C. elegans* (Long et al., 2002), and mammals. The mammalian TOR is called mTOR (also named FRAP, RAFT1) (Brown et al., 1994; Sabatini et al., 1994; Sabers et al., 1995). TOR homologs were found in every examined eukaryotic organism to date, indicating that it might be conserved in all eukaryotes. Budding yeast contain two TOR proteins, TOR1 and TOR2, that are 67% identical in their amino acids sequence (Helliwell et al., 1994). Other fungi also contain two TOR proteins, but higher eukaryotes contain only one TOR protein.

The C-terminus of the TOR proteins bares homology to the catalytic subunits of PI3Ks from bovine and yeast (Cafferkey et al., 1993; Kunz et al., 1993). Based on this homology, TOR was classified and is the founding member of the PI kinase-related kinases (PIKKs) family, together with the yeast TEL1 and MEC1, fly MEI41, worm SMG-1, and human DNA-PK, ATM, ATR, and FRP1 (Abraham, 2001; Keith and Schreiber, 1995). Despite the homology to lipid kinases, PIKK kinases are in fact Ser/Thr kinases.

The N-terminus of TOR contains two large blocks of tandem HEAT motifs, that were named so because they appear, among others, in the proteins <u>H</u>untingtin, <u>e</u>longation factor 3, <u>A</u> subunit of protein phosphatase 2A, and <u>T</u>OR1 (Andrade and Bork, 1995). These motifs consist of 37-43 amino acids that occur in blocks of 3-22 tandem repeats, not well conserved in sequence but baring a common structure architecture of hydrophobic and hydrophilic residues that form antiparallel α -helices (Kobe et al., 1999). They are thought to mediate protein-protein interactions. Next to the HEAT repeats is the FAT domain, another domain common to all PIKKs. This domain is always coupled with a FATC domain, that is found at the very C-terminus of TOR. These two domains are thought to interact with each other to mediate protein-protein interactions. Subsequent to the FAT domain is the FKBP-rapamycin binding domain (FRB), the binding site for the FKBP-rapamycin complex. Finally there is the kinase domain, which is the active site of TOR. To summarize, the outline of the TOR domains order from N- to C-terminus is HEAT-HEAT-FAT-FRB-kinase-FATC.

TORC1

Composition and localization

TORC1 was first described in *S. cerevisiae*, where it contains either TOR1 or TOR2, in addition to LST8, KOG1, and TCO89 (Loewith et al., 2002; Reinke et al., 2004). Deletion of any of TORC1 components except TCO89 disrupts the complex, and is lethal for the yeast (Heitman et al., 1991; Loewith et al., 2002). The mammalian counterparts of mTORC1 are mTOR, mLST8, PRAS40 and raptor (homolog of KOG1) (Fonseca et al., 2007; Haar et al., 2007; Hara et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2003; Loewith et al., 2002; Oshiro et al., 2007; Sancak et al., 2007; Thedieck et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2007b). Tissue RNA expression profiling revealed ubiquitous expression of the mTORC1 members. Especially high levels were detected in skeletal muscle, and to a lesser extent in kidney, heart, brain, liver, and placenta (Kim et al., 2002; Loewith et al., 2002). The subcellular localization of mTORC1 is under debate, as several groups have shown very different localizations including the cytoplasm, nucleus, mitochondria and ER/golgi (Desai et al., 2002; Drenan et al., 2004; Kim and Chen, 2000; Paglin et al., 2005; Park et al., 2002; Sabatini et al., 1999; Schieke et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2002).

KOG1 is highly conserved, with homologs found in every sequenced eukaryotic genome (Kim et al., 2002). raptor (regulatory associated protein of mTOR), the mammalian homolog, is a 150 kDa protein that contains in its N-terminus a novel domain

[13]

named RNC (raptor N-terminal conserved) that is conserved among raptor homologs. This domain is composed of three blocks with at least 67%–79% sequence similarity, predicted to form α -helices (Kim et al., 2002). raptor also contains four HEAT repeats and seven WD-40 repeats (Shinozaki-Yabana et al., 2000). The interaction between raptor and mTOR involves the HEAT repeats of mTOR, and multiple sites in raptor (Kim et al., 2002). raptor directly interacts with substrates of mTORC1, and functions as a scaffold protein to tether the substrates and mTOR together (Nojima et al., 2003). The interaction between mTOR and raptor is disrupted by rapamycin treatment (Kim et al., 2002; Oshiro et al., 2004).

LST8 is an essential protein of unknown function. The mammalian homolog mLST8 (previously also called G β L) is a 36 kDa protein that consists almost entirely of seven WD-40 repeats (Kim et al., 2003). It binds the C-terminus of mTOR and positively regulates its activity (Kim et al., 2003).

Upstream regulators

mTORC1 integrates signals from several inputs, namely growth factors, nutrients, energy and stress. An overview on the entire mTOR upstream regulatory network can be found in illustration 1 (Soulard and Hall, 2007).

The best described signaling pathway to activate mTORC1 is via the growth factor insulin. Insulin binds to its receptor, a tyrosine kinase, which in response phosphorylates and activates the insulin receptor substrate (IRS). IRS recruits then PI3K, that phosphorylates and converts phosphatidylinositol-4,5-phosphate (PIP2) in the membrane into phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-phosphate (PIP3). PIP3 then recruits both PDK1 and Akt to the membrane, and Akt is phosphorylated and activated by PDK1. Akt then activates mTORC1 via two pathways. The first is by an inhibitory phosphorylation of the TSC complex (Inoki et al., 2002; Manning et al., 2002; Potter et al., 2002), that when active acts as a GAP for the small GTPase rheb (Garami et al., 2003; Tee et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2003b). Rheb can directly bind and activate mTOR (Inoki et al., 2003; Long et al., 2005a). The second way via which Akt activates mTOR is by an inhibitory phosphorylation of PRAS40, which functions to inhibit the activity of mTORC1 (Fonseca et al., 2007; Haar et al., 2007; Oshiro et al., 2007; Sancak et al., 2007; Thedieck et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2007b).

The Wnt signaling pathway is another growth regulator that positively controls mTORC1. The canonical Wnt pathway involves binding of extracellular Wnt proteins to cell surface receptors of the Frizzled family and subsequent inhibition of glycogen synthase 3 (GSK3). Inhibition of GSK3 stabilizes β -catenin and leads to its nuclear translocation to activate transcription of a large number of growth promoting genes. A recent study showed that TSC2 is a substrate of GSK3 and hence, that active Wnt signaling releases the GSK3-dependent inhibition of mTORC1 (Inoki et al., 2006).

The lipid second messenger phosphatidic acid (PA) is a critical mediator for mitogenic activation of mTOR signaling (Fang et al., 2001). The mechanism involves synthesis of PA by phospholipase D1 and 2 (PLD1/2), that is activated by the mitogenic signals (Fang et al., 2003; Ha et al., 2006; Kam and Exton, 2004).

Amino acids availability also regulates the activity of mTORC1. Withdrawal of amino acids results in a rapid dephosphorylation of 4E-BP and S6K, whereas an increase in amino acids increases the activity of S6K (Hara et al., 1998). In particular, leucine and arginine seem to have the most profound effect on mTORC1, since withdrawal of either one of these amino acids inhibits mTORC1 almost to the same extent as withdrawal of all amino acids (Hara et al., 1998). The effect of amino acids on mTOR signaling is dominant to that of growth factors, since it has been shown that in the absence of amino acids insulin does not activate mTOR, but not vice versa (Hara et al., 1998). Amino acids impinge on the mTOR signaling pathway independently (downstream) of the TSC proteins (Roccio et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2005). There are several indications that amino acids signal to mTORC1 via rheb: amino acids withdrawal impairs mTORC1-Rheb binding (Long et al., 2005b), and mTORC1 inhibition in amino acid starved cells can be rescued to full levels by overexpression of Rheb (Long et al., 2005a; Long et al., 2005b). Recent data suggest that

[15]

amino acids signal to mTORC1 via another mechanism that is independent of the TSC-Rheb axis: hVps34 (vacuolar protein sorting 34), a class III PI3 kinase, was identified as a positive regulator of mTORC1 that is repressed by amino acid starvation and is insulin insensitive (Byfield et al., 2005; Nobukuni et al., 2005). Another recently identified positive regulator of mTORC1 in response to amino acids is MAP4K3 (mitogen-acivated protein kinase kinase kinase kinase 3) (Findlay et al., 2007). However, the mechanism by which these proteins sense amino acids availability and transmit the signal to mTORC1 remains to be elucidated.

The effect of fatty acids on mTORC1 is much less studied than the effect of amino acids. Two studies indicate that mTORC1 might be activated by fatty acids. The first showed that mTOR activity was reduced in the hearts of rats that were treated with niacin to lower the plasma level of free fatty acids (Crozier et al., 2003). The second showed that incubation of liver cells with palmitate results in activation of mTORC1 (Mordier and lynedjian, 2007). In both cases the molecular mechanism remains unknown.

mTORC1 can also sense the cellular energy status, via AMPK. Decrease in the cellular energy status is reflected by a rise in the AMP:ATP ratio within the cell, which activates AMPK by direct AMP binding. Active AMPK turns on catabolic ATP-generating pathways such as fatty acid oxidation and glycolysis, and shuts off ATP-consuming anabolic processes such as translation and fatty acid synthesis. AMPK phosphorylates and activates TSC2, resulting in inhibition of mTORC1 (Inoki et al., 2003b). One of the two TSC2 sites that are phosphorylated by AMPK serves as a priming event for subsequent phosphorylation of TSC2 by GSK3 (Inoki et al., 2006). In addition to high AMP:ATP ratio, AMPK can also be activated by phosphorylation by LKB1. This phosphorylation also leads to activation of TSC2 (Corradetti et al., 2004; Shaw et al., 2004).

Cellular stresses such as hypoxia inhibit mTORC1. REDD1 and 2 (Regulated in Development and DNA Damage Response genes 1 and 2) are negative regulators of mTORC1 in response to hypoxia, which limits ATP synthesis and therefore leads to energy

[16]

deprivation. REDD1/2 are transcriptionally upregulated during energy deprivation and inhibit mTORC1 by acting upstream of TSC1/2 (Brugarolas et al., 2004; Reiling and Hafen, 2004). The mechanism via which REDD1/2 activate TSC1/2 involves the dissociation of TSC2 from inhibitory 14-3-3 proteins (DeYoung et al., 2008). Hypoxia can inhibit mTORC1 even in the presence of constitutive Akt activation (DeYoung et al., 2008). Hypoxia likely inhibits mTORC1 also through the AMPK pathway, since prolonged hypoxia leads to ATP depletion and activation of AMPK.

Substrates/readouts

In budding yeast, the only known direct target of TORC1 is Sch9p, a protein that belongs to the family of AGC kinases (protein kinase A/protein kinase G/protein kinase C) (Urban et al., 2007). Other less direct effectors of TORC1 include TAP42/TIP41 (Jacinto et al., 2001; Jiang and Broach, 1999), GLN3 (Bertram et al., 2000), NPR1 (Schmidt et al., 1998), SLM1/2 (Audhya et al., 2004) and FHL1 (Martin et al., 2004). TORC1 in yeast regulates cellular processes such as ribosome biogenesis, translation, transcription, nutrient import and autophagy (Wullschleger et al., 2006). In mammals, mTORC1 regulates similar cellular processes as in yeast. Known direct phosphorylation targets are the AGC kinase S6K, and the translation inhibitor 4E-BP (also known as PHAS) (Brunn et al., 1997; Burnett et al., 1998).

4E-BP has 3 isoforms; all are small proteins (10-12 kD) that participate in the regulation of the rate limiting step in translation, i.e. recruitment of the small ribosomal subunit to mRNA during translation initiation. The hypophosphorylated form of 4E-BP binds to and sequesters the translation initiation factor eIF4E, preventing it from binding the mRNA 5' cap and thereby blocking cap-dependent translation. mTOR phosphorylates 4E-BP, causing it to dissociate from eIF4E and thus promoting translation initiation. 4E-BP is phosphorylated by mTOR on multiple sites in a hierarchical manner: phosphorylation on Thr70 and Ser65 promotes the dissociation of 4E-BP from eIF4E, and requires priming phosphorylation on Thr37 and Thr46 (Gingras et al., 1999; Gingras et al., 2001; Mothe-Satney et al., 2000).

[17]

S6K and other AGC kinases have a unique activation pattern, which requires phosphorylation of an activation loop that connects the N- and C-lobes of the kinase domain. This can be done by autophosphorylation or by another kinase such as PDK1. In addition, AGC kinases are phosphorylated on a hydrophobic motif found in the Cterminus of the kinase domain. This phosphorylation stabilizes the protein and is important for docking of PDK1 to the AGC kinase. S6K is phosphorylated by mTORC1 on 4 sites: Thr229, Thr389, Ser404 and Ser411 (Ali and Sabatini, 2005; Burnett et al., 1998; Isotani et al., 1999; Pearson et al., 1995). The main phosphorylation site is Thr389, which is located in the hydrophobic motif and is a priming site for phosphorylation of S6K by PDK1. Mutation of Thr389 to alanine ablates kinase activity, whereas mutation to glutamic acid confers constitutive kinase activity and rapamycin resistance (Pearson et al., 1995). Active S6K phosphorylates the ribosomal protein S6 that activates translation.

Both S6K and 4E-BP contain a five amino acid sequence called TOS (TOR signaling) motif, that is required for binding to raptor (Nojima et al., 2003; Schalm and Blenis, 2002). 4E-BP contains also a RAIP motif, termed after the four amino acids it comprises (Choi et al., 2003). This motif is important for the insulin response of 4E-BP, and is conserved among the sequences of 4E-BP1 and 4E-BP2 but is absent from the insulin-refractory 4E-BP3. The RAIP motif is important for phosphorylation of 4E-BP by mTORC1, and perhaps also for binding to raptor (Beugnet et al., 2003; Choi et al., 2003).

S6K has an important regulatory function on the insulin signaling pathway. As mentioned previously, Insulin stimulation elicits serine/threonine phosphorylation of IRS. However, prolonged exposure to insulin results in degradation of IRS and renders the cells refractory to further insulin stimulation. Degradation of IRS occurs in response to phosphorylation by S6K at several sites including Ser302, Ser307, and Ser1101 (Harrington et al., 2004; Haruta et al., 2000; Shah et al., 2004; Tremblay et al., 2007; Ueno et al., 2005a; Ueno et al., 2005b; Um et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2007a; Werner et al., 2004). IRS is also phosphorylated by mTOR on Ser636/639 (Ozes et al., 2001). Since insulin signaling

[18]

is what activates mTOR and S6K in the first place, the phosphorylation of IRS by S6K constitutes a so called "negative feedback loop".

Associated diseases

Aberrant mTOR signaling is frequently involved in tumor formation, either malignant or benign tumors called hamartomas. The best example of mTOR-related hamartoma disease is TSC, caused by loss of function mutations in the TSC1/2 proteins. Loss of function mutations in other proteins that negatively regulate or are negatively regulated by mTOR, such as 4E-BP1, PTEN or LKB1, are also associated with different types of tumors. Overexpression of proteins that positively regulate or are positively regulated by mTOR, such as rheb, S6K1, PI3K or Akt, is also found in many types of cancers (Wullschleger et al., 2006). Rapamycin and its analogs are currently being tested as therapeutic anti-cancer agents.

Rapamycin and its analogs are already used as immunosuppressive drugs, to prevent graft rejection after transplants. This is attributable to rapamycin's inhibitory effect on T cells (Dumont et al., 1990).

Because of the negative feedback loop between S6K and IRS, the mTOR signaling pathway is also implicated in glucose metabolism. Short term rapamycin treatment improves glucose uptake in humans under prandial-like hyperinsulinemia conditions (Krebs et al., 2007). In rats, rapamycin reverses the insulin resistance that is induced by hyperinsulinemia (Ueno et al., 2005b). TSC knockout MEFs are insulin resistant, similarly to HEK293 cells that overexpress rheb (Shah et al., 2004). The well known anti-diabetic drug metformin acts at least in part via inhibition of IRS degradation by the LKB1-AMPKmTOR pathway (Dowling et al., 2007; Tzatsos and Kandror, 2006). The fatty acid palmitate induces insulin resistance in liver cells, by a mechanism that involves activation of mTORC1 and increased phosphorylation of IRS1 (Mordier and lynedjian, 2007). On the other hand, long term rapamycin treatment in mice and in people causes hyperlipidemia, that at least in mice is accompanied by increased glucose intolerance (Cunningham et al., 2007; Morrisett et al., 2002). The mechanism by which rapamycin induces hyperlipidemia remains to be elucidated.

Adipose tissue

Fat storage

Almost all vertebrates and especially mammals store excess energy for later use as fat. Fat is stored in adipose tissue, mainly in the form of triacylglycerols (TGs). TGs are lipid molecules, formed by condensation of one glycerol and three fatty acid molecules. The length of the fatty acid varies between 3-24 carbons, mostly 16-18. The fatty acids can be saturated, mono- or poly-unsaturated. Storage of fat in the form of TGs is highly efficient, since they contain a very high amount of energy/mass, and since due to their hydrophobicity no water molecules are required in their surroundings, and therefore they can be packed very densely. Within the adipocyte, TGs are stored in structures termed lipid droplets or vesicles. In white adipose tissue (WAT), the TGs are stored in a single large lipid droplet, whose weight is 85-90% of the adipocyte weight. The neutral lipid core of lipid droplets is surrounded by a monolayer of phospholipids. White adipose cells are very large, hundreds to thousands of times larger than red blood cells, fibroblasts and immune system cells. Adipocytes can store very large amounts of TGs, and have the capacity to grow 20-30 fold their normal diameter, corresponding to several thousand fold increase in volume. In addition to adipocytes, adipose tissue contains a matrix of conjunctive tissues (collagen and reticular fibers), nerve fibers, vascular stroma, lymph nodes, immune cells (leukocytes, macrophages), fibroblasts, and preadipocytes (undifferentiated adipose cells) (Fonseca-Alaniz et al., 2007).

Upon a fatty meal, TGs, cholesterol and fat soluble vitamins are packaged together with carrier lipoproteins into particles termed chylomicrons (Illustration 2). The lipoproteins solubilize the lipids, and bear cell-targeting properties. Between meals, TGs can also be endogenously synthesized in the liver, and are packaged together with cholesterol and carrier lipoproteins into particles termed very low density lipoprotein (VLDL). TGs in chylomicrons and VLDLs are released from the intestine and liver into the bloodstream. Chylomicrons that are depleted of TGs by the target organs (mainly adipose tissue, cardiac and skeletal muscles) are known as chylomicron remnants, and are taken up by the liver. The remaining VLDLs after some of the TG content has been distributed to target tissues are called intermediate density lipoproteins (IDL). Further depletion of IDL from TGs results in low density lipoprotein (LDL) particles. These particles travel to all peripheral tissues and supply them with cholesterol. The liver also secretes high density lipoprotein (HDL) particles, that are named so because they contain the highest ratio of protein:lipid compared to the other lipoprotein particles. These particles travel in the blood and collect and carry excess cholesterol and free fatty acids (FFAs) back to the liver.

In order for TGs to be absorbed by the target organs, they have to be broken down by lipoprotein lipases (LPLs) (illustration 2). LPLs are secreted by the target organs, and are found on the linings of blood vessels. Their activity is stimulated by insulin. Once adipose LPL has broken down the TGs into glycerol and FFAs, adipose tissue can uptake the FFAs from the blood. Adipose tissue can also produce FFAs from glucose. This is done via glycolysis into acetyl CoA, which is then acylated into malonyl-CoA by acetyl-CoA carboxylase. Malonyl-CoA and acetyl-CoA are further acylated by fatty acid synthase, to create a FFA. However, most of the TGs in adipose tissue come from uptake of external FFAs and not from de novo synthesis. In order to form TGs for storage, adipose tissue first activates the FFAs by attaching a CoA molecule, and then conjugates them to glycerol-3phosphate. The glycerol-3-phosphate molecule comes from the reduction of the glycolytic intermediate dihydroxyacetone phosphate. Thus, adipose tissue consumes FFAs and glucose and converts them into TGs. The condensation of FFAs and glycerol into a TG is a multistep enzymatic process (reviewed in (Shi and Burn, 2004)). The attachment of a CoA molecule to the FFA is done by acyl-CoA synthase. Glycerol-3-phosphate and one FFA-CoA are then conjugated by glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase, and the second FFA-CoA is conjugated by sn-1-acylglycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase. The phosphate group of glycerol-3-phosphate is then removed by phosphatidic-acid

[21]

phosphohydrolase. Conjugation of the third FFA-CoA is done by diacylglycerol acyltransferase. TGs that were partly broken down can be recycled back into TGs at the step of monoacylglycerol or diacylglycerol. This process occurs at the ER, from which the TG-containing lipid droplets finally emerge.

Fat mobilization

When the body requires energy, a signaling cascade is activated, that leads to degradation of TGs into glycerol and fatty acids by a multistep enzymatic process. The glycerol and fatty acids are released into the bloodstream and transported to target tissues. This process is called lipolysis, and will be described in detail below. The glycerol that is released from adipocytes travels to the liver, where it is integrated into gluconeogenesis. The fatty acids travel to target tissues, in which they are broken down by β -oxidation into acetyl CoA, that enters the citric acid cycle. The main tissues that rely on β -oxidation for energy are the liver and muscle. However, to some extent, all tissues except the brain (Yang et al., 1987) use fatty acids for energy.

Breakdown of TGs to fatty acids and glycerol requires several lipases (Granneman and Moore, 2008): first, adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL) degrades TGs into diacylglycerols (Kershaw et al., 2006; Zimmermann et al., 2004). Second, the rate limiting step of lipolysis happens when hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) degrades the diacylglycerols into monoacylglycerols (Belfrage et al., 1978; Haemmerle et al., 2002), that are finally broken into a glycerol and a fatty acid molecule by monoglyceride lipase (Fredrikson et al., 1986).

Stimulation of lipolysis occurs when hormones such as catecholamines or glucagon bind to G protein-coupled receptors. This activates adenylyl cyclase, which produces cAMP. Lipolysis can also be induced by adenylyl cyclase pharmacological activators such as forskolin or isoproterenol. Insulin activates phosphodiesterase 3B that lowers cAMP levels, thereby inhibiting lipolysis (Shakur et al., 2001). cAMP activates protein kinase A (PKA), that phosphorylates and activates hormone sensitive lipase (HSL) (Egan et al., 1992). Another PKA substrate that has key functions during lipolysis is a protein called perilipin A (Marcinkiewicz et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2003a). Perilipin A is bound to lipid droplets (Blanchette-Mackie et al., 1995; Greenberg et al., 1991) and, in its basal, nonphosphorylated state, functions to sequester lipases from the TGs inside the lipid droplets (Brasaemle, 2007). Upon phosphorylation of HSL and perilipin A by PKA, HSL is activated and recruited to lipid droplets, where it comes in very close proximity and most likely forms a complex with perilipin A (Clifford et al., 2000; Egan et al., 1992; Granneman et al., 2007; Miyoshi et al., 2006; Sztalryd et al., 2003). In addition to recruitment and docking of HSL, perilipin A also controls the recruitment of ATGL to lipid droplets during lipolysis. Under basal conditions perilipin A binds and sequesters a coactivator of ATGL, a protein called CGI-58 (Granneman et al., 2007; Lass et al., 2006; Subramanian et al., 2004; Yamaguchi et al., 2004). During lipolytic stimulation CGI-58 rapidly dissociates from phosphorylated perilipin A and is free to activate ATGL (Granneman et al., 2007; Subramanian et al., 2004; Yamaguchi et al., 2004). In addition, under basal conditions ATGL can be found both in the cytoplasm and bound to lipid droplets (Bartz et al., 2007; Granneman et al., 2007; Notari et al., 2006; Villena et al., 2004; Zimmermann et al., 2004). During lipolytic stimulation, part of the cytoplasmic ATGL translocates to lipid droplets (Granneman et al., 2007). Perilipin A-dependent activation and translocation of HSL and ATGL to lipid droplets is required and sufficient to induce lipolysis.

Endocrine functions

Adipose tissue is not just an inert fat depot, but also an endocrine organ that participates in the regulation of whole body energy homeostasis. The hormones secreted by adipose tissue – adipokines – are involved in many metabolic processes. The following examples for adipokines that are involved in metabolism were collected from (Fonseca-Alaniz et al., 2007) and (Ronti et al., 2006):

Immune/stress responses: IL-6, TNFα, adipsin, adiponectin, CRP, leptin, resistin, metallothionein, MIF, prostaglandins.



Illustration 2. Schematic view of the interplay between metabolic tissues. Prepared together with Alexandre Soulard and Nadine Cybulski.

<u>Vascular homeostasis:</u> angiotensinogen, PAI-1, tissue factor, VEGF, monobutyrin, prostaglandins.

<u>Glucose metabolism</u>: leptin, adiponectin, resistin, TNFα, IL-6, visfatin, steroids, apelin. <u>Appetite regulation</u>: leptin.

Lipid metabolism: LLP, steroids, CETP, ApoE, LPL, RBP4, ZAG.

Adipose cell size affects the nature of secreted adipokines. The adipokine secretome of larger adipocytes is shifted toward more proinflammatory cytokines (Skurk et al., 2007).

Two of the most studied adipokines are leptin and adiponectin. Leptin is a small protein of 16KDa, that is secreted almost exclusively from adipose tissue in response to feeding (Frederich et al., 1995; Weigle et al., 1997). Leptin receptors are expressed mainly in the hypothalamus. In the hypothalamus, leptin negatively regulates appetite (Halaas et al., 1995; Pelleymounter et al., 1995) by activating the expression of anorexigenic neuropeptides such as proopiomelanocortin (POMC) (Bariohay et al., 2005; Golden et al., 1997; Kristensen et al., 1998; Meister, 2000; Sahu, 1998). Leptin also inhibits the expression of orexigenic neuropeptides such as agouti-related protein (AgRP) (Arvaniti et al., 2001; Kumano et al., 2003; Lopez et al., 2000; Meister, 2000; Sahu, 1998; Schwartz et al., 1996). Apart from its role in reducing appetite, leptin also participates in reproduction, immune responses, hematopoiesis, angiogenesis, osteogenesis, wound healing, and regulation of the neuroendocrine system during starvation (Ahima et al., 1996; Fantuzzi and Faggioni, 2000; Lord et al., 1998; Mantzoros et al., 1997; Takeda et al., 2002).

Adiponectin (also called Adrp30) is another adipokine, that positively regulates insulin sensitivity (Berg et al., 2001; Combs et al., 2002; Hotta et al., 2001; Steffes et al., 2004; Weyer et al., 2001). Adiponectin receptors are found on skeletal muscle and liver cells (Yamauchi et al., 2003). Adiponectin acts through activation of AMPK and PPARα, which

[25]

results in stimulation of fatty-acid oxidation and decreased triglyceride content in skeletal muscle and liver (Yamauchi et al., 2002).

Both adiponectin and leptin signaling act at least in part via mTORC1: Adiponectin negatively regulates the mTOR signaling pathway via activation of AMPK. As a result, IRS1 phosphorylation by S6K is reduced, and the systemic outcome is enhanced insulin sensitivity (Huypens, 2007; Tomas et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2007a; Yamauchi et al., 2002). Leptin can activate or inhibit AMPK in different organs (Minokoshi et al., 2004; Minokoshi et al., 2002), but it also inhibits PTEN and thereby positively regulates mTOR. Therefore the systemic effect of leptin on insulin sensitivity is negative (Huypens, 2007).

Adipocytes do not only excrete hormones, but also carry hormone receptors on their surface to receive signals. Signals can be autocrine, such as from IGF1, HGF or TGF β that regulate proliferation and differentiation of preadipocytes and adipocyte apoptosis, or endocrine, such as from insulin, glucagon, catecholamines, T3 and T4, and many others (Fonseca-Alaniz et al., 2007).

Adaptive thermogenesis

White adipose tissue is widespread subcutaneously and is an excellent thermal insulator. In addition, another type of adipose tissue known as brown adipose tissue (BAT), actively participates in adaptive thermogenesis. BAT oxidizes FFAs and dissipates the energy in the form of heat. BAT is especially important for thermoregulation in small and hibernating mammals (Golozoubova et al., 2001), where it is found in the interscpaular region. In humans, BAT is abundant in newborns but is largely replaced by WAT in adults. The main depots of BAT in humans are in the supraclavicular and the neck regions, with some additional paravertebral, mediastinal, para-aortic, and suprarenal localizations (Nedergaard et al., 2007). Some brown fat cells can also be found interspersed within WAT, both in rodents and humans (Cousin et al., 1992; Garruti and Ricquier, 1992; Guerra et al., 1998; Lean et al., 1986; Oberkofler et al., 1997). Brown fat cells were also found interspersed between muscle bundles in mice (Almind et al., 2007). BAT contains many densely packed mitochondria, and its brown color comes from high expression of cytochrome oxidase.

Heat production in BAT is achieved by short-circuiting of the mitochondrial proton gradient that is generated by the respiratory chain. Instead of producing ATP, the energy from the proton gradient is discharged as heat. Uncoupling of the proton gradient from ATP production is done by a protein called uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1 or thermogenin), that is found in the inner membranes of mitochondria. UCP1 is a nucleotide-binding protein, and its activity is inhibited by purine nucleoside di- or triphosphate and is activated by FFAs (Nicholls, 2001). The mechanism by which UCP1 acts is not clear (Echtay, 2007; Garlid et al., 2000): one model suggests that UCP1 is a proton transporter, and that the protons' pathway is buffered with fatty acid head groups. The second model is that UCP1 transports fatty acid anions from the matrix to the cytosol of the mitochondria. These fatty acid anions then grab protons from the cytosol, to become neutral fatty acids. Then, the neutral fatty acids flip-flop rapidly and spontaneously toward the side of the matrix, release the proton and are transported back to the cytosolic side by UCP1, and so on. The directionality of the transport is maintained by the high, inside-negative membrane potential of the mitochondrial inner membrane.

Two other uncoupling proteins are expressed in BAT, UCP2 and UCP3. However, these proteins are expressed in much lower levels compared to UCP1 (100-1000 fold less), and do not transfer protons unless specifically stimulated, for example by hydroxynonenal (Brand and Esteves, 2005).

One of the key regulators of BAT is the transcriptional coactivator PPAR γ coactivator 1 α (PGC1 α). PGC1 α stimulates the transcription of genes involved in the brown adipocyte differentiation process and mitochondrial biogenesis, such as nuclear respiratory factor 1 and 2, which leads to the transcription of mitochondrial transcription factor A, as well as other nuclear-encoded mitochondria subunits of the electron transport chain complex such as β -ATP synthase, cytochrome c and cytochrome c oxidase IV (Liang and Ward, 2006; Puigserver et al., 1998). Importantly, PGC1 α also regulates thermogenesis, since its

[27]

activity is induced by cold temperature (Puigserver et al., 1998), and it induces expression of UCP1 (Barbera et al., 2001). To demonstrate the importance of PGC1 α for thermogenesis, mice deleted for *PGC1\alpha* were unable to maintain core body temperature following exposure to cold (Leone et al., 2005; Lin et al., 2004). Mice deleted for *UCP1* were also cold-sensitive (Enerback et al., 1997).

Two other genes were used during my PhD research work as markers to distinguish BAT from WAT: *type 2 deiodinase* (*dio2*), and *cell death-inducing DNA fragmentation factor-\alpha-like effector A* (*cidea*). Dio2 is expressed in BAT, brain and pituitary, and its expression is induced by catecholamines and cold exposure (Silva and Larsen, 1983). It functions to accelerate thyroxine (T4) to 3,3',5-triiodothyronine (T3) conversion (Silva and Larsen, 1983). Cidea is expressed in BAT but not in WAT and other tissues in mice (Lin and Li, 2004; Zhou et al., 2003). Its exact function is unknown, but it interacts with UCP1, and in mice deficient for cidea the expression of UCP1 is increased (Zhou et al., 2003). In humans, however, cidea is also expressed in WAT (Dahlman et al., 2005; Nordstrom et al., 2005).

Adipogenesis

Adipocytes are derived from mesenchymal stem cells, through a complex transcriptional cascade (reviewed in (Farmer, 2006)). Adipogenesis of WAT has been extensively studied using model cell lines such as the fibroblast-derived 3T3-L1 and 3T3-F442A, and mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs).

The most important transcription factor for adipogenesis is peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor γ (PPAR γ). The *PPAR\gamma* gene is transcribed from three different promoters, resulting in three different transcripts (Fajas et al., 1997; Fajas et al., 1998). These are translated into three isoforms – PPAR γ 1 is expressed ubiquitously but in low levels, PPAR γ 2 is highly expressed exclusively in adipose tissue, and contains 30 additional amino acids in the N-terminus. PPAR γ 3 is identical to PPAR γ 1, and is expressed in high levels in adipose tissue and macrophages. No functional differences between the isoforms are known to date. PPARy belongs to the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily of transcription factors, and functions as a heterodimer with the retinoid X receptor (RXR). This heterodimer binds to a DNA consensus sequence in promoters of target genes and enhances or represses transcription. The transcription transactivation occurs via recruitment of coactivators, mainly from the p160 steroid receptor coactivator family (SRC), CBP/p300, and the p300/CBP-associated factor (p/CAF)/GCN family, as well as other coactivators such as PGC1a. Known corepressors are retinoblastoma, the silencing mediator for retinoid and thyroid hormone receptors (SMRT), and nuclear receptor corepressor (NCoR) (Desvergne and Wahli, 1999; Miard and Fajas, 2005). As most nuclear hormone receptors, PPARy is also activated by ligand. Endogenous ligands include many fatty acids and fatty acid derivatives, however these bind with low affinity and activate PPARy to a lower extent as compared to synthetic ligands. The best example of an endogenous ligand is 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -prostaglandin J₂ (PGJ2) which has been shown to directly bind PPARy and induce adipogenesis (Forman et al., 1995). However, it is assumed that a mechanism other than fatty acid binding is responsible for full PPARy activation. Synthetic ligands of PPARy such as rosiglitazone, troglitazone or pioglitazone are used widely in therapy of type 2 diabetes, since they enhance insulin sensitivity.

Expression of PPARy is induced during adipogenesis, where it controls transcription of several important adipose-specific genes, among them *adipocyte fatty acids binding protein 4 (fabp4*, a.k.a. *aP2)*, *fatty acid transport protein*, *LPL*, *Acyl-CoA synthase* and others (Desvergne and Wahli, 1999). PPARy is regarded as a master regulator of adipogenesis, since induction of PPARy activity in preadipocytes or even in NIH-3T3 fibroblasts is sufficient to stimulate adipogenesis (Chen et al., 1998; Kletzien et al., 1992; Lehmann et al., 1995; Sandouk et al., 1993; Tontonoz et al., 1994b). Tissue cultures of adipogenic cell lines or stem cells lacking PPARy fail to differentiate into adipocytes (Kubota et al., 1999; Rosen et al., 1999). Knockout of PPARy in mice results in embryonic lethality due to defects in placental development. By aggregating these embryos with tetraploid PPARy^{+/+} embryos, which supplemented a placenta for the knockout embryos, one mouse was born, and it suffered total lack of adipose tissue (Barak et al., 1999).

Heterozygous deletion of PPARy results in mice with smaller adipocytes and reduced fat mass, that are resistant to high fat diet (HFD)-induced obesity (Kubota et al., 1999). These data indicate that PPARy is required for adipogenesis *in vivo*. Knockout of *PPARy* specifically in adipose tissue of mice showed that PPARy is also essential for the survival of mature adipocytes *in vivo* (He et al., 2003; Imai et al., 2004; Jones et al., 2005). PPARy is also required for the maintenance of mature adipocytes *in vitro* (Kim and Chen, 2004; Tamori et al., 2002).

Upstream of PPARy in the adipogenesis transcriptional cascade is the transcription factor CCAAT/enhancer binding protein α (CEBP α). Ectopic expression of CEBP α induces adipogenesis (Freytag et al., 1994), but only in the presence of PPARy (Rosen et al., 2002). Once PPARy expression is induced by CEBP α , these two transcription factors help maintain each other's expression (Wu et al., 1999).

Further upstream are two other transcription factors named CEBP β and CEBP δ . These two are expressed earlier in adipogenesis than CEBP α and PPAR γ , and in cell culture function to induce their expression (Cao et al., 1991; Christy et al., 1991; Clarke et al., 1997; Yeh et al., 1995b). However, it appears that *in vivo* CEBP β and CEBP δ have a different function, since knockout of these genes in mice did not affect the levels of PPAR γ or CEBP α , although it did result in impaired adipogenesis (Tanaka et al., 1997). It has been suggested that CEBP β and CEBP δ affect the production of PPAR γ endogenous ligands (Hamm et al., 2001). The expression of CEBP β and CEBP δ is induced by another transcription factor that is expressed very early during adipogenesis, called cAMP regulatory element-binding protein (CREB) (Zhang et al., 2004). Another transcription factor, Krox20, is activated early in adipogenesis and promotes expression of CEBP β , and later on cooperates with CEBP β to facilitate terminal differentiation (Chen et al., 2005).

I have described here the canonical transcriptional cascade of WAT adipogenesis. Recently, numerous other transcription factors and signaling pathways have been implicated in adipogenesis regulation, that are beyond the scope of this introduction. A detailed description can be found, for example, in (Farmer, 2006).

[30]

It has been previously suggested that mTOR controls adipocytes by positively regulating the activity of PPARy (Kim and Chen, 2004). Kim and Chen (2004) have shown that mTORC1, and specifically the kinase activity of mTOR, are required for adipogenesis *in vitro*. They also showed that rapamycin treatment does not change the level of PPARy expression, but reduces the expression of a reporter gene driven by a PPARy controlled promoter. This effect of rapamycin, as well as the effect on adipogenesis, can be reversed by addition of the PPARy synthetic ligand troglitazone.

In order to differentiate cellular models for WAT, the cells are incubated two days post confluence in medium containing bovine serum, and then stimulated with a glucocorticoid (usually dexamethasone), a cAMP production activator (usually the chemical phosphodiesterase inhibitor 3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine (IBMX)), and a high concentration of insulin. This mix is kept on the cells for two-three days, and is then replaced with medium containing serum and insulin for another six days. During this period, the cells become larger and round, express adipogenic markers, and accumulate TGs in lipid droplets. Glucocorticoids and cAMP signaling are required during adipogenesis, for example to induce the transcription of CREB and CEBPβ (Cao et al., 1991; Yeh et al., 1995b; Zhang et al., 2004). Insulin also participates in the transcriptional cascade of adipogenesis, and later on promotes uptake of glucose and FFAs from the medium.

The knowledge about BAT adipogenesis is much more limited, due to lack of suitable model cell lines. Only one cell line called HIB1B has been described (Klaus et al., 1994; Tontonoz et al., 1994a), but has not been well studied to date. Differentiation of these cells is achieved by incubation of confluent cells in medium containing serum, insulin and T3 for one week (Klaus et al., 1994).

It is known that PPARy is required for BAT differentiation (Barak et al., 1999; Rosen et al., 1999), but in contrast to WAT, CEBP α is not required for BAT differentiation (Linhart et al., 2001). Several cofactors of PPARy have been implicated in determination of BAT versus WAT differentiation: one of the most important transcriptional coactivators in BAT

[31]

is the previously mentioned PGC1α (Lin et al., 2005; Uldry et al., 2006). This transcription factor is almost not expressed in WAT. Other transcriptional cofactors of PPARγ that promote BAT differentiation are retinoblastoma (Hansen et al., 2004a; Hansen et al., 2004b; Scime et al., 2005), p107 (Scime et al., 2005), receptor interacting protein 140 (RIP140) (Christian et al., 2005; Kiskinis et al., 2007; Leonardsson et al., 2004; Powelka et al., 2006), and steroid receptor coactivator-1 (SRC1) (Picard et al., 2002). Recently, prdm16, a protein of unknown function, has been described as an early determinant of BAT differentiation (Seale et al., 2007).

Associated diseases

Excess or deficiency of adipose tissue are both strong risk factors for development of type 2 diabetes (Guilherme et al., 2008). Type 2 diabetes develops as a result of two factors: peripheral insulin resistance (the main contributor to this is skeletal muscle, as it consumes most of the blood glucose), and failure of the pancreas β -cells to produce sufficient levels of insulin to overcome the peripheral insulin resistance. Weight loss and gain are associated with decreased and increased muscular insulin resistance, respectively (Freidenberg et al., 1988; Sims et al., 1973), suggesting that adipose tissue takes part in the regulation of muscle insulin sensitivity. Adipose tissue controls peripheral insulin sensitivity by several mechanisms. First, as mentioned above, adipocytes secrete various adipokines such as leptin, adiponectin, TNF α , and resistin, that affect insulin sensitivity. Second, adipose tissue sequesters FFAs from the blood circulation. Increased concentration of FFAs in the blood can cause peripheral insulin resistance (Kelley et al., 1993; Santomauro et al., 1999) and aberrant insulin secretion from β -cells (Boden, 1997). Impairment of adipose tissue functions, for example as a result of a genetic or acquired lipodystrophy on the one hand or a long term high fat diet on the other hand, results in elevated FFAs in the blood, steatosis, and changes in the adipokine profile. Large adipocytes secrete higher amounts of inflammatory cytokines that promote macrophage infiltration. The inflammatory cytokines that are secreted by adipocytes and macrophages induce lipolysis and inhibit TG synthesis, contributing

[32]

further to elevated concentrations of FFAs in the blood. Thus, normal adipose function is an influential factor in maintenance of proper insulin secretion and sensitivity.

Obesity is also associated with an increased risk for cardiovascular diseases and hypertension. The pathophysiology of this process is not entirely understood. The surplus of adipose tissue causes elevated cadiac workload, that is linked with enlargement and fibrillation of the heart (Poirier et al., 2006). Adipokines such as leptin have also been suggested to play a role in the development of obesity-related hypertension and cardiovascular diseases (Mathew et al., 2007).

Obesity is a major risk factor for obstructive sleep apnea, occurring in up to 50% of obese men (Vgontzas et al., 1994; Young et al., 1993).

Recently, obesity has emerged as a risk factor also for cancer incidence and mortality. Obesity is significantly associated with higher death rates from cancer of the esophagus, colon and rectum, gallbladder, pancreas, kidney, stomach, prostate, breast (postmenopausal), uterus, cervix, and ovary (McMillan et al., 2006). This increased risk for cancer is most likely a result of an increase in sex steroids, pro-inflammatory cytokines, insulin, and IGF1 in obesity.

In this thesis, I first present evidence confirming that mTORC1 is required for the differentiation and maintenance of adipocytes *in vitro*. In tissue culture, inhibition of mTORC1 caused a decrease in the expression of adipose transcription factors, which led to a decreased expression of genes related to fat metabolism and storage. This caused de-differentiation of the cells, that manifested as loss of intracellular triglycerides. I further focused my research on the key adipogenic transcription factor PPARy, and tried to elucidate the molecular mechanism by which mTORC1 regulates its activity. The results suggested that rapamycin treatment acts to inhibit PPARy downstream of its ligands.

[33]

To examine the role of mTORC1 in adipose tissue *in vivo*, we generated mice that were deleted for the specific and essential mTORC1 component raptor. Since a non-conditional, full body knockout of *raptor* in mice is embryonic lethal (Guertin et al., 2006), we used the cre/loxP system to delete the *raptor* gene specifically in adipose tissue. The *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice had substantially less adipose tissue than control littermates, but lean tissue mass was unaffected. Leanness was despite unaffected caloric intake, lipolysis, and absorption of lipids from the food. The white adipose tissue of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice showed a marked increase in several brown fat markers including enhanced expression of genes encoding mitochondrial uncoupling proteins. Leanness of the *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice is attributed to elevated energy expenditure due to mitochondrial uncoupling. In addition, *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice were protected against diet-induced obesity and hypercholesterolemia, and exhibited improved insulin sensitivity. These results suggest that mTORC1 is a regulator of adipose metabolism and thereby controls whole body energy homeostasis.

Materials and methods

Plasmids, Antibodies and Reagents

Adenoviruses encoding RNAi against raptor were created by cloning the previously described RNAi sequence and H1 promoter (Jacinto et al., 2004) from pSuper into pAd-DEST (Invitrogen). Empty pAd-DEST vector was used as control. The HA-hPPARγ in pCI expression vector was constructed on the backbone of pCI-HA. The human PPARγ2 fragment was cloned by PCR from hPPARγ in pSG5 (Deeb et al., 1998), using the following oligonucleotides that contained NotI restriction sites: forward 5' GCG GCC GCA TGG GTG AAA CTC TGG GAG AT 3' reverse 5' CGC CGG CGG ATC ATG TTC AGG AAC ATC TAG AG 3'. The PCR fragment was ligated to pCI-HA that was digested with NotI. Antibodies for raptor were from Bethyl. Antibodies for RXR, pRb, NCoR and PPARγ were from Santa Cruz. Antibodies for actin were from Chemicon. Rapamycin was from LC Laboratories and was used at a concentration of 10µM. Insulin, dexamethasone and IBMX were from Sigma. JetPEI was from Polyplus transfections.

Mice

Mice were maintained in a temperature-controlled (20°C) facility with a 12h light/dark cycle, and were given free access to food and water. All experiments were performed in accordance with the regulatory standards of the *Kantonales Veterinaeramt* of *Kanton Basel-Stadt*, permit no. 2175. Experiments were performed on male mice that were 4-5 times backcrossed, and littermates that did not carry the *cre* allele were used as controls. C57BL/6J mice expressing the cre recombinase under the adipose-specific promoter of *fabp4/aP2* were purchased from Jax. *raptor*^{+/-} mice were generated by crossing *raptor*^{floxed} mice with mice expressing cre under control of the human cytomegalovirus minimal promoter (Schwenk et al., 1995). To compare body weight and food intake, 8 week old WT or KO mice were fed chow diet (4.5% fat, Provimi Kliba) or a high fat diet

(60% calories from fat, D12492, Harlan) for 13 weeks. Body and food weight were measured twice a week, and food consumption was calculated.

Histology

For H&E stainings, WAT pieces were fixed in 4% formaldehyde overnight at room temperature immediately after sacrifice. Tissues were paraffinized and sectioned by microtome, and the slides were stained with hematoxilin and eosin (Sigma) according to the standard protocol. For Oil Red O staining of liver, tissues were flash frozen at -150°C, overhanging in a tragacanth-based gel (7% tragacanth in water). Tissues were sectioned by cryostat, and the slides were stained with oil red o and hematoxilin according to the standard protocol.

Cell Culture

3T3-L1 cells stably expressing the adenovirus receptor were kindly provided by Dr. David J. Orlicky (Orlicky et al., 2001). Cell were maintained in DMEM containing 10% fetal bovine serum, and differentiated according to the normal protocol (Kim and Chen, 2004). MEFs were freshly isolated on day E12.5, cultured for one passage, and either used immediately or frozen for later use. MEFs were differentiated using the same protocol as for 3T3-L1 cells.

Blood Tests

Blood was drawn from the vena cava immediately after sacrifice, and plasma was prepared. The following kits were used to determine metabolic parameters: triglyceride determination kit (Sigma), total cholesterol kit (Roche), free fatty acids determination kit (WAKO), leptin ELISA kit (R&D systems), adiponectin ELISA kit (AdipoGen), insulin ELISA kit (Mercodia).
Energy Expenditure

To measure voluntary activity, mice were housed individually in cages containing running wheels, and allowed to acclimatize for 7 days. Running distance was measured over the next 7 days. Oxygen consumption and carbon dioxide output were measured simultaneously with an open circuit calorimeter (Labmaster (TSE)). Mice were housed in individual Labmaster chambers for 21h (12am-9am) with free access to food and water. Measurements were taken at 1h intervals between 4pm-10am. The light/dark was 7am/7pm, ambient temperature was 29°C. For the cellular oxygen consumption assay, primary adipocytes from epididymal WAT were isolated by mincing the tissue, followed by a 50min collagenase digestion (2mg type II collagenase (Sigma) / g tissue) at 37°C in 20ml KREBS buffer. Undigested tissue was filtered on a 70µm cell strainer and washed 3 times with 5ml of cold KREBS buffer. The adipocyte fraction was isolated by collecting the upper phase after a 10min centrifugation at 500rpm at 4°C, and subsequently washed once in 25ml cold KREBS buffer and once in 25ml respiration solution (2.77mM CaK₂EGTA, 7.23mM K₂EGTA, 6.56mM MgCl₂, 3mM K₂HPO₄, 20mM taurine, 0.5mM DTT, 50mM K methane-sulfonate, 20mM imidazole pH 7.1, 5mM glutamate, 2mM malate, 2 mg/ml fatty acid-free bovine serum albumin) at pH 7.0. After the final centrifugation, adipocytes were counted and diluted in respiration solution at 1 million cells/ml. Respiratory rates were determined on 3 million cells using Clark electrodes (Strathkelvin Instruments) in oxygraphic chambers at 22°C with continuous stirring. 5min before the start of the experiment, cells were permabilized with 50µg/ml saponin. After the experiment, cells were collected and genomic DNA was extracted and quantified for normalization using qPCR (primer pair 5'-CTACAGATGTGGTAAAGGTCCGC-3', 5'-GCAATGGTCTTGTAGGCTTCG-3').

IP Glucose Tolerance Test

Mice after 10 weeks of chow or HFD were fasted overnight, followed by an IP injection of 2g/kg glucose. Basal blood glucose was measured before the injection, using an Aviva

glucometer (Accu-chek, Roche). Glucose levels were then measured at the indicated time points after the injection.

qPCR

RNA was isolated from 3T3-L1 cells with the RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen). Mouse tissue RNA was isolated as follows: approximately 100mg tissue was homogenized by 30sec bead beating in lysing matrix D tubes (Q-Biogene) containing 1mL TRIZOL reagent (Invitrogen). Samples were further treated according to the TRIZOL manufacturer's instructions. After the chloroform centrifugation, samples were mixed with 600µL 70% ethanol, and the extraction was continued with the RNeasy kit (Qiagen). 1µg total RNA was reverse transcribed using Superscript II reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). qPCR was done using the power SYBR green mix (Applied Biosystems). qPCR Primer pairs for *PPARy, CEBPa*, *SREBP, aP2, FAS, LPL* and *resistin* were previously described (Fu et al., 2005). Primer pairs for *cidea, prdm16* and *dio2* were previously described (Seale et al., 2007). Primer pair for *HSL* was: 5'-CAGTGTGACCGCCAGTTC-3' (forward), 5'-ACCTCAATCTCAGTGATGTTCC-3' (reverse).

Cell Size

Adipocyte cell circumference was determined using the ImageJ software. At least 35 adipocytes from random sections of each mouse were quantified. Cell volume $(4/3\pi R^3)$ was calculated from the cell circumference (πR^2) .

Lipolysis assay

Glycerol release from cells was monitored as a measure of lipolysis (triglyceride lysis). Differentiated 3T3-L1 cells were incubated with rapamycin or isoproterenol for the indicated periods of time. To measure glycerol release, medium was replaced with DMEM without serum for 30min, and glycerol content of the medium was measured using the free glycerol reagent (Sigma). For the mice, freshly isolated epididymal WAT pieces of approximately 30mg were washed in PBS and incubated for 12h in DMEM. Then WAT was removed and the glycerol content of the medium was measured. The assay was done in triplicates.

Kinase assay

Kinase assays were performed as described (Jacinto et al., 2004). HEK293 cells (in 10cm dishes; about 90% confluent) were placed on ice. Extracts from cells corresponding to half a 10cm plate were used for each immunoprecipitation condition. Cells were washed twice with 1 ml of cold PBS and scraped in lysis buffer (0.6ml per 10cm plate; 40mM HEPES, 120mM NaCl and 0.3% CHAPS) supplemented with protease and phosphatase inhibitors (Roche complete protease inhibitor cocktail, 10mM NaF, 10mM NaN₃, 10mM NaPPi, 10mM β -glycerophosphate, 10mM p-nitrophenylphosphate, 0.5mM benzamidine HCl, 1.5mM Na₃VO₄ and 20µg/ml heparin). Crude extracts, typically 350µl for each immunoprecipitation, were cleared with two 3' spins at 600g, and pre-cleared with a mixture of protein-A-, and protein-G-coupled Sepharose for 20'. Pre-cleared lysates were subjected to immunoprecipitation with 1.5µl of anti-HA (for mock immunoprecipitations), anti-raptor (36T; Hall laboratory), or 3µl of anti-mTOR (FRAP N19; Santa Cruz) for 30' at 4 °C, followed by the addition of 6µl of protein-A- and 6µl of protein-G-coupled sepharose, and incubation for an additional 90'. Beads were washed 3 times with 1ml of lysis buffer and resuspended in 30µl kinase assay buffer (40mM HEPES, 120mM NaCl, 0.3% CHAPS, 10mM NaF, 10mM NaN₃, 10mM β -glycerophosphate, 10mM p-nitrophenylphosphate, 4mM MnCl₂, 10mM dithiothreitol, 1X Roche Protease inhibitor cocktail lacking EDTA, 1µg 4E-BP1 (Stratagene), 80μM cold ATP and 10μCi ³²P-ATP, and 1.67% DMSO. 500nM GST-FKBP12 were used. Reactions were started with the addition of the hot and cold ATP. Tubes were maintained at 30°C for 20' and the reactions were terminated with the addition of 8µl of 5X protein sample buffer. Proteins were then resolved on an SDS-PAGE gel. Radioactivity was detected by autoradiography, and total 4E-BP1 and PPARy were detected by staining with ponceau.

2D gels

Differentiated 3T3-L1 were treated or not with rapamycin, and harvested in lysis buffer (7M urea, 2M thiourea, 4% CHAPS, 20mM DTT). Extracts were cleared by a 30' spin, isoelectric focusing (IEF) buffer (IPG buffer, pH 3-10 NL, GE Healthcare) and bromophenol blue were added, and 1200µg of proteins in 400µl buffer were loaded on IEF strips (Immobiline Drystrip pH 3-10 NL, GE Healthcare). IEF was done as follows: 12h rehydration (no voltage), 1h at 500V, 1h at 1000V, 48h at 8000V. Each IEF strip was then mounted on top of a 10% SDS PAGE gel, and gels were run at 150V and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were immunoblotted with antibodies to detect PPARγ.

Mass spectrometry analysis of PPARy phosphorylation sites

HEK293 cells in 15-cm dishes were transfected with 12μ g HA-hPPAR γ in pCI using the JetPEI reagent. Two days later, cells were treated with 100nM rapamycin or DMSO for 30' and harvested in lysis buffer as described for kinase assays. Crude extracts from 2 dishes for each immunoprecipitation were cleared with two 3' spins at 600g, and precleared with protein-A-coupled Sepharose for 20'. Pre-cleared lysates were subjected to immunoprecipitation with 100 μ l of anti-HA coupled beads for 2h at 4°C. Beads were washed 3 times with 1ml of lysis buffer and resuspended in 100 μ l 2X sample buffer without β -mercaptoethanol. Samples were boiled for 5', and separated on 8% SDS-PAGE gels. Gels were then stained with the proteosilver plus kit (Sigma), and the bands corresponding to PPAR γ were analyzed for potential phosphorylation sites by mass spectrometry.

Immunofluorescence

For PPARγ staining, 3T3-L1 cells were differentiated in 12-well dishes containing coverslips, and treated with 100nM rapamycin or DMSO for the indicated periods of time. Cells were then fixed in a 3.7% PFA solution at RT for 7', permeabilized in PBS-0.1% triton for 1', blocked with PBS-5% BSA at RT for 30', and stained with a PPARγ antibody diluted

[40]

1:50 in blocking solution for 1h, followed by secondary anti-mouse antibody conjugated to C3y diluted 1:200 in blocking solution for 1h. After each step the cells were washed 4X 5' with PBS, the final wash contained DAPI diluted 1:1000. For RXR staining, a similar protocol was used with the following changes: PBS-10% FBS was used for blocking, and the RXR antibody was diluted 1:200.

Statistical analysis

All graphs show average \pm SEM unless otherwise indicated. Statistical significance was calculated using unpaired, two-tailed Student's t-test. * p value ≤ 0.05 , ** p value ≤ 0.01 .

Results

mTORC1 is required for adipogenesis and adipose maintenance in vitro

As shown previously, long term rapamycin treatment prevents adipogenic differentiation of 3T3-L1 cells in culture (Bell et al., 2000; Cho et al., 2004; El-Chaar et al., 2004; Gagnon et al., 2001; Kim and Chen, 2004; Yeh et al., 1995a). Since long term rapamycin treatment can disrupt mTORC2 as well as inhibit mTORC1 (Sarbassov et al., 2006), we genetically knocked down raptor, in undifferentiated 3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes, to determine the role specifically of mTORC1 in adipogenesis (Figure 1A). The cells in which raptor was knocked down were then treated to induce adipogenesis and examined for lipid accumulation by Oil Red O staining (Figure 1B). Inactivation of mTORC1 by either rapamycin treatment or by knockdown of raptor prevented 3T3-L1 cells from differentiating into Oil Red Ostaining cells, indicating that mTORC1 is indeed required for adipogenesis. To test further the requirement for mTORC1 in adipogenesis, we differentiated heterozygous raptor^{+/-} mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) derived from mice lacking one copy of the raptor gene (see Materials and methods). Heterozygous MEFs were used for this experiment because homozygous *raptor* knockout MEFs could not be obtained due to very early embryonic lethality, as observed previously (Guertin et al., 2006). The raptor^{+/-} MEFs differentiated into adipocyte-like cells but with significantly reduced efficiency compared to MEFs from wild type littermates (Figure 1C), providing further support for a role of mTORC1 in adipogenesis.

It has also been shown previously that culturing differentiated 3T3-L1 cells in the presence of rapamycin causes loss of fat, suggesting that mTORC1 is also required for maintenance of adipocytes (Kim and Chen, 2004). We confirmed this observation by measuring the triglyceride content of differentiated 3T3-L1 cells that were treated with rapamycin for 6 days after differentiation. Differentiated 3T3-L1 cells that were incubated with rapamycin for 6 days lost on average 46% of their triglyceride content (Figure 1D). Rapamycin treatment or siRNA-mediated raptor knockdown also caused loss

[42]

of lipid stores as visualized by Oil Red O staining (Figure 1E). The above results confirm that mTORC1 is required for both establishment and maintenance of mature adipocytes.





Figure 1. mTORC1 is required for adipogenesis and adipose maintenance in vitro. A. To test the efficiency of raptor knockdown, 3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes were infected with control or raptor siRNA-encoding adenovirus for 6h, then washed and incubated for another 48h. Protein extracts were prepared, followed by immunoblotting to detect raptor and actin.

B. 3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes were treated with rapamycin, or infected with control or raptor siRNA-encoding virus as described in A, or left untreated. Cells were differentiated for 8 days and stained with Oil Red O. Rapamycin was added together with the differentiation mix, and maintained during the differentiation period. **C.** MEFs were isolated at day E12.5 and cultured for 2 passages, then differentiated for 8 days. Representative pictures were taken from 3 knockout embryos and 3 wild type littermates. **D.** 3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes were differentiated for 8 days, and then treated with rapamycin or isoproterenol or left untreated for another 6 days. Triglyceride content was measured as described in "Materials and methods". Isoproterenol was used as a positive control to induce lipolysis (n=3). **E.** 3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes were untreated (upper left panel) or differentiated for 8 days (lower left panel). Differentiated cells were then transduced with control or raptor siRNA-encoding viruses (upper and lower middle panels, respectively), or treated with rapamycin (upper right panel) or isoproterenol as a positive control for lipolysis (lower right panel) for another 6 days. Lipids were visualized by Oil Red O staining.

mTORC1 does not phosphorylate PPARy

Previous studies have suggested that rapamycin's inhibitory effect on adipocytes is a result of inhibition of the key adipogenic transcription factor PPARy (Gagnon et al., 2001; Kim and Chen, 2004). We decided to examine more closely the possible routes in which mTORC1 might affect the activity of PPARy. We considered several possibilities: since mTOR is a kinase, we tested whether it could directly or indirectly phosphorylate PPARy. We also examined less direct effects, such as a localization change or a change in the levels or binding of the cofactors of PPARy.

To test whether mTOR can directly phosphorylate PPARy, we performed an *in vitro* kinase assay with mTORC1 as a kinase and purified PPARy as a substrate. Analysis of the results showed that mTORC1 can phosphorylate PPARy in a rapamycin-dependent manner (Figure 2A), although very weakly compared to phosphorylation of 4E-BP. A similar experiment with raptor IP instead of mTOR resulted in a similar outcome (data not shown). Although the intensity of the band corresponding to PPARy on the autoradiography image is similar to that of the autophosphorylation of mTOR, the ponceau staining shows that the quantity of PPARy protein is much higher than that of

the mTOR protein, therefore the phosphorylation of PPARγ by mTORC1 is also weaker than the autophosphorylation of mTOR.

In contrast to the weak ability of mTORC1 to phosphorylate PPARy in vitro, we could not identify changes in phosphorylation of PPARy following rapamycin treatment in tissue culture. We immunoprecipitated PPARy from differentiated adipocytes, and then immunoblotted with antibodies to detect phosphorylated serine or threonine. No change in the phosphorylation of PPARy was observed following rapamycin treatment (Figure 2B). We further tested the migration of PPARy in a 2D gel. Total protein extract from differentiated 3T3-L1 treated or not with rapamycin was separated by isoelectric focusing followed by SDS-PAGE, and immunoblotting with antibodies to detect PPARy. The migration pattern of PPARy was similar under all conditions (Figure 2C). Finally, we used a mass spectrometer to identify putative phosphorylation sites on PPARy: we transfected HEK cells with a tagged version of PPARy, treated or not with rapamycin, and immunoprecipitated PPARy. We could identify several putative phosphorylation sites on PPARy, including the well-known Ser112 site. However, there was no difference between the phosphorylation sites identified from rapamycin treated or non-treated cells (Figure 2D). We also failed to detect an interaction between mTORC1 components and PPARy by coimmunoprecipitation (data not shown). We therefore conclude that in tissue culture PPARy is not a phosphorylation target of mTORC1, nor is it phosphorylated in an mTORC1dependent manner.



Figure 2. Analysis of the effect of rapamycin on PPARy phosphorylation. A. mTOR precipitates from HEK293 cells were split equally into 5 tubes and re-suspended in kinase assay buffer. DMSO or rapamycin (100nM) and FKBP12 were added to the reaction tubes as indicated. The autoradiographs in the top panel depict mTOR, PPARy and 4E-BP1 phosphorylation. The bottom panel is a picture of ponceau staining, to visualize protein quantities. Several lanes that represent irrelevant conditions were digitally removed from the picture. **B.** 3T3-L1 cells were differentiated and then treated with rapamycin for the indicated periods of time. Protein extracts were prepared using the procedure described for kinase assay in "materials and methods", and PPARy was immunoprecipitated. Immunoprecipitates were immunoblotted to detect phosphorylated serine (p-Ser) or threonine (p-Thr), or PPARy. C. 3T3-L1 cells were differentiated and then treated with rapamycin for the indicated periods of time. Protein extracts were prepared, separated by 2D gels and immunoblotted with antibodies to detect PPARy. D. HEK293 cells were transfected with HA-hPPARy in pCl for two days, followed by treatment with 100nM rapamycin or DMSO for 30', and immunoprecipitation with anti-HA antibodies. Immunoprecipitates were separated by SDS-PAGE, and the bands corresponding to PPARy were analyzed for potential phosphorylation sites by mass spectrometry. The amino acid sequence of human PPARy is shown, with the potential phosphorylation sites marked in red. On the right is a picture of the silver stained gel, with an arrow indicating PPARy.

Inhibition of mTORC1 does not affect the level or localization of PPARy and its cofactors

Since PPARy must be in the nucleus to function, and rapamycin reduces its transcriptional transactivation activity, we considered the possibility that rapamycin treatment might cause a change in the intracellular localization of PPARy. To test this possibility, we differentiated 3T3-L1 cells, treated them with rapamycin or DMSO, and examined the intracellular localization of PPARy by immunofluorescence staining. However, PPARy remained in the nucleus under rapamycin treatment (Figure 3A). Similar results were obtained with PPARy's obligatory interaction partner RXR (Figure 3B). As previously reported, short term rapamycin treatment of 3h did not reduce the level of PPARy protein (Kim and Chen, 2004). In addition, we found no changes in the levels of expression of RXR, and the two cofactors NCoR and retinoblastoma (Figure 3C). Therefore, changes in localization or level of PPARy activity following rapamycin treatment.



Figure 3. Analysis of PPARy and RXR localization and expression levels. A.

Differentiated 3T3-L1 cells were treated with 100nM rapamycin or DMSO for the indicated periods of time. Cells were then stained with a PPARy antibody and DAPI. Pictures were merged using Adobe photoshop. **B.** Differentiated 3T3-L1 cells were treated with 100nM rapamycin or DMSO for the indicated periods of time. Cells were then stained with an RXR antibody and DAPI. Pictures were merged using Adobe photoshop. **C.** Differentiated 3T3-L1 cells were treated with 100nM rapamycin or DMSO for 3h. Protein extracts were prepared using the procedure described for kinase assay in "materials and methods", and

immunoblotted with antibodies to detect PPARy, RXR, NCoR or retinoblastoma (pRb). Actin or ponceau staining were used as a loading control.

Inhibition of mTORC1 decreases the activity of PPARy in 3T3-L1 cells downstream of the PPARy ligands

PPARy is a nuclear receptor, which is known to be activated by several synthetic and endogenous ligands. To test whether rapamycin acts to inhibit PPARy upstream or downstream of the PPARy ligands, we differentiated 3T3-L1 cells in the presence of either rapamycin, each of the PPARy ligands rosiglitazone, troglitazone or PGJ2, or a combination of rapamycin and the ligands, and tested the effect on differentiation. As can be seen in figure 4, the PPARy ligands strongly increased the proportion of differentiated cells, whereas rapamycin blocked the differentiation. In the presence of both rapamycin and a PPARy ligand differentiation was still blocked, indicating that rapamycin acts downstream of the PPARy ligands.



Figure 4. Differentiation of **3T3-L1** cells with rapamycin in combination with PPARy ligands. 3T3-L1 cells were induced to differentiate in the presence of the normal mix, as well as rapamycin (100nM), rosiglitazone (10 μ M), troglitazone (10 μ M) or PGJ2 (5 μ M) as indicated. After differentiation cells were stained with oil red o. Microscope pictures were taken and then oil red o was extracted back from the cells with isopropanol. OD₅₄₀ of the extracted solution was measured and is shown in the graph below the pictures.

The next part of the results will focus on the phenotypic characterization of mice baring an adipose-specific knockout of *raptor*. These results, as well as the data included in the first figure of this thesis, will be submitted for publication in Cell Metabolism in the next few days.

Generation and validation of adipose-specific *raptor* knockout mice (*raptor*^{ad-/-})

To elucidate the role of mTORC1 in adipose tissue, we utilized the cre/loxP system to generate mice in which raptor, an essential and specific component of mTORC1, was deleted exclusively in adipose tissue. A 'floxed' *raptor* allele was created in embryonic stem cells of the 129S1/SvImJ mouse strain by introducing a loxP site into the introns flanking *raptor* exon 6, using a *neo* cassette (G418 resistance) flanked by frt sites as a selectable marker (Figure 5A). Stem cells in which homologous recombination had occurred were selected by G418 resistance, and recombination was confirmed by southern blot analysis (data not shown). The targeted stem cells were injected into blastocysts of C57BL/6J mice to obtain chimeric floxed mice. After germline transmission, the mice were crossed to C57BL/6J mice expressing flp recombinase to remove the *neo* cassette. Progeny lacking the neo cassette (*raptor*^{floxed}) were further back crossed to C57BL/6J mice. Mice used for all phenotyping experiments had been backcrossed 4 or 5 times. To knock out *raptor*, homozygous *raptor*^{floxed} mice were crossed with heterozygous *raptor*^{ad+/-} mice expressing cre recombinase under control of the adipose-specific, *fabp4/aP2* gene promoter (He et al., 2003). Cre recombinase under control of the *aP2*

promoter is expressed relatively late in adipogenesis (Tontonoz et al., 1994b), leading to knockout of *raptor* only in mature adipocytes. Thus, the generated *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice could be used to study the role of mTORC1 in the maintenance of mature adipocytes, but not in adipogenesis.

We confirmed by western blot analysis that raptor protein was indeed missing specifically in white and brown adipose tissue of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice (Figure 5B). We also examined, by RT-PCR, expression of the cre recombinase and confirmed that cre was expressed in white and brown adipose tissue, but not in liver, muscle, kidney, intestine, pancreas or spleen (data not shown). *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice were born at the expected Mendelian ratio. *raptor*^{ad-/-} females showed reduced fertility, giving birth on average to 3.9±0.5 pups per litter as compared to 6.79±0.6 and 6.8±0.5 pups per litter for floxed females that did not express cre (*raptor*^{floxed}) and for wild type C57BL/6J females, respectively. The time between litters was also slightly longer for *raptor*^{ad-/-} females. *raptor*^{ad-/-} males showed similar fertility to that of *raptor*^{floxed} and C57BL/6J males.



Figure 5. Generation and validation of raptor knockout. A. Scheme describing the generation of raptor knockout. **B.** Epididymal WAT, inguinal WAT, BAT, liver, and soleus muscle were isolated, flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C. For protein extraction, approximately 50mg frozen tissue was homogenized by polytron, in 800µl lysis buffer (Tris pH7.5, 2mM EDTA, 2mM EGTA, 0.5M mannitol, 1% triton, phosphatase and protease inhibitors). Extracts were spun down and the fat layer and cell debris were removed. 20-40µg proteins were loaded on SDS-PAGE and blotted with raptor or actin antibodies as indicated.

raptor^{ad-/-} mice are lean and resistant to diet-induced obesity

As a first analysis of the effect of *raptor*^{ad-/-} on adipose tissue, we monitored the weight of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice and littermate controls (*raptor*^{floxed}) over 13 weeks, between the ages of 8 and 21 weeks. On a chow diet, *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice weighed 18% less than *raptor*^{floxed} mice (Figure 6A left graph), but both gained weight at a similar rate. After 13 weeks, both the *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice had gained 33% of their initial weight. When challenged with a high fat diet (HFD), *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice initially gained weight more rapidly than control *raptor*^{floxed} mice (Figure 6A, right graph). However, while the control mice continued to gain weight throughout the time course of the experiment, *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice gained little to no weight after the initial 2 - 3 week period on the HFD. After 13 weeks on the HFD, *raptor*^{floxed} mice had gained 85% of their starting weight whereas *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice had gained only 41% of their starting weight (Figure 6A,B).

To determine the cause of the lower body weight of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice, we examined individual fat pads and organs. The major fat pads of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice were significantly lighter and smaller than those of *raptor*^{floxed} mice (Figure 6C,D). This difference in the fat pads was more pronounced for the mice on a HFD (Figure 6C,D). HFD-fed *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice had 70% less WAT than similarly fed *raptor*^{floxed} mice (Figure 6C). The knockout and control mice displayed no significant difference in the weight of lean organs such as the liver, kidney, spleen, and heart, on either the chow or high fat diet, indicating that the effect of the knockout was specific to adipose tissue. This adipose-specific effect of the knockout was confirmed by DEXA scan analysis (data not shown). Thus, an adiposespecific knockout of mTORC1 results in leaner mice and confers resistance to diet-induced obesity.

raptor^{ad-/-} mice have smaller and fewer WAT cells

To determine whether the reduced amount of fat in *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice is due to fewer fat cells and/or smaller fat cells, we measured the circumference of individual adipocytes in

epididymal WAT of *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice (Figure 6E). The adipocytes from knockout and control mice on a chow diet were similar in size, suggesting that the lower amount of WAT in *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice was due to fewer adipocytes. Adipocytes from *raptor*^{floxed} mice on a high fat diet displayed an expected, approximately two-fold increase in size (Kubota et al., 1999; Lemonnier, 1972), whereas adipocytes from *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice on a HFD displayed only a slight increase in size. Calculating and comparing the volumes of adipocytes from *raptor*^{floxed} and *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice on a HFD indicated that *raptor*^{ad-/-} adipocytes were approximately half the size of the *raptor*^{floxed} adipocytes. Although *raptor*^{ad-/-} adipocytes were significantly smaller, this decrease was not sufficient to account for the observed overall reduction in adipose tissue (Figure 6C), suggesting again that a *raptor* knockout also reduces adipocyte number. The reduced weight of a *raptor* knockout mouse is likely due to a combination of smaller and fewer WAT cells. There was no obvious morphological difference in BAT due to either diet or *raptor* knockout (data not shown), although the *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice contained less overall BAT. Thus, mTORC1 is required to maintain adipose tissue.



raptor^{ad./-}



HFD

chow

Heart

[57]

Figure 6. Knockout mice are lean and resistant to diet-induced obesity. A. 8 week old mice were fed a chow diet (left graph) or a high fat diet (HFD, right graph) for 13 weeks. Body weight was monitored biweekly (n=15-20). **B.** Representative pictures of mice that were on a HFD for 13 weeks. **C.** Weight of epididymal WAT, inguinal WAT, BAT, liver, kidney and heart was measured in 21 weeks old mice (n=13-18 for chow diet, n=6-9 for HFD). **D.** Representative pictures of fat pads and heart from mice that were on a HFD for 13 weeks. **E.** Top panel: representative pictures of H&E staining of epididymal WAT sections from raptor^{floxed} and raptor^{ad-/-} mice fed a chow or HFD. Bottom panel: quantification of WAT cell circumference (n=7-10).

raptor^{ad-/-} mice have better metabolic parameters

We next investigated the effect of the *raptor* knockout on whole animal metabolism. First, we performed an IP glucose tolerance test to determine the ability of the mice to clear glucose from the blood (Figure 7A). On a chow diet, the basal glucose level of the raptor^{ad-/-} mice was lower than that of raptor^{floxed} mice (4.72±0.3 versus 6.36±0.52mM, respectively). Upon IP injection of glucose, the knockout mice had a normal glucose response and clearance rate. On the HFD, basal glucose levels were, as expected, higher than on the chow diet, but slightly lower in *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice compared to *raptor*^{floxed} mice. HFD-fed *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice both exhibited reduced rates of glucose clearance. However, the glucose clearance rate of the *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice was markedly better compared to the *raptor* floxed mice, indicating that the knockout mice were more glucose tolerant than control mice. We then determined plasma insulin levels. Insulin levels were lower in *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice compared to *raptor*^{floxed} mice (Figure 7B). The lower insulin level combined with the observed lower basal glucose level and better glucose clearance rate suggest that the *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice were more insulin sensitive. This enhanced insulin sensitivity of the *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice was despite lower adiponectin plasma levels in these mice (Figure 7C).

Plasma levels of cholesterol showed a similar trend as observed for glucose tolerance (Figure 7D). Levels were similar for the *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice on the chow diet, and were substantially increased for *raptor*^{floxed} mice on the HFD. However, *raptor*^{ad-/-}

[58]

mice maintained normal cholesterol levels even on the HFD. The *raptor* knockout had no effect on plasma levels of triglycerides and free fatty acids, on either the chow or high fat diet (Figure 7E and F, respectively). Taken together, the above results suggest that inactivation of mTORC1 in adipose tissue improves whole animal metabolism, in particular when mTORC1-deficient mice are challenged by a HFD.

As described above, the *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice displayed reduced adiposity. Since an alteration in fat metabolism often results in aberrant accumulation of fat in the liver (steatosis), we examined the livers of the knockout and control mice by Oil Red O staining and by quantification of liver triglyceride content (Figure 7G). On the chow diet there was a small but significant reduction in the amount of triglycerides stored in livers of *raptor*^{ad-/-} compared to *raptor*^{floxed} mice. The HFD caused extensive and similar steatosis in the livers of *raptor*^{floxed} mice.



[60]

Figure 7. Metabolic parameters. A. IP glucose tolerance test (n=7-10). **B-F.** Plasma values (n=10). **G.** Top panel: representative pictures of Oil Red O and hematoxylin staining of liver sections from raptor^{floxed} and raptor^{ad-/-} mice fed a chow or HFD. Bottom panel: quantification of triglyceride content (n=10).

Food intake or absorption, physical activity, adipose-specific lipolysis or expression of fat genes do not account for the leanness of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice

What is the underlying mechanism that causes *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice to be lean and resistant to diet-induced obesity? Adipose tissue is an endocrine organ that interacts with other metabolic organs to regulate behavior and whole body metabolism. The observed leanness could therefore be due to the interaction of adipose tissue with other organs. To examine this possibility, we first measured feeding behavior. *raptor*^{ad-/-} and raptor^{floxed} mice consumed similar amounts of calories per day, on both the chow and high fat diets (Figure 8A). Similar food intake was despite markedly reduced plasma leptin levels in *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice, suggesting enhanced leptin sensitivity (Figure 8B). Second, as another form of behavior, we investigated physical activity. We examined the voluntary activity of *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice. Surprisingly, *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice were less active than *raptor*^{floxed} mice, as measured by activity on running wheels. On average, *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice ran approximately 2000 meters/day whereas *raptor*^{floxed} mice ran approximately 4500 meters/day. Third, we examined fecal lipid content to determine if the observed leanness could be due to a defect in food absorption. There was no difference in the fecal lipid content of *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice (Figure 8C), indicating that *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice do not have a defect in absorption of lipid from food. Thus, the leanness of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice was not due to decreased food intake, increased physical activity or reduced lipid absorption.



Figure 8. Food intake, leptin levels and fecal lipid content. A. 8 week old mice were fed a chow or high fat diet for 13 weeks. Food intake was measured biweekly (n=15-20). B. Leptin plasma levels were measured using an ELISA kit (n=10). C. To measure lipid absorption in the digestive system, feces were collected over 24h, and fat was separated by methanol:chloroform extraction. Extracted lipids were weighed, and the percentage of feces fat (W/W) was calculated (n=7-11).

An adipose maintenance defect could also be due to increased lipolysis or to dedifferentiation resulting from decreased expression of adipose-specific fat storage genes. To test these possibilities, we first measured lipolysis in differentiated 3T3-L1 cells treated or untreated with rapamycin (Figure 9A) and in epididymal WAT pads of *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice (Figure 9B). In neither system did we detect a significant difference in glycerol release from the cells upon inactivation of mTORC1. We also examined perilipin A phosphorylation, another indicator of lipolysis, and found that it was not induced in epididymal WAT of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice or in rapamycin-treated 3T3-L1 cells (data not shown). Finally, we determined the respiratory exchange ratio of *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice, as a measure of the utilized energy source. As expected, HFD-fed mice had a lower ratio than chow-fed mice, indicating greater utilization of fat versus carbohydrates as an energy source. However, the *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice had a similar ratio (Figure 9C), indicating similar utilization of carbohydrates and fat as energy sources. Thus, the leanness of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice was not due to enhanced lipolysis.

We then analyzed the expression pattern of several well known adipose-specific genes that mediate fat storage, in particular, the genes encoding the transcription factors PPARy, CEBP α and SREBP, the fatty acid binding protein aP2, fatty acid synthase (FAS), lipoprotein lipase (LPL), resistin, and hormone sensitive lipase (HSL). In 3T3-L1 cells, inhibition of mTORC1, either by rapamycin treatment or by raptor siRNA, caused a significant decrease in all genes examined (Figure 9D), suggesting that inactivation of mTORC1 causes mature adipocytes to "de-differentiate" due to lack of expression of the genes necessary for lipid production and storage. These results are in agreement with a previous study which showed that the activity of PPARy is reduced following rapamycin treatment (Kim and Chen, 2004). However, unexpectedly, similar expression levels were detected for the genes listed above in epididymal WAT derived from *raptor*^{ad-/-} and raptor^{floxed} mice (Figure 9E). This result suggests that although inactivation of mTORC1 leads to a similar phenotype in cell culture and mice, i.e. loss of fat, the underlying molecular mechanism for this phenotype is probably more complex in vivo where interactions between many different cell types and other external factors participate to determine WAT metabolism. However, the leanness of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice appears not to be due to changes in expression of common lipid metabolizing genes.

Macrophage infiltration into WAT increases with obesity (Weisberg et al., 2003) and contributes to the secretion of inflammatory cytokines that are associated with changes in insulin sensitivity and other metabolic parameters (Weisberg et al., 2006; Xu et al., 2003). To determine the extent of macrophage infiltration into the epididymal WAT of *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice, we measured the expression level of *mac1*, a macrophage marker, in cDNA extracts made from WAT (including any infiltrated macrophages). As expected, *mac1* expression was increased in response to a HFD and the resulting obesity. However, there was little to no difference in *mac1* expression between *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice on either a chow or high fat diet. Thus, leanness was not due to a change in metabolism resulting from a difference in macrophage infiltration.



Figure 9. Lipolysis, respiratory exchange ratio and gene expression analysis. A. 3T3-L1 cells were differentiated and then treated or not treated with rapamycin for the indicated periods of time. Glycerol release was measured during the last 30min of treatment. Isoproterenol was used as a positive control to induce lipolysis (n=4-6). **B.** Glycerol release was measured from epididymal WAT that was isolated and incubated in DMEM for 12h (n=7). **C.** The respiratory exchange quotient was calculated as CO_2 production/ O_2 consumption during indirect calorimetry measurements. **D.** 3T3-L1 cells were differentiated and then treated or not with rapamycin for the indicated periods of time. RNA was prepared and reverse transcribed, and qPCR was used to measure expression levels of the indicated genes (n=3-5). All genes were normalized to actin. Expression levels in differentiated cells that were not further treated were considered as 100%, and expression levels for all treatments were calculated relative to this untreated control. p value ≤0.01 for all genes except aP2 on day 6. **E.** Epididymal WAT was isolated, RNA was prepared and reverse transcribed, and qPCR was used to measure expression levels of the indicated periods of the indicated periods for the indicated periods for all treatments were calculated relative to this untreated control. p

raptor^{ad-/-} mice have higher energy expenditure due to an increase in uncoupled respiration in WAT

Leanness of the *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice could be due to increased energy expenditure. To investigate energy expenditure, we measured oxygen consumption by indirect calorimetry. *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice displayed an increase in oxygen consumption as compared with *raptor*^{floxed} mice (Figure 10A), suggesting that the knockout mice indeed expend more energy. We then analyzed, using a Clark electrode, the oxygen consumption by isolated white adipocytes derived from *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice. Adipocytes from *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice displayed a significant increase in oxygen consumption compared to control adipocytes (Figure 10B). Thus, *raptor*^{ad-/-} caused an increase in mitochondrial respiration in WAT.

Why is respiration increased in WAT of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice? The observed increase in oxygen consumption by isolated adipocytes, as described above, was abolished by the addition of ADP. This effect of ADP, which stimulates coupled respiration and inhibits uncoupled respiration (Nicholls, 2001), suggested that the increase in oxygen consumption was due to uncoupled mitochondrial respiration. To investigate this

possibility further, we examined expression of mitochondrial uncoupling genes in WAT from *raptor*^{ad-/-} and *raptor*^{floxed} mice. We observed a strong increase in the expression of the *uncoupling protein 1* (*UCP1*) gene, and to a lesser extent in expression of *UCP2* and other brown fat markers such as *type 2 deiodinase* (*dio2*) and *cidea* in WAT of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice (Figure 10C). Thus, the leanness of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice appears to be due to increased energy expenditure resulting from mitochondrial uncoupling in WAT.

No difference in oxygen consumption was detected in brown adipocytes isolated from raptor^{ad-/-} and raptor^{floxed} mice (data not shown). In agreement with this finding, the level of *UCP1* expression in BAT was unaffected by *raptor* knockout (Figure 10D). However, expression of *PPARy*, as well as *UCP2* and *UCP3*, was reduced (Figure 10D). Thus, the decreased BAT mass in raptor^{ad-/-} mice might be due to de-differentiation resulting from decreased expression of the key adipogenic transcription factor PPARy.



Figure 10. Energy expenditure and gene expression in WAT and BAT. A. *O*₂ consumption by 14-15 week old mice that remained on chow or high fat diet during the previous 5-6 weeks. **B.** *O*₂ consumption in primary white adipocytes isolated from raptor^{floxed} or raptor^{ad-/-} mice (n=4), as measured with a Clark electrode. *O*₂ consumption was normalized to the amount of genomic DNA (gDNA). **C-D.** Epididymal WAT or BAT were isolated, RNA was prepared and reverse transcribed, and qPCR was performed to measure expression levels of the indicated genes (n=9-10).

Discussion

In this thesis, I describe the generation and phenotypic characterization of the first conditional *raptor* knockout mice. Knockout of *raptor* specifically in adipose tissue (*raptor*^{ad-/-}) resulted in mice that were lean and resistant to diet-induced obesity. *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice also exhibited an overall better metabolic profile than control mice, including enhanced glucose tolerance and resistance to diet-induced hypercholesterolemia. Furthermore, we present evidence that the leanness of *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice was due to elevated energy expenditure as a consequence of uncoupled mitochondria in white adipose tissue. These results suggest that mTORC1 in adipose plays an important role in the control of both adipose metabolism and overall body energy homeostasis.

Similar to adipose-specific *raptor* knockout, whole body knockout of S6K1, which is positively regulated by mTORC1, results in lean mice that are resistant to diet-induced obesity due to increased energy expenditure (Pende et al., 2000; Um et al., 2004). Furthermore, *S6K1* knockout mice exhibit normal food intake despite lower leptin levels, smaller WAT cells, and enhanced insulin sensitivity. Conversely, knockout of 4E-BP1 and 2, which are negatively regulated by mTORC1, results in increased obesity and hypersensitivity to diet-induced obesity due to lower energy expenditure (Le Bacquer et al., 2007). This remarkable correlation between adipose-specific knockout of mTORC1 and full body knockout of its direct effectors S6K1 and 4E-BP1/2 suggests that the effects of the *S6K1* and *4E-BP1/2* knockouts are via adipose tissue. This, in turn, provides further evidence that mTORC1 signaling in adipose plays a central role in controlling whole animal metabolism.

raptor^{ad-/-} mice have lower basal glucose levels, improved glucose clearance, and reduced plasma insulin levels compared to control *raptor*^{floxed} mice, indicating that *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice have enhanced insulin sensitivity. Since 70%-90% of glucose clearance from the blood is by skeletal muscle (De Fronzo, 1997), the observed improvement in insulin sensitivity is likely in muscle (and possibly other tissues). This underscores the role

[68]

of adipose and, in particular, adipose mTORC1 in controlling whole body energy homeostasis. It remains to be determined how mTORC1 signaling in adipose tissue controls insulin sensitivity in other tissues.

Previous studies on the role of mTORC1 in mitochondrial function have provided seemingly conflicting results. Observed changes in respiration by full body S6K1 or 4E-BP1/2 knockout mice suggest, in line with our results, that mTORC1 negatively controls mitochondrial respiration (or uncoupling) (Le Bacquer et al., 2007; Um et al., 2004). In contrast, rapamycin treatment or knockdown of mTOR or raptor in muscle cells or in *TSC* knockout MEFs decreases mitochondrial gene expression and oxygen consumption (Cunningham et al., 2007). These latter effects are via down-regulation of PGC1 α and the transcription factor YY1, and do not involve S6K1 or Akt (Cunningham et al., 2007; Schieke et al., 2006). Taken together, our data and the above findings suggest that mTORC1 controls mitochondrial respiration either negatively or positively depending on the mTORC1 effectors that might be found in a particular tissue.

Impaired TORC1 signaling in yeast, flies and worms extends lifespan (Kaeberlein et al., 2005; Kapahi et al., 2004; Powers et al., 2006; Vellai et al., 2003). Inhibition of TOR signaling mimics nutrient deprivation and the extension of lifespan by TOR inhibition might thus be equivalent to the extension of lifespan by dietary restriction. In this context, it is interesting to note that *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice have improved metabolic parameters that could lead to extended lifespan. Furthermore, *raptor*^{ad-/-} enhances respiration and, at least as shown in budding yeast, impaired TORC1 signaling extends lifespan by increasing mitochondrial respiration among other effects (Bishop and Guarente, 2007; Bonawitz et al., 2007; Kaeberlein and Powers Iii, 2007). It would be of interest to determine if mTORC1 in mammals, and in particular in adipose tissue, controls lifespan.

Metformin is a widely prescribed anti-diabetic drug that increases insulin sensitivity and lowers blood glucose and lipid levels. It functions through activation of the LKB1-AMPK pathway in liver (Shaw et al., 2005; Tzatsos and Kandror, 2006). Metformin also inactivates mTORC1 downstream of AMPK (Dowling et al., 2007; Inoki et al., 2003b; Shaw et al., 2004; Tzatsos and Kandror, 2006). Given that adipose-specific knockout of mTORC1 increases insulin sensitivity and lowers blood glucose and cholesterol levels, metformin might also exert part of its therapeutic effect via activation of AMPK and inhibition of mTORC1 in adipose tissue.

raptor^{ad-/-} mice are lean due to a reduction in the size and number of adipocytes. A previous study in 3T3-L1 cells demonstrated that rapamycin blocks adipogenesis via inhibition of the key adipogenic transcription factor PPARγ (Kim and Chen, 2004). Kim et al. (2004) also reported that rapamycin strongly inhibits PPARγ activity in differentiated 3T3-L1, and that incubation of differentiated 3T3-L1 with rapamycin induces loss of fat. Our results in 3T3-L1 cells support these findings (Figure 1 and 9D). However, surprisingly, *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice are lean despite the absence of an effect on expression of PPARγ and PPARγ targets (Figure 9E, unpublished for PPARγ protein level). Thus, in animals there must be a mechanism(s) in addition to mTORC1 signaling that maintains PPARγ. It remains to be determined what this mechanism might be. mTORC1 deficient mice lose fat due to enhanced energy expenditure and not due to a PPARγ deficiency.

Close examination of the weight curves shows that *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice reached a maximal weight of approximately 30 grams, regardless of being on a chow or high fat diet (Figure 6A). This weight was reached at a slow, constant rate on the chow diet, or very rapidly on the high fat diet. This observed maximal weight suggests there is a limit to the amount of fat that *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice can accumulate. This is also supported by the findings that the size of individual adipocytes did not increase upon HFD, and that the number of adipocytes was reduced in *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice on both the chow and high fat diet (Figure 6E). The reason for such a fixed limit on the amount of fat *raptor*^{ad-/-} mice can accumulate is unknown.

Rapamycin is a specific inhibitor of mTORC1, and cannot bind mTOR in the context of mTORC2 (Jacinto et al., 2004; Sarbassov et al., 2004). However, it can bind free mTOR (Brown et al., 1994; Sabatini et al., 1994; Sabers et al., 1995), thereby indirectly inhibiting the formation of mTORC2 during prolonged rapamycin treatment in many cell types

[70]

(Sarbassov et al., 2006). Many previous studies have shown that rapamycin treatment inhibits adipogenesis and lipid maintenance of 3T3-L1 cells (Bell et al., 2000; Cho et al., 2004; El-Chaar et al., 2004; Gagnon et al., 2001; Kim and Chen, 2004; Yeh et al., 1995a), and attributed this inhibition to loss of mTORC1 activity. However, these experiments require incubation of cells with rapamycin for several days, and might therefore overlook effects caused by mTORC2 inhibition. We used siRNA against raptor to specifically inhibit mTORC1, and found that under these conditions adipogenesis and adipose maintenance of 3T3-L1 cells is strongly inhibited (Figure 1). Furthermore, we used MEFs in which one allele of the *raptor* gene was genetically deleted, and found that under these conditions adipogenesis was impaired as well. Taken together, these results confirmed that mTORC1 is indeed required for the differentiation and maintenance of adipocytes in culture.

We further attempted to elucidate how mTORC1 regulates adipocytes by looking at possible interactions between mTORC1 and the key adipogenic transcription factor PPARy. We found that PPARy is most likely not a phosphorylation substrate of mTORC1 (Figure 2). The nuclear localization and protein levels of PPARy, its dimerization partner RXR, or the cofactors N-CoR or retinoblastoma were not affected by rapamycin treatment (Figure 3 and data not shown). It would be interesting to further examine parameters such as retinoblastoma phosphorylation and binding to PPARy following rapamycin treatment, since rapamycin has been reported to affect retinoblastoma in many cell types (Brennan et al., 1999; Decker et al., 2003; Francis et al., 2006; Gallo et al., 1999; Gao et al., 2004; Garcia-Morales et al., 2006; Marx et al., 1995; Nader et al., 2005; Wanner et al., 2006). Furthermore, phosphorylation of retinoblastoma during adipogenesis is inhibited by rapamycin (Usui et al., 2000), and mice with an adipose-specific knockout of *retinoblastoma* display a very similar phenotype to our adipose-specific *raptor* knockout mice (Dali-Youcef et al., 2007).

When combining rapamycin with either one of the PPARy ligands rosiglitazone, troglitazone or PGJ2, rapamycin still inhibited adipogenesis. This suggests that rapamycin acts downstream of PPARy ligand binding. These results contradict with previously

[71]

published results by Kim and Chen (Kim and Chen, 2004), who reported that troglitazone reversed the inhibition of adipogenesis by rapamycin. The experimental design, materials and cell line were similar in the two studies, and therefore the reason for this conflicting result is unknown.

In conclusion, mTORC1 in adipose tissue regulates whole body metabolism and energy homeostasis. Inhibition of mTORC1 results in metabolically healthier mice, with no apparent adverse effects. Thus, adipose mTORC1 is a potential target for anti-obesity and anti-diabetes drugs.
References

Abraham, R.T. (2001). Cell cycle checkpoint signaling through the ATM and ATR kinases. Genes Dev. 15, 2177-2196.

Ahima, R.S., Prabakaran, D., Mantzoros, C., Qu, D., Lowell, B., Maratos-Flier, E., and Flier, J.S. (1996). Role of leptin in the neuroendocrine response to fasting. Nature 382, 250-252.

Ali, S.M., and Sabatini, D.M. (2005). Structure of S6 Kinase 1 Determines whether RaptormTOR or Rictor-mTOR Phosphorylates Its Hydrophobic Motif Site. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 19445-19448.

Almind, K., Manieri, M., Sivitz, W.I., Cinti, S., and Kahn, C.R. (2007). Ectopic brown adipose tissue in muscle provides a mechanism for differences in risk of metabolic syndrome in mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104, 2366-2371.

Andrade, M.A., and Bork, P. (1995). HEAT repeats in the Huntington's disease protein. Nat Genet 11, 115-116.

Arvaniti, K., Huang, Q., and Richard, D. (2001). Effects of Leptin and Corticosterone on the Expression of Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone, Agouti-Related Protein, and Proopiomelanocortin in the Brain of ob/ob Mouse. Neuroendocrinology 73, 227-236.

Audhya, A., Loewith, R., Parsons, A.B., Gao, L., Tabuchi, M., Zhou, H., Boone, C., Hall, M.N., and Emr, S.D. (2004). Genome-wide lethality screen identifies new PI4,5P2 effectors that regulate the actin cytoskeleton. The EMBO journal 23, 3747-3757.

Avruch, J., Hara, K., Lin, Y., Liu, M., Long, X., Ortiz-Vega, S., and Yonezawa, K. (2006). Insulin and amino-acid regulation of mTOR signaling and kinase activity through the Rheb GTPase. Oncogene 25, 6361-6372.

Barak, Y., Nelson, M.C., Ong, E.S., Jones, Y.Z., Ruiz-Lozano, P., Chien, K.R., Koder, A., and Evans, R.M. (1999). PPAR[gamma] Is Required for Placental, Cardiac, and Adipose Tissue Development. Molecular cell 4, 585-595.

Barbera, M.J., Schluter, A., Pedraza, N., Iglesias, R., Villarroya, F., and Giralt, M. (2001). Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor alpha Activates Transcription of the Brown Fat Uncoupling Protein-1 Gene. A LINK BETWEEN REGULATION OF THE THERMOGENIC AND LIPID OXIDATION PATHWAYS IN THE BROWN FAT CELL. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 1486-1493. Bariohay, B., Lebrun, B., Moyse, E., and Jean, A. (2005). Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Plays a Role as an Anorexigenic Factor in the Dorsal Vagal Complex. Endocrinology 146, 5612-5620.

Bartz, R., Zehmer, J.K., Zhu, M., Chen, Y., Serrero, G., Zhao, Y., and Liu, P. (2007). Dynamic Activity of Lipid Droplets: Protein Phosphorylation and GTP-Mediated Protein Translocation. J. Proteome Res. 6, 3256-3265.

Belfrage, P., Jergil, B., Stralfors, P., and Tornqvist, H. (1978). Identification and some characteristics of the enzyme protein of the hormone-sensitive lipase from rat adipose tissue. Adv Exp Med Biol 101, 113-126.

Bell, A., Grunder, L., and Sorisky, A. (2000). Rapamycin Inhibits Human Adipocyte Differentiation in Primary Culture. Obesity Res 8, 249-254.

Berg, A.H., Combs, T.P., Du, X., Brownlee, M., and Scherer, P.E. (2001). The adipocyte-secreted protein Acrp30 enhances hepatic insulin action. Nat Med 7, 947-953.

Bertram, P.G., Choi, J.H., Carvalho, J., Ai, W., Zeng, C., Chan, T.-F., and Zheng, X.F.S. (2000). Tripartite Regulation of Gln3p by TOR, Ure2p, and Phosphatases. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 35727-35733.

Beugnet, A., Wang, X., and Proud, C.G. (2003). Target of Rapamycin (TOR)-signaling and RAIP Motifs Play Distinct Roles in the Mammalian TOR-dependent Phosphorylation of Initiation Factor 4E-binding Protein 1. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 40717-40722.

Bishop, N.A., and Guarente, L. (2007). Genetic links between diet and lifespan: shared mechanisms from yeast to humans. Nat Rev Genet 8, 835-844.

Blanchette-Mackie, E.J., Dwyer, N.K., Barber, T., Coxey, R.A., Takeda, T., Rondinone, C.M., Theodorakis, J.L., Greenberg, A.S., and Londos, C. (1995). Perilipin is located on the surface layer of intracellular lipid droplets in adipocytes. J. Lipid Res. 36, 1211-1226.

Boden, G. (1997). Role of fatty acids in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance and NIDDM. Diabetes 46, 3-10.

Bonawitz, N.D., Chatenay-Lapointe, M., Pan, Y., and Shadel, G.S. (2007). Reduced TOR Signaling Extends Chronological Life Span via Increased Respiration and Upregulation of Mitochondrial Gene Expression. Cell Metabolism 5, 265-277.

Brand, M.D., and Esteves, T.C. (2005). Physiological functions of the mitochondrial uncoupling proteins UCP2 and UCP3. Cell Metabolism 2, 85-93.

Brasaemle, D.L. (2007). Thematic review series: Adipocyte Biology. The perilipin family of structural lipid droplet proteins: stabilization of lipid droplets and control of lipolysis. J. Lipid Res. 48, 2547-2559.

Brennan, P., Babbage, J.W., Thomas, G., and Cantrell, D. (1999). p70s6k Integrates Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase and Rapamycin-Regulated Signals for E2F Regulation in T Lymphocytes. Mol. Cell. Biol. 19, 4729-4738.

Brown, E.J., Albers, M.W., Bum Shin, T., ichikawa, K., Keith, C.T., Lane, W.S., and Schreiber, S.L. (1994). A mammalian protein targeted by G1-arresting rapamycin-receptor complex. Nature 369, 756-758.

Brugarolas, J., Lei, K., Hurley, R.L., Manning, B.D., Reiling, J.H., Hafen, E., Witters, L.A., Ellisen, L.W., and Kaelin, W.G., Jr. (2004). Regulation of mTOR function in response to hypoxia by REDD1 and the TSC1/TSC2 tumor suppressor complex. Genes Dev. 18, 2893-2904.

Brunn, G.J., Hudson, C.C., Sekuli, A., Williams, J.M., Hosoi, H., Houghton, P.J., Lawrence, J.C., Jr., and Abraham, R.T. (1997). Phosphorylation of the Translational Repressor PHAS-I by the Mammalian Target of Rapamycin. Science 277, 99-101.

Burnett, P.E., Barrow, R.K., Cohen, N.A., Snyder, S.H., and Sabatini, D.M. (1998). RAFT1 phosphorylation of the translational regulators p70 S6 kinase and 4E-BP1. PNAS 95, 1432-1437.

Byfield, M.P., Murray, J.T., and Backer, J.M. (2005). hVps34 Is a Nutrient-regulated Lipid Kinase Required for Activation of p70 S6 Kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 33076-33082.

Cafferkey, R., Young, P.R., McLaughlin, M.M., Bergsma, D.J., Koltin, Y., Sathe, G.M., Faucette, L., Eng, W.K., Johnson, R.K., and Livi, G.P. (1993). Dominant missense mutations in a novel yeast protein related to mammalian phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and VPS34 abrogate rapamycin cytotoxicity. Molecular and cellular biology 13, 6012-6023.

Cao, Z., Umek, R.M., and McKnight, S.L. (1991). Regulated expression of three C/EBP isoforms during adipose conversion of 3T3-L1 cells. Genes Dev. 5, 1538-1552.

Chen, H., Jackson, S., Doro, M., and McGowan, S. (1998). Perinatal expression of genes that may participate in lipid metabolism by lipid-laden lung fibroblasts. J. Lipid Res. 39, 2483-2492.

Chen, Z., Torrens, J.I., Anand, A., Spiegelman, B.M., and Friedman, J.M. (2005). Krox20 stimulates adipogenesis via C/EBP[beta]-dependent and -independent mechanisms. Cell Metabolism 1, 93-106.

Cho, H.J., Park, J., Lee, H.W., Lee, Y.S., and Kim, J.B. (2004). Regulation of adipocyte differentiation and insulin action with rapamycin. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 321, 942-948.

Choi, K.M., McMahon, L.P., and Lawrence, J.C., Jr. (2003). Two Motifs in the Translational Repressor PHAS-I Required for Efficient Phosphorylation by Mammalian Target of Rapamycin and for Recognition by Raptor. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 19667-19673.

Christian, M., Kiskinis, E., Debevec, D., Leonardsson, G., White, R., and Parker, M.G. (2005). RIP140-Targeted Repression of Gene Expression in Adipocytes. Mol. Cell. Biol. 25, 9383-9391.

Christy, R.J., Kaestner, K.H., Geiman, D.E., and Lane, M.D. (1991). CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein Gene Promoter: Binding of Nuclear Factors During Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 88, 2593-2597.

Clarke, S.L., Robinson, C.E., and Gimble, J.M. (1997). CAAT/Enhancer Binding Proteins Directly Modulate Transcription from the Peroxisome Proliferator- Activated Receptor [gamma]2 Promoter. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 240, 99-103.

Clifford, G.M., Londos, C., Kraemer, F.B., Vernon, R.G., and Yeaman, S.J. (2000). Translocation of Hormone-sensitive Lipase and Perilipin upon Lipolytic Stimulation of Rat Adipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 5011-5015.

Combs, T.P., Wagner, J.A., Berger, J., Doebber, T., Wang, W.-J., Zhang, B.B., Tanen, M., Berg, A.H., O'Rahilly, S., Savage, D.B., Chatterjee, K., Weiss, S., Larson, P.J., Gottesdiener, K.M., Gertz, B.J., Charron, M.J., Scherer, P.E., and Moller, D.E. (2002). Induction of Adipocyte Complement-Related Protein of 30 Kilodaltons by PPAR{gamma} Agonists: A Potential Mechanism of Insulin Sensitization. Endocrinology 143, 998-1007.

Corradetti, M.N., and Guan, K.L. (2006). Upstream of the mammalian target of rapamycin: do all roads pass through mTOR? Oncogene 25, 6347-6360.

Corradetti, M.N., Inoki, K., Bardeesy, N., DePinho, R.A., and Guan, K.-L. (2004). Regulation of the TSC pathway by LKB1: evidence of a molecular link between tuberous sclerosis complex and Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Genes Dev. 18, 1533-1538.

Cousin, B., Cinti, S., Morroni, M., Raimbault, S., Ricquier, D., Penicaud, L., and Casteilla, L. (1992). Occurrence of brown adipocytes in rat white adipose tissue: molecular and morphological characterization. J Cell Sci 103, 931-942.

Crespo, J.L., Diaz-Troya, S., and Florencio, F.J. (2005). Inhibition of target of rapamycin signaling by rapamycin in the unicellular green alga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Plant Physiol 139, 1736-1749.

Crino, P.B., Nathanson, K.L., and Henske, E.P. (2006). The Tuberous Sclerosis Complex. N Engl J Med 355, 1345-1356.

Crozier, S.J., Anthony, J.C., Schworer, C.M., Reiter, A.K., Anthony, T.G., Kimball, S.R., and Jefferson, L.S. (2003). Tissue-specific regulation of protein synthesis by insulin and free fatty acids. American journal of physiology 285, E754-762.

Cruz, M.C., Cavallo, L.M., Gorlach, J.M., Cox, G., Perfect, J.R., Cardenas, M.E., and Heitman, J. (1999). Rapamycin antifungal action is mediated via conserved complexes with FKBP12 and TOR kinase homologs in Cryptococcus neoformans. Molecular and cellular biology 19, 4101-4112.

Cruz, M.C., Goldstein, A.L., Blankenship, J., Del Poeta, M., Perfect, J.R., McCusker, J.H., Bennani, Y.L., Cardenas, M.E., and Heitman, J. (2001). Rapamycin and less immunosuppressive analogs are toxic to Candida albicans and Cryptococcus neoformans via FKBP12-dependent inhibition of TOR. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 45, 3162-3170.

Cunningham, J.T., Rodgers, J.T., Arlow, D.H., Vazquez, F., Mootha, V.K., and Puigserver, P. (2007). mTOR controls mitochondrial oxidative function through a YY1-PGC-1[agr] transcriptional complex. Nature 450, 736-740.

Dahlman, I., Linder, K., Arvidsson Nordstrom, E., Andersson, I., Liden, J., Verdich, C., Sorensen, T.I.A., Arner, P., and Nugenob (2005). Changes in adipose tissue gene expression with energy-restricted diets in obese women. Am J Clin Nutr 81, 1275-1285.

Dali-Youcef, N., Mataki, C., Coste, A., Messaddeq, N., Giroud, S., Blanc, S., Koehl, C., Champy, M.-F., Chambon, P., Fajas, L., Metzger, D., Schoonjans, K., and Auwerx, J. (2007). Adipose tissue-specific inactivation of the retinoblastoma protein protects against diabesity because of increased energy expenditure. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104, 10703-10708.

De Fronzo, R.A. (1997). Pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes: metabolic and molecular implications for identifying diabetes genes. Diabetes Rev. 5, 177–285.

Decker, T., Hipp, S., Ringshausen, I., Bogner, C., Oelsner, M., Schneller, F., and Peschel, C. (2003). Rapamycin-induced G1 arrest in cycling B-CLL cells is associated with reduced expression of cyclin D3, cyclin E, cyclin A, and survivin. Blood 101, 278-285.

Deeb, S.S., Fajas, L., Nemoto, M., Pihlajamaki, J., Mykkanen, L., Kuusisto, J., Laakso, M., Fujimoto, W., and Auwerx, J. (1998). A Pro12Ala substitution in PPAR[gamma]2 associated with decreased receptor activity, lower body mass index and improved insulin sensitivity. Nat Genet 20, 284-287.

Dennis, P.B., Jaeschke, A., Saitoh, M., Fowler, B., Kozma, S.C., and Thomas, G. (2001). Mammalian TOR: A Homeostatic ATP Sensor. Science 294, 1102-1105.

Desai, B.N., Myers, B.R., and Schreiber, S.L. (2002). FKBP12-rapamycin-associated protein associates with mitochondria and senses osmotic stress via mitochondrial dysfunction. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 99, 4319-4324.

Desvergne, B., and Wahli, W. (1999). Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors: Nuclear Control of Metabolism. Endocr Rev 20, 649-688.

DeYoung, M.P., Horak, P., Sofer, A., Sgroi, D., and Ellisen, L.W. (2008). Hypoxia regulates TSC1/2 mTOR signaling and tumor suppression through REDD1-mediated 14 3 3 shuttling. Genes Dev. 22, 239-251.

Dowling, R.J.O., Zakikhani, M., Fantus, I.G., Pollak, M., and Sonenberg, N. (2007). Metformin Inhibits Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Dependent Translation Initiation in Breast Cancer Cells. Cancer Res 67, 10804-10812.

Drenan, R.M., Liu, X., Bertram, P.G., and Zheng, X.F.S. (2004). FKBP12-Rapamycinassociated Protein or Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (FRAP/mTOR) Localization in the Endoplasmic Reticulum and the Golgi Apparatus. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 772-778.

Dumont, F.J., Staruch, M.J., Koprak, S.L., Melino, M.R., and Sigal, N.H. (1990). Distinct mechanisms of suppression of murine T cell activation by the related macrolides FK-506 and rapamycin. J Immunol 144, 251-258.

Echtay, K.S. (2007). Mitochondrial uncoupling proteins--What is their physiological role? Free Radical Biology and Medicine 43, 1351-1371.

Egan, J.J., Greenberg, A.S., Chang, M., Wek, S.A., Moos, M.C., Jr., and Londos, C. (1992). Mechanism of Hormone-Stimulated Lipolysis in Adipocytes: Translocation of Hormone-Sensitive Lipase to the Lipid Storage Droplet. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 89, 8537-8541.

El-Chaar, D., Gagnon, A., and Sorisky, A. (2004). Inhibition of insulin signaling and adipogenesis by rapamycin: effect on phosphorylation of p70 S6 kinase vs eIF4E-BP1. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 28, 191-198.

Enerback, S., Jacobsson, A., Simpson, E.M., Guerra, C., Yamashita, H., Harper, M.-E., and Kozak, L.P. (1997). Mice lacking mitochondrial uncoupling protein are cold-sensitive but not obese. Nature 387, 90-94.

Fajas, L., Auboeuf, D., Raspe, E., Schoonjans, K., Lefebvre, A.-M., Saladin, R., Najib, J., Laville, M., Fruchart, J.-C., Deeb, S., Vidal-Puig, A., Flier, J., Briggs, M.R., Staels, B., Vidal, H., and Auwerx, J. (1997). The Organization, Promoter Analysis, and Expression of the Human PPARgamma Gene. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 18779-18789.

Fajas, L., Fruchart, J.-C., and Auwerx, J. (1998). PPAR[gamma]3 mRNA: a distinct PPAR[gamma] mRNA subtype transcribed from an independent promoter. FEBS Letters 438, 55-60.

Fang, Y., Park, I.-H., Wu, A.-L., Du, G., Huang, P., Frohman, M.A., Walker, S.J., Brown, H.A., and Chen, J. (2003). PLD1 Regulates mTOR Signaling and Mediates Cdc42 Activation of S6K1. Current Biology 13, 2037-2044.

Fang, Y., Vilella-Bach, M., Bachmann, R., Flanigan, A., and Chen, J. (2001). Phosphatidic Acid-Mediated Mitogenic Activation of mTOR Signaling. Science 294, 1942-1945.

Fantuzzi, G., and Faggioni, R. (2000). Leptin in the regulation of immunity, inflammation, and hematopoiesis. J Leukoc Biol 68, 437-446.

Farmer, S.R. (2006). Transcriptional control of adipocyte formation. Cell Metabolism 4, 263-273.

Findlay, G.M., Yan, L., Procter, J., Mieulet, V., and Lamb, R.F. (2007). A MAP4 kinase related to Ste20 is a nutrient-sensitive regulator of mTOR signalling. Biochem J 403, 13-20.

Fonseca-Alaniz, M.H., Takada, J., Alonso-Vale, M.I., and Lima, F.B. (2007). Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ: from theory to practice. J Pediatr (Rio J) 83, S192-203.

Fonseca, B.D., Smith, E.M., Lee, V.H.Y., MacKintosh, C., and Proud, C.G. (2007). PRAS40 Is a Target for Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Complex 1 and Is Required for Signaling Downstream of This Complex. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 24514-24524.

Forman, B.M., Tontonoz, P., Chen, J., Brun, R.P., Spiegelman, B.M., and Evans, R.M. (1995). 15-Deoxy-[Delta]12,14-Prostaglandin J2 is a ligand for the adipocyte determination factor PPAR[gamma]. Cell 83, 803-812.

Francis, L.K., Alsayed, Y., Leleu, X., Jia, X., Singha, U.K., Anderson, J., Timm, M., Ngo, H., Lu, G., Huston, A., Ehrlich, L.A., Dimmock, E., Lentzsch, S., Hideshima, T., Roodman, G.D., Anderson, K.C., and Ghobrial, I.M. (2006). Combination Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Inhibitor Rapamycin and HSP90 Inhibitor 17-Allylamino-17-Demethoxygeldanamycin Has Synergistic Activity in Multiple Myeloma. Clin Cancer Res 12, 6826-6835.

Frederich, R.C., Lollmann, B., Hamann, A., Napolitano-Rosen, A., Kahn, B.B., Lowell, B.B., and Flier, J.S. (1995). Expression of ob mRNA and its encoded protein in rodents. Impact of nutrition and obesity. J Clin Invest 96, 1658-1663.

Fredrikson, G., Tornqvist, H., and Belfrage, P. (1986). Hormone-sensitive lipase and monoacylglycerol lipase are both required for complete degradation of adipocyte triacylglycerol. Biochim Biophys Acta 876, 288-293.

Freidenberg, G.R., Reichart, D., Olefsky, J.M., and Henry, R.R. (1988). Reversibility of defective adipocyte insulin receptor kinase activity in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Effect of weight loss. J Clin Invest 82, 1398-1406.

Freytag, S.O., Paielli, D.L., and Gilbert, J.D. (1994). Ectopic expression of the CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein alpha promotes the adipogenic program in a variety of mouse fibroblastic cells. Genes Dev. 8, 1654-1663.

Frias, M.A., Thoreen, C.C., Jaffe, J.D., Schroder, W., Sculley, T., Carr, S.A., and Sabatini, D.M. (2006). mSin1 Is Necessary for Akt/PKB Phosphorylation, and Its Isoforms Define Three Distinct mTORC2s. Curr Biol Epub ahead of print.

Fu, M., Sun, T., Bookout, A.L., Downes, M., Yu, R.T., Evans, R.M., and Mangelsdorf, D.J. (2005). A Nuclear Receptor Atlas: 3T3-L1 Adipogenesis. Mol Endocrinol 19, 2437-2450.

Gagnon, A., Lau, S., and Sorisky, A. (2001). Rapamycin-sensitive phase of 3T3-L1 preadipocyte differentiation after clonal expansion. Journal of cellular physiology 189, 14-22.

Gallo, R., Padurean, A., Jayaraman, T., Marx, S., Roque, M., Adelman, S., Chesebro, J., Fallon, J., Fuster, V., Marks, A., and Badimon, J.J. (1999). Inhibition of Intimal Thickening After Balloon Angioplasty in Porcine Coronary Arteries by Targeting Regulators of the Cell Cycle. Circulation 99, 2164-2170.

Gangloff, Y.G., Mueller, M., Dann, S.G., Svoboda, P., Sticker, M., Spetz, J.F., Um, S.H., Brown, E.J., Cereghini, S., Thomas, G., and Kozma, S.C. (2004). Disruption of the mouse mTOR gene leads to early postimplantation lethality and prohibits embryonic stem cell development. Molecular and cellular biology 24, 9508-9516.

Gao, N., Flynn, D.C., Zhang, Z., Zhong, X.-S., Walker, V., Liu, K.J., Shi, X., and Jiang, B.-H. (2004). G1 cell cycle progression and the expression of G1 cyclins are regulated by PI3K/AKT/mTOR/p70S6K1 signaling in human ovarian cancer cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 287, C281-291.

Garami, A., Zwartkruis, F.J.T., Nobukuni, T., Joaquin, M., Roccio, M., Stocker, H., Kozma, S.C., Hafen, E., Bos, J.L., and Thomas, G. (2003). Insulin Activation of Rheb, a Mediator of mTOR/S6K/4E-BP Signaling, Is Inhibited by TSC1 and 2. Molecular cell 11, 1457-1466.

Garcia-Morales, P., Hernando, E., Carrasco-Garcia, E., Menendez-Gutierrez, M.P., Saceda, M., and Martinez-Lacaci, I. (2006). Cyclin D3 is down-regulated by rapamycin in HER-2-overexpressing breast cancer cells. Mol Cancer Ther 5, 2172-2181.

Garlid, K.D., Jaburek, M., Jezek, P., and Varecha, M. (2000). How do uncoupling proteins uncouple? Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics 1459, 383-389.

Garruti, G., and Ricquier, D. (1992). Analysis of uncoupling protein and its mRNA in adipose tissue deposits of adult humans. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 16, 383-390.

Gimeno, R.E., and Klaman, L.D. (2005). Adipose tissue as an active endocrine organ: recent advances. Current Opinion in Pharmacology 5, 122-128.

Gingras, A.-C., Gygi, S.P., Raught, B., Polakiewicz, R.D., Abraham, R.T., Hoekstra, M.F., Aebersold, R., and Sonenberg, N. (1999). Regulation of 4E-BP1 phosphorylation: a novel two-step mechanism. Genes Dev. 13, 1422-1437.

Gingras, A.-C., Raught, B., Gygi, S.P., Niedzwiecka, A., Miron, M., Burley, S.K., Polakiewicz, R.D., Wyslouch-Cieszynska, A., Aebersold, R., and Sonenberg, N. (2001). Hierarchical phosphorylation of the translation inhibitor 4E-BP1. Genes Dev. 15, 2852-2864.

Golden, P.L., Maccagnan, T.J., and Pardridge, W.M. (1997). Human blood-brain barrier leptin receptor. Binding and endocytosis in isolated human brain microvessels. J Clin Invest 99, 14-18.

Golozoubova, V., Hohtola, E.S.A., Matthias, A., Jacobsson, A., Cannon, B., and Nedergaard, J.A.N. (2001). Only UCP1 can mediate adaptive nonshivering thermogenesis in the cold. FASEB J. 15, 2048-2050.

Granneman, J.G., and Moore, H.-P.H. (2008). Location, location: protein trafficking and lipolysis in adipocytes. Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism 19, 3-9.

Granneman, J.G., Moore, H.-P.H., Granneman, R.L., Greenberg, A.S., Obin, M.S., and Zhu, Z. (2007). Analysis of Lipolytic Protein Trafficking and Interactions in Adipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 5726-5735.

Greenberg, A.S., Egan, J.J., Wek, S.A., Garty, N.B., Blanchette-Mackie, E.J., and Londos, C. (1991). Perilipin, a major hormonally regulated adipocyte-specific phosphoprotein associated with the periphery of lipid storage droplets. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 11341-11346.

Guerra, C., Koza, R.A., Yamashita, H., Walsh, K., and Kozak, L.P. (1998). Emergence of brown adipocytes in white fat in mice is under genetic control. Effects on body weight and adiposity. J Clin Invest 102, 412-420.

Guertin, D.A., and Sabatini, D.M. (2007). Defining the Role of mTOR in Cancer. Cancer Cell 12, 9-22.

Guertin, D.A., Stevens, D.M., Thoreen, C.C., Burds, A.A., Kalaany, N.Y., Moffat, J., Brown, M., Fitzgerald, K.J., and Sabatini, D.M. (2006). Ablation in Mice of the mTORC Components raptor, rictor, or mLST8 Reveals that mTORC2 Is Required for Signaling to Akt-FOXO and PKC[alpha], but Not S6K1. Developmental Cell 11, 859-871.

Guilherme, A., Virbasius, J.V., Puri, V., and Czech, M.P. (2008). Adipocyte dysfunctions linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol advanced online publication.

Ha, S.H., Kim, D.-H., Kim, I.-S., Kim, J.H., Lee, M.N., Lee, H.J., Kim, J.H., Jang, S.K., Suh, P.-G., and Ryu, S.H. (2006). PLD2 forms a functional complex with mTOR/raptor to transduce mitogenic signals. Cellular Signalling 18, 2283-2291.

Haar, E.V., Lee, S.-i., Bandhakavi, S., Griffin, T.J., and Kim, D.-H. (2007). Insulin signalling to mTOR mediated by the Akt/PKB substrate PRAS40. Nature cell biology 9, 316-323.

Haemmerle, G., Zimmermann, R., Hayn, M., Theussl, C., Waeg, G., Wagner, E., Sattler, W., Magin, T.M., Wagner, E.F., and Zechner, R. (2002). Hormone-sensitive Lipase Deficiency in Mice Causes Diglyceride Accumulation in Adipose Tissue, Muscle, and Testis. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 4806-4815.

Halaas, J.L., Gajiwala, K.S., Maffei, M., Cohen, S.L., Chait, B.T., Rabinowitz, D., Lallone, R.L., Burley, S.K., and Friedman, J.M. (1995). Weight-reducing effects of the plasma protein encoded by the obese gene. Science 269, 543-546.

Hamm, J.K., Park, B.H., and Farmer, S.R. (2001). A Role for C/EBPbeta in Regulating Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor gamma Activity during Adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 18464-18471.

Hansen, J.B., Jorgensen, C., Petersen, R.K., Hallenborg, P., De Matteis, R., Boye, H.A., Petrovic, N., Enerback, S., Nedergaard, J., Cinti, S., Riele, H.t., and Kristiansen, K. (2004a). Retinoblastoma protein functions as a molecular switch determining white versus brown adipocyte differentiation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 101, 4112-4117.

Hansen, J.B., te Riele, H., and Kristiansen, K. (2004b). Novel function of the retinoblastoma protein in fat: regulation of white versus brown adipocyte differentiation. Cell Cycle 3, 774-778.

Hara, K., Maruki, Y., Long, X., Yoshino, K.-i., Oshiro, N., Hidayat, S., Tokunaga, C., Avruch, J., and Yonezawa, K. (2002). Raptor, a Binding Partner of Target of Rapamycin (TOR), Mediates TOR Action. Cell 110, 177-189.

Hara, K., Yonezawa, K., Weng, Q.-P., Kozlowski, M.T., Belham, C., and Avruch, J. (1998). Amino Acid Sufficiency and mTOR Regulate p70 S6 Kinase and eIF-4E BP1 through a Common Effector Mechanism. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 14484-14494.

Harrington, L.S., Findlay, G.M., Gray, A., Tolkacheva, T., Wigfield, S., Rebholz, H., Barnett, J., Leslie, N.R., Cheng, S., Shepherd, P.R., Gout, I., Downes, C.P., and Lamb, R.F. (2004). The TSC1-2 tumor suppressor controls insulin-PI3K signaling via regulation of IRS proteins. J. Cell Biol. 166, 213-223.

Haruta, T., Uno, T., Kawahara, J., Takano, A., Egawa, K., Sharma, P.M., Olefsky, J.M., and Kobayashi, M. (2000). A Rapamycin-Sensitive Pathway Down-Regulates Insulin Signaling via Phosphorylation and Proteasomal Degradation of Insulin Receptor Substrate-1. Mol Endocrinol 14, 783-794.

Hay, N., and Sonenberg, N. (2004). Upstream and downstream of mTOR. Genes Dev. 18, 1926-1945.

He, W., Barak, Y., Hevener, A., Olson, P., Liao, D., Le, J., Nelson, M., Ong, E., Olefsky, J.M., and Evans, R.M. (2003). Adipose-specific peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor {gamma} knockout causes insulin resistance in fat and liver but not in muscle. PNAS 100, 15712-15717.

Heitman, J., Movva, N.R., and Hall, M.N. (1991). Targets for cell cycle arrest by the immunosuppressant rapamycin in yeast. Science 253, 905-909.

Helliwell, S.B., Wagner, P., Kunz, J., Deuter-Reinhard, M., Henriquez, R., and Hall, M.N. (1994). TOR1 and TOR2 are structurally and functionally similar but not identical phosphatidylinositol kinase homologues in yeast. Mol Biol Cell 5, 105-118.

Hotta, K., Funahashi, T., Bodkin, N.L., Ortmeyer, H.K., Arita, Y., Hansen, B.C., and Matsuzawa, Y. (2001). Circulating Concentrations of the Adipocyte Protein Adiponectin Are Decreased in Parallel With Reduced Insulin Sensitivity During the Progression to Type 2 Diabetes in Rhesus Monkeys. Diabetes 50, 1126-1133.

Huypens, P. (2007). Adipokines regulate systemic insulin sensitivity in accordance to existing energy reserves. Medical Hypotheses 69, 161-165.

Imai, T., Takakuwa, R., Marchand, S., Dentz, E., Bornert, J.M., Messaddeq, N., Wendling, O., Mark, M., Desvergne, B., Wahli, W., Chambon, P., and Metzger, D. (2004). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma is required in mature white and brown adipocytes for their survival in the mouse. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101, 4543-4547.

Inoki, K., Li, Y., Xu, T., and Guan, K.-L. (2003a). Rheb GTPase is a direct target of TSC2 GAP activity and regulates mTOR signaling. Genes Dev. 17, 1829-1834.

Inoki, K., Li, Y., Zhu, T., Wu, J., and Guan, K.L. (2002). TSC2 is phosphorylated and inhibited by Akt and suppresses mTOR signalling. Nature cell biology 4, 648-657.

Inoki, K., Ouyang, H., Zhu, T., Lindvall, C., Wang, Y., Zhang, X., Yang, Q., Bennett, C., Harada, Y., Stankunas, K., Wang, C.-y., He, X., MacDougald, O.A., You, M., Williams, B.O., and Guan, K.-L. (2006). TSC2 Integrates Wnt and Energy Signals via a Coordinated Phosphorylation by AMPK and GSK3 to Regulate Cell Growth. Cell 126, 955-968.

Inoki, K., Zhu, T., and Guan, K.-L. (2003b). TSC2 Mediates Cellular Energy Response to Control Cell Growth and Survival. Cell 115, 577-590.

Isotani, S., Hara, K., Tokunaga, C., Inoue, H., Avruch, J., and Yonezawa, K. (1999). Immunopurified Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Phosphorylates and Activates p70 S6 Kinase alpha in Vitro. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 34493-34498. Jacinto, E., Facchinetti, V., Liu, D., Soto, N., Wei, S., Jung, S.Y., Huang, Q., Qin, J., and Su, B. (2006). SIN1/MIP1 Maintains rictor-mTOR Complex Integrity and Regulates Akt Phosphorylation and Substrate Specificity. Cell 127, 125-137.

Jacinto, E., Guo, B., Arndt, K.T., Schmelzle, T., and Hall, M.N. (2001). TIP41 Interacts with TAP42 and Negatively Regulates the TOR Signaling Pathway. Molecular cell 8, 1017-1026.

Jacinto, E., Loewith, R., Schmidt, A., Lin, S., Ruegg, M.A., Hall, A., and Hall, M.N. (2004). Mammalian TOR complex 2 controls the actin cytoskeleton and is rapamycin insensitive. Nature cell biology 6, 1122-1128.

Jiang, Y., and Broach, J.R. (1999). Tor proteins and protein phosphatase 2A reciprocally regulate Tap42 in controlling cell growth in yeast. The EMBO journal 18, 2782-2792.

Jones, J.R., Barrick, C., Kim, K.-A., Lindner, J., Blondeau, B., Fujimoto, Y., Shiota, M., Kesterson, R.A., Kahn, B.B., and Magnuson, M.A. (2005). Deletion of PPAR{gamma} in adipose tissues of mice protects against high fat diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance. PNAS 102, 6207-6212.

Kaeberlein, M., and Powers Iii, R.W. (2007). Sir2 and calorie restriction in yeast: A skeptical perspective. Ageing Research Reviews 6, 128-140.

Kaeberlein, M., Powers, R.W., III, Steffen, K.K., Westman, E.A., Hu, D., Dang, N., Kerr, E.O., Kirkland, K.T., Fields, S., and Kennedy, B.K. (2005). Regulation of Yeast Replicative Life Span by TOR and Sch9 in Response to Nutrients. Science 310, 1193-1196.

Kam, Y., and Exton, J.H. (2004). Role of phospholipase D1 in the regulation of mTOR activity by lysophosphatidic acid. FASEB J. 18, 311-319.

Kapahi, P., Zid, B.M., Harper, T., Koslover, D., Sapin, V., and Benzer, S. (2004). Regulation of Lifespan in Drosophila by Modulation of Genes in the TOR Signaling Pathway. Current Biology 14, 885-890.

Keith, C.T., and Schreiber, S.L. (1995). PIK-related kinases: DNA repair, recombination, and cell cycle checkpoints. Science 270, 50-51.

Kelley, D.E., Mokan, M., Simoneau, J.A., and Mandarino, L.J. (1993). Interaction between glucose and free fatty acid metabolism in human skeletal muscle. J Clin Invest 92, 91-98.

Kershaw, E.E., Hamm, J.K., Verhagen, L.A.W., Peroni, O., Katic, M., and Flier, J.S. (2006). Adipose Triglyceride Lipase: Function, Regulation by Insulin, and Comparison With Adiponutrin. Diabetes 55, 148-157.

Kim, D.H., Sarbassov, D.D., Ali, S.M., King, J.E., Latek, R.R., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., and Sabatini, D.M. (2002). mTOR interacts with raptor to form a nutrientsensitive complex that signals to the cell growth machinery. Cell 110, 163-175. Kim, D.H., Sarbassov, D.D., Ali, S.M., Latek, R.R., Guntur, K.V., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., and Sabatini, D.M. (2003). GbetaL, a positive regulator of the rapamycinsensitive pathway required for the nutrient-sensitive interaction between raptor and mTOR. Molecular cell 11, 895-904.

Kim, J.E., and Chen, J. (2000). Cytoplasmic-nuclear shuttling of FKBP12-rapamycinassociated protein is involved in rapamycin-sensitive signaling and translation initiation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97, 14340-14345.

Kim, J.E., and Chen, J. (2004). regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptorgamma activity by mammalian target of rapamycin and amino acids in adipogenesis. Diabetes 53, 2748-2756.

Kiskinis, E., Hallberg, M., Christian, M., Olofsson, M., Dilworth, S.M., White, R., and Parker, M.G. (2007). RIP140 directs histone and DNA methylation to silence Ucp1 expression in white adipocytes. The EMBO journal 26, 4831-4840.

Klaus, S., Choy, L., Champigny, O., Cassard-Doulcier, A.M., Ross, S., Spiegelman, B., and Ricquier, D. (1994). Characterization of the novel brown adipocyte cell line HIB 1B. Adrenergic pathways involved in regulation of uncoupling protein gene expression. J Cell Sci 107, 313-319.

Kletzien, R.F., Foellmi, L.A., Harris, P.K., Wyse, B.M., and Clarke, S.D. (1992). Adipocyte fatty acid-binding protein: regulation of gene expression in vivo and in vitro by an insulin-sensitizing agent. Mol Pharmacol 42, 558-562.

Kobe, B., Gleichmann, T., Horne, J., Jennings, I.G., Scotney, P.D., and Teh, T. (1999). Turn up the HEAT. Structure 7, R91-R97.

Krebs, M., Brunmair, B., Brehm, A., Artwohl, M., Szendroedi, J., Nowotny, P., Roth, E., Furnsinn, C., Promintzer, M., Anderwald, C., Bischof, M., and Roden, M. (2007). The Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Pathway Regulates Nutrient-Sensitive Glucose Uptake in Man. Diabetes 56, 1600-1607.

Kristensen, P., Judge, M.E., Thim, L., Ribel, U., Christjansen, K.N., Wulff, B.S., Clausen, J.T., Jensen, P.B., Madsen, O.D., Vrang, N., Larsen, P.J., and Hastrup, S. (1998). Hypothalamic CART is a new anorectic peptide regulated by leptin. Nature 393, 72-76.

Kubota, N., Terauchi, Y., Miki, H., Tamemoto, H., Yamauchi, T., Komeda, K., Satoh, S., Nakano, R., Ishii, C., Sugiyama, T., Eto, K., Tsubamoto, Y., Okuno, A., Murakami, K., Sekihara, H., Hasegawa, G., Naito, M., Toyoshima, Y., Tanaka, S., Shiota, K., Kitamura, T., Fujita, T., Ezaki, O., Aizawa, S., Nagai, R., Tobe, K., Kimura, S., and Kadowaki, T. (1999). PPAR[gamma] Mediates High-Fat Diet-Induced Adipocyte Hypertrophy and Insulin Resistance. Molecular cell 4, 597-609. Kumano, S., Matsumoto, H., Takatsu, Y., Noguchi, J., Kitada, C., and Ohtaki, T. (2003). Changes in Hypothalamic Expression Levels of Galanin-Like Peptide in Rat and Mouse Models Support That It Is a Leptin-Target Peptide. Endocrinology 144, 2634-2643.

Kunz, J., Henriquez, R., Schneider, U., Deuter-Reinhard, M., Movva, N.R., and Hall, M.N. (1993). Target of rapamycin in yeast, TOR2, is an essential phosphatidylinositol kinase homolog required for G1 progression. Cell 73, 585-596.

Kwiatkowski, D.J. (2003). Tuberous Sclerosis: from Tubers to mTOR. Annals of Human Genetics 67, 87-96.

Lass, A., Zimmermann, R., Haemmerle, G., Riederer, M., Schoiswohl, G., Schweiger, M., Kienesberger, P., Strauss, J.G., Gorkiewicz, G., and Zechner, R. (2006). Adipose triglyceride lipase-mediated lipolysis of cellular fat stores is activated by CGI-58 and defective in Chanarin-Dorfman Syndrome. Cell Metabolism 3, 309-319.

Le Bacquer, O., Petroulakis, E., Paglialunga, S., Poulin, F., Richard, D., Cianflone, K., and Sonenberg, N. (2007). Elevated sensitivity to diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance in mice lacking 4E-BP1 and 4E-BP2. J Clin Invest 117, 387-396.

Lean, M.E., James, W.P., Jennings, G., and Trayhurn, P. (1986). Brown adipose tissue in patients with phaeochromocytoma. Int J Obes 10, 219-227.

Lee, S., Comer, F.I., Sasaki, A., McLeod, I.X., Duong, Y., Okumura, K., Yates, J.R., III, Parent, C.A., and Firtel, R.A. (2005). TOR Complex 2 Integrates Cell Movement during Chemotaxis and Signal Relay in Dictyostelium. Mol. Biol. Cell 16, 4572-4583.

Lehmann, J.r.M., Moore, L.B., Smith-Oliver, T.A., Wilkison, W.O., Willson, T.M., and Kliewer, S.A. (1995). An Antidiabetic Thiazolidinedione Is a High Affinity Ligand for Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor [IMAGE] (PPAR[IMAGE]). J. Biol. Chem. 270, 12953-12956.

Lemonnier, D. (1972). Effect of age, sex, and sites on the cellularity of the adipose tissue in mice and rats rendered obese by a high-fat diet. J Clin Invest 51, 2907-2915.

Leonardsson, G., Steel, J.H., Christian, M., Pocock, V., Milligan, S., Bell, J., So, P.-W., Medina-Gomez, G., Vidal-Puig, A., White, R., and Parker, M.G. (2004). Nuclear receptor corepressor RIP140 regulates fat accumulation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 101, 8437-8442.

Leone, T.C., Lehman, J.J., Finck, B.N., Schaeffer, P.J., Wende, A.R., Boudina, S., Courtois, M., Wozniak, D.F., Sambandam, N., Bernal-Mizrachi, C., Chen, Z., O. Holloszy, J., Medeiros, D.M., Schmidt, R.E., Saffitz, J.E., Abel, E.D., Semenkovich, C.F., and Kelly, D.P. (2005). PGC-1α Deficiency Causes Multi-System Energy Metabolic Derangements: Muscle Dysfunction, Abnormal Weight Control and Hepatic Steatosis. PLoS Biology 3, e101.

Liang, H., and Ward, W.F. (2006). PGC-1{alpha}: a key regulator of energy metabolism. Advan. Physiol. Edu. 30, 145-151.

Lin, J., Handschin, C., and Spiegelman, B.M. (2005). Metabolic control through the PGC-1 family of transcription coactivators. Cell Metabolism 1, 361-370.

Lin, J., Wu, P.-H., Tarr, P.T., Lindenberg, K.S., St-Pierre, J., Zhang, C.-y., Mootha, V.K., Jager, S., Vianna, C.R., Reznick, R.M., Cui, L., Manieri, M., Donovan, M.X., Wu, Z., Cooper, M.P., Fan, M.C., Rohas, L.M., Zavacki, A.M., Cinti, S., Shulman, G.I., Lowell, B.B., Krainc, D., and Spiegelman, B.M. (2004). Defects in Adaptive Energy Metabolism with CNS-Linked Hyperactivity in PGC-1[alpha] Null Mice. Cell 119, 121-135.

Lin, S.-C., and Li, P. (2004). CIDE-A, a novel link between brown adipose tissue and obesity. Trends in Molecular Medicine 10, 434-439.

Linhart, H.G., Ishimura-Oka, K., DeMayo, F., Kibe, T., Repka, D., Poindexter, B., Bick, R.J., and Darlington, G.J. (2001). C/EBPalpha is required for differentiation of white, but not brown, adipose tissue. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 98, 12532-12537.

Loewith, R., Jacinto, E., Wullschleger, S., Lorberg, A., Crespo, J.L., Bonenfant, D., Oppliger, W., Jenoe, P., and Hall, M.N. (2002). Two TOR complexes, only one of which is rapamycin sensitive, have distinct roles in cell growth control. Molecular cell 10, 457-468.

Long, X., Lin, Y., Ortiz-Vega, S., Yonezawa, K., and Avruch, J. (2005a). Rheb binds and regulates the mTOR kinase. Curr Biol 15, 702-713.

Long, X., Ortiz-Vega, S., Lin, Y., and Avruch, J. (2005b). Rheb Binding to Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Is Regulated by Amino Acid Sufficiency. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 23433-23436.

Long, X., Spycher, C., Han, Z.S., Rose, A.M., Muller, F., and Avruch, J. (2002). TOR Deficiency in C. elegans Causes Developmental Arrest and Intestinal Atrophy by Inhibition of mRNA Translation. Current Biology 12, 1448-1461.

Lopez, M., Seoane, L., del Carmen Garcia, M., Lago, F., Casanueva, F.F., Senaris, R., and Dieguez, C. (2000). Leptin Regulation of Prepro-orexin and Orexin Receptor mRNA Levels in the Hypothalamus. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 269, 41-45.

Lord, G.M., Matarese, G., Howard, J.K., Baker, R.J., Bloom, S.R., and Lechler, R.I. (1998). Leptin modulates the T-cell immune response and reverses starvation-induced immunosuppression. Nature 394, 897-901.

Manning, B.D., Tee, A.R., Logsdon, M.N., Blenis, J., and Cantley, L.C. (2002). Identification of the Tuberous Sclerosis Complex-2 Tumor Suppressor Gene Product Tuberin as a Target of the Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase/Akt Pathway. Molecular cell 10, 151-162.

Mantzoros, C.S., Flier, J.S., and Rogol, A.D. (1997). A Longitudinal Assessment of Hormonal and Physical Alterations during Normal Puberty in Boys. V. Rising Leptin Levels May Signal the Onset of Puberty. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82, 1066-1070.

Marcinkiewicz, A., Gauthier, D., Garcia, A., and Brasaemle, D.L. (2006). The Phosphorylation of Serine 492 of Perilipin A Directs Lipid Droplet Fragmentation and Dispersion. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 11901-11909.

Martin, D.E., Soulard, A., and Hall, M.N. (2004). TOR Regulates Ribosomal Protein Gene Expression via PKA and the Forkhead Transcription Factor FHL1. Cell 119, 969-979.

Marx, S.O., Jayaraman, T., Go, L.O., and Marks, A.R. (1995). Rapamycin-FKBP Inhibits Cell Cycle Regulators of Proliferation in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. Circ Res 76, 412-417.

Mathew, B., Patel, S.B., Reams, G.P., Freeman, R.H., Spear, R.M., and Villarreal, D. (2007). Obesity-hypertension: emerging concepts in pathophysiology and treatment. Am J Med Sci 334, 23-30.

McMillan, D.C., Sattar, N., Lean, M., and McArdle, C.S. (2006). Obesity and cancer. BMJ 333, 1109-1111.

Meister, B. (2000). Control of food intake via leptin receptors in the hypothalamus. Vitam Horm 59, 265-304.

Menand, B., Desnos, T., Nussaume, L., Berger, F., Bouchez, D., Meyer, C., and Robaglia, C. (2002). Expression and disruption of the Arabidopsis TOR (target of rapamycin) gene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99, 6422-6427.

Miard, S., and Fajas, L. (2005). Atypical transcriptional regulators and cofactors of PPAR[gamma]. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 29, S10-S12.

Minokoshi, Y., Alquier, T., Furukawa, N., Kim, Y.-B., Lee, A., Xue, B., Mu, J., Foufelle, F., Ferre, P., Birnbaum, M.J., Stuck, B.J., and Kahn, B.B. (2004). AMP-kinase regulates food intake by responding to hormonal and nutrient signals in the hypothalamus. Nature 428, 569-574.

Minokoshi, Y., Kim, Y.-B., Peroni, O.D., Fryer, L.G.D., Muller, C., Carling, D., and Kahn, B.B. (2002). Leptin stimulates fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. Nature 415, 339-343.

Miyoshi, H., Souza, S.C., Zhang, H.-H., Strissel, K.J., Christoffolete, M.A., Kovsan, J., Rudich, A., Kraemer, F.B., Bianco, A.C., Obin, M.S., and Greenberg, A.S. (2006). Perilipin Promotes Hormone-sensitive Lipase-mediated Adipocyte Lipolysis via Phosphorylation-dependent and -independent Mechanisms. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 15837-15844.

Mordier, S., and Iynedjian, P.B. (2007). Activation of mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 and insulin resistance induced by palmitate in hepatocytes. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 362, 206-211.

Morrisett, J.D., Abdel-Fattah, G., Hoogeveen, R., Mitchell, E., Ballantyne, C.M., Pownall, H.J., Opekun, A.R., Jaffe, J.S., Oppermann, S., and Kahan, B.D. (2002). Effects of sirolimus on plasma lipids, lipoprotein levels, and fatty acid metabolism in renal transplant patients. J. Lipid Res. 43, 1170-1180.

Mothe-Satney, I., Brunn, G.J., McMahon, L.P., Capaldo, C.T., Abraham, R.T., and Lawrence, J.C., Jr. (2000). Mammalian Target of Rapamycin-dependent Phosphorylation of PHAS-I in Four (S/T)P Sites Detected by Phospho-specific Antibodies. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 33836-33843.

Murakami, M., Ichisaka, T., Maeda, M., Oshiro, N., Hara, K., Edenhofer, F., Kiyama, H., Yonezawa, K., and Yamanaka, S. (2004). mTOR is essential for growth and proliferation in early mouse embryos and embryonic stem cells. Molecular and cellular biology 24, 6710-6718.

Nader, G.A., McLoughlin, T.J., and Esser, K.A. (2005). mTOR function in skeletal muscle hypertrophy: increased ribosomal RNA via cell cycle regulators. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 289, C1457-1465.

Nedergaard, J., Bengtsson, T., and Cannon, B. (2007). Unexpected evidence for active brown adipose tissue in adult humans. American journal of physiology 293, E444-452.

Nicholls, D.G. (2001). A history of UCP1. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 29, 751-755.

Nobukuni, T., Joaquin, M., Roccio, M., Dann, S.G., Kim, S.Y., Gulati, P., Byfield, M.P., Backer, J.M., Natt, F., Bos, J.L., Zwartkruis, F.J., and Thomas, G. (2005). Amino acids mediate mTOR/raptor signaling through activation of class 3 phosphatidylinositol 3OHkinase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102, 14238-14243.

Nojima, H., Tokunaga, C., Eguchi, S., Oshiro, N., Hidayat, S., Yoshino, K.-i., Hara, K., Tanaka, N., Avruch, J., and Yonezawa, K. (2003). The Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Partner, Raptor, Binds the mTOR Substrates p70 S6 Kinase and 4E-BP1 through Their TOR Signaling (TOS) Motif. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 15461-15464.

Nordstrom, E.A., Ryden, M., Backlund, E.C., Dahlman, I., Kaaman, M., Blomqvist, L., Cannon, B., Nedergaard, J., and Arner, P. (2005). A Human-Specific Role of Cell Death-Inducing DFFA (DNA Fragmentation Factor-{alpha})-Like Effector A (CIDEA) in Adipocyte Lipolysis and Obesity. Diabetes 54, 1726-1734.

Notari, L., Baladron, V., Aroca-Aguilar, J.D., Balko, N., Heredia, R., Meyer, C., Notario, P.M., Saravanamuthu, S., Nueda, M.-L., Sanchez-Sanchez, F., Escribano, J., Laborda, J., and

Becerra, S.P. (2006). Identification of a Lipase-linked Cell Membrane Receptor for Pigment Epithelium-derived Factor. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 38022-38037.

Oberkofler, H., Dallinger, G., Liu, Y.M., Hell, E., Krempler, F., and Patsch, W. (1997). Uncoupling protein gene: quantification of expression levels in adipose tissues of obese and non-obese humans. J Lipid Res 38, 2125-2133.

Oldham, S., Montagne, J., Radimerski, T., Thomas, G., and Hafen, E. (2000). Genetic and biochemical characterization of dTOR, the Drosophila homolog of the target of rapamycin. Genes Dev. 14, 2689-2694.

Orlicky, D.J., DeGregori, J., and Schaack, J. (2001). Construction of stable coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor-expressing 3T3-L1 cells. J. Lipid Res. 42, 910-915.

Oshiro, N., Takahashi, R., Yoshino, K.-i., Tanimura, K., Nakashima, A., Eguchi, S., Miyamoto, T., Hara, K., Takehana, K., Avruch, J., Kikkawa, U., and Yonezawa, K. (2007). The Proline-rich Akt Substrate of 40 kDa (PRAS40) Is a Physiological Substrate of Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Complex 1. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 20329-20339.

Oshiro, N., Yoshino, K., Hidayat, S., Tokunaga, C., Hara, K., Eguchi, S., Avruch, J., and Yonezawa, K. (2004). Dissociation of raptor from mTOR is a mechanism of rapamycininduced inhibition of mTOR function. Genes Cells 9, 359-366.

Ozes, O.N., Akca, H., Mayo, L.D., Gustin, J.A., Maehama, T., Dixon, J.E., and Donner, D.B. (2001). A phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt/mTOR pathway mediates and PTEN antagonizes tumor necrosis factor inhibition of insulin signaling through insulin receptor substrate-1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 98, 4640-4645.

Paglin, S., Lee, N.-Y., Nakar, C., Fitzgerald, M., Plotkin, J., Deuel, B., Hackett, N., McMahill, M., Sphicas, E., Lampen, N., and Yahalom, J. (2005). Rapamycin-Sensitive Pathway Regulates Mitochondrial Membrane Potential, Autophagy, and Survival in Irradiated MCF-7 Cells. Cancer Res 65, 11061-11070.

Park, I.-H., Bachmann, R., Shirazi, H., and Chen, J. (2002). Regulation of Ribosomal S6 Kinase 2 by Mammalian Target of Rapamycin. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 31423-31429.

Pearson, R.B., Dennis, P.B., Han, J.W., Williamson, N.A., Kozma, S.C., Wettenhall, R.E., and Thomas, G. (1995). The principal target of rapamycin-induced p70s6k inactivation is a novel phosphorylation site within a conserved hydrophobic domain. The EMBO journal 14, 5279-5287.

Pelleymounter, M.A., Cullen, M.J., Baker, M.B., Hecht, R., Winters, D., Boone, T., and Collins, F. (1995). Effects of the obese gene product on body weight regulation in ob/ob mice. Science 269, 540-543.

Pende, M., Kozma, S.C., Jaquet, M., Oorschot, V., Burcelin, R., Le Marchand-Brustel, Y., Klumperman, J., Thorens, B., and Thomas, G. (2000). Hypoinsulinaemia, glucose intolerance and diminished [beta]-cell size in S6K1-deficient mice. Nature 408, 994-997.

Picard, F., Gehin, M., Annicotte, J.-S., Rocchi, S., Champy, M.-F., O'Malley, B.W., Chambon, P., and Auwerx, J. (2002). SRC-1 and TIF2 Control Energy Balance between White and Brown Adipose Tissues. Cell 111, 931-941.

Poirier, P., Giles, T.D., Bray, G.A., Hong, Y., Stern, J.S., Pi-Sunyer, F.X., and Eckel, R.H. (2006). Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease: Pathophysiology, Evaluation, and Effect of Weight Loss: An Update of the 1997 American Heart Association Scientific Statement on Obesity and Heart Disease From the Obesity Committee of the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. Circulation 113, 898-918.

Potter, C.J., Pedraza, L.G., and Xu, T. (2002). Akt regulates growth by directly phosphorylating Tsc2. Nature cell biology 4, 658-665.

Powelka, A.M., Seth, A., Virbasius, J.V., Kiskinis, E., Nicoloro, S.M., Guilherme, A., Tang, X., Straubhaar, J., Cherniack, A.D., Parker, M.G., and Czech, M.P. (2006). Suppression of oxidative metabolism and mitochondrial biogenesis by the transcriptional corepressor RIP140 in mouse adipocytes. J Clin Invest 116, 125-136.

Powers, R.W., III, Kaeberlein, M., Caldwell, S.D., Kennedy, B.K., and Fields, S. (2006). Extension of chronological life span in yeast by decreased TOR pathway signaling. Genes Dev. 20, 174-184.

Puigserver, P., Wu, Z., Park, C.W., Graves, R., Wright, M., and Spiegelman, B.M. (1998). A Cold-Inducible Coactivator of Nuclear Receptors Linked to Adaptive Thermogenesis. Cell 92, 829-839.

Reiling, J.H., and Hafen, E. (2004). The hypoxia-induced paralogs Scylla and Charybdis inhibit growth by down-regulating S6K activity upstream of TSC in Drosophila. Genes Dev. 18, 2879-2892.

Reinke, A., Anderson, S., McCaffery, J.M., Yates, J., III, Aronova, S., Chu, S., Fairclough, S., Iverson, C., Wedaman, K.P., and Powers, T. (2004). TOR Complex 1 Includes a Novel Component, Tco89p (YPL180w), and Cooperates with Ssd1p to Maintain Cellular Integrity in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 14752-14762.

Roccio, M., Bos, J.L., and Zwartkruis, F.J.T. (2005). Regulation of the small GTPase Rheb by amino acids. Oncogene 25, 657-664.

Ronti, T., Lupattelli, G., and Mannarino, E. (2006). The endocrine function of adipose tissue: an update. Clinical Endocrinology 64, 355-365.

Rosen, E.D., Hsu, C.-H., Wang, X., Sakai, S., Freeman, M.W., Gonzalez, F.J., and Spiegelman, B.M. (2002). C/EBPalpha induces adipogenesis through PPARgamma : a unified pathway. Genes Dev. 16, 22-26.

Rosen, E.D., Sarraf, P., Troy, A.E., Bradwin, G., Moore, K., Milstone, D.S., Spiegelman, B.M., and Mortensen, R.M. (1999). PPAR[gamma] Is Required for the Differentiation of Adipose Tissue In Vivo and In Vitro. Molecular cell 4, 611-617.

Sabatini, D.M., Barrow, R.K., Blackshaw, S., Burnett, P.E., Lai, M.M., Field, M.E., Bahr, B.A., Kirsch, J., Betz, H., and Snyder, S.H. (1999). Interaction of RAFT1 with Gephyrin Required for Rapamycin-Sensitive Signaling. Science 284, 1161-1164.

Sabatini, D.M., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Lui, M., Tempst, P., and Snyder, S.H. (1994). RAFT1: A mammalian protein that binds to FKBP12 in a rapamycin-dependent fashion and is homologous to yeast TORs. Cell 78, 35-43.

Sabers, C.J., Martin, M.M., Brunn, G.J., Williams, J.M., Dumont, F.J., Wiederrecht, G., and Abraham, R.T. (1995). Isolation of a Protein Target of the FKBP12-Rapamycin Complex in Mammalian Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 815-822.

Sahu, A. (1998). Evidence Suggesting That Galanin (GAL), Melanin-Concentrating Hormone (MCH), Neurotensin (NT), Proopiomelanocortin (POMC) and Neuropeptide Y (NPY) Are Targets of Leptin Signaling in the Hypothalamus. Endocrinology 139, 795-798.

Sancak, Y., Thoreen, C.C., Peterson, T.R., Lindquist, R.A., Kang, S.A., Spooner, E., Carr, S.A., and Sabatini, D.M. (2007). PRAS40 Is an Insulin-Regulated Inhibitor of the mTORC1 Protein Kinase. Molecular cell 25, 903-915.

Sandouk, T., Reda, D., and Hofmann, C. (1993). Antidiabetic agent pioglitazone enhances adipocyte differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 264, C1600-1608.

Santomauro, A.T., Boden, G., Silva, M.E., Rocha, D.M., Santos, R.F., Ursich, M.J., Strassmann, P.G., and Wajchenberg, B.L. (1999). Overnight lowering of free fatty acids with Acipimox improves insulin resistance and glucose tolerance in obese diabetic and nondiabetic subjects. Diabetes 48, 1836-1841.

Sarbassov, D.D., Ali, S.M., Kim, D.H., Guertin, D.A., Latek, R.R., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., and Sabatini, D.M. (2004). Rictor, a novel binding partner of mTOR, defines a rapamycin-insensitive and raptor-independent pathway that regulates the cytoskeleton. Curr Biol 14, 1296-1302.

Sarbassov, D.D., Ali, S.M., Sengupta, S., Sheen, J.H., Hsu, P.P., Bagley, A.F., Markhard, A.L., and Sabatini, D.M. (2006). Prolonged rapamycin treatment inhibits mTORC2 assembly and Akt/PKB. Molecular cell 22, 159-168.

Sarbassov, D.D., Guertin, D.A., Ali, S.M., and Sabatini, D.M. (2005). Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. Science 307, 1098-1101.

Schalm, S.S., and Blenis, J. (2002). Identification of a Conserved Motif Required for mTOR Signaling. Current Biology 12, 632-639.

Schieke, S.M., Phillips, D., McCoy, J.P., Jr., Aponte, A.M., Shen, R.-F., Balaban, R.S., and Finkel, T. (2006). The Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Pathway Regulates Mitochondrial Oxygen Consumption and Oxidative Capacity. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 27643-27652.

Schmidt, A., Beck, T., Koller, A., Kunz, J., and Hall, M.N. (1998). The TOR nutrient signalling pathway phosphorylates NPR1 and inhibits turnover of the tryptophan permease. The EMBO journal 17, 6924-6931.

Schmidt, A., Bickle, M., Beck, T., and Hall, M.N. (1997). The Yeast Phosphatidylinositol Kinase Homolog TOR2 Activates RHO1 and RHO2 via the Exchange Factor ROM2. Cell 88, 531-542.

Schwartz, M.W., Seeley, R.J., Campfield, L.A., Burn, P., and Baskin, D.G. (1996). Identification of targets of leptin action in rat hypothalamus. J Clin Invest 98, 1101-1106.

Schwenk, F., Baron, U., and Rajewsky, K. (1995). A cre-transgenic mouse strain for the ubiquitous deletion of loxP-flanked gene segments including deletion in germ cells. Nucl. Acids Res. 23, 5080-5081.

Scime, A., Grenier, G., Huh, M.S., Gillespie, M.A., Bevilacqua, L., Harper, M.-E., and Rudnicki, M.A. (2005). Rb and p107 regulate preadipocyte differentiation into white versus brown fat through repression of PGC-1[alpha]. Cell Metabolism 2, 283-295.

Seale, P., Kajimura, S., Yang, W., Chin, S., Rohas, L.M., Uldry, M., Tavernier, G., Langin, D., and Spiegelman, B.M. (2007). Transcriptional Control of Brown Fat Determination by PRDM16. Cell Metabolism 6, 38-54.

Shah, O.J., Wang, Z., and Hunter, T. (2004). Inappropriate Activation of the TSC/Rheb/mTOR/S6K Cassette Induces IRS1/2 Depletion, Insulin Resistance, and Cell Survival Deficiencies. Current Biology 14, 1650-1656.

Shakur, Y., Holst, L.S., Landstrom, T.R., Movsesian, M., Degerman, E., and Manganiello, V. (2001). Regulation and function of the cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase (PDE3) gene family. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol 66, 241-277.

Shaw, R.J., Bardeesy, N., Manning, B.D., Lopez, L., Kosmatka, M., DePinho, R.A., and Cantley, L.C. (2004). The LKB1 tumor suppressor negatively regulates mTOR signaling. Cancer Cell 6, 91-99.

Shaw, R.J., and Cantley, L.C. (2006). Ras, PI(3)K and mTOR signalling controls tumour cell growth. Nature 441, 424-430.

Shaw, R.J., Lamia, K.A., Vasquez, D., Koo, S.-H., Bardeesy, N., DePinho, R.A., Montminy, M., and Cantley, L.C. (2005). The Kinase LKB1 Mediates Glucose Homeostasis in Liver and Therapeutic Effects of Metformin. Science 310, 1642-1646.

Shi, Y., and Burn, P. (2004). Lipid metabolic enzymes: emerging drug targets for the treatment of obesity. Nat Rev Drug Discov 3, 695-710.

Shinozaki-Yabana, S., Watanabe, Y., and Yamamoto, M. (2000). Novel WD-repeat protein Mip1p facilitates function of the meiotic regulator Mei2p in fission yeast. Molecular and cellular biology 20, 1234-1242.

Shiota, C., Woo, J.-T., Lindner, J., Shelton, K.D., and Magnuson, M.A. (2006). Multiallelic Disruption of the rictor Gene in Mice Reveals that mTOR Complex 2 Is Essential for Fetal Growth and Viability. Developmental Cell 11, 583-589.

Silva, J.E., and Larsen, P.R. (1983). Adrenergic activation of triiodothyronine production in brown adipose tissue. Nature 305, 712-713.

Sims, E.A., Danforth, E., Jr., Horton, E.S., Bray, G.A., Glennon, J.A., and Salans, L.B. (1973). Endocrine and metabolic effects of experimental obesity in man. Recent Prog Horm Res 29, 457-496.

Skurk, T., Alberti-Huber, C., Herder, C., and Hauner, H. (2007). Relationship between Adipocyte Size and Adipokine Expression and Secretion. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92, 1023-1033.

Smith, E.M., Finn, S.G., Tee, A.R., Browne, G.J., and Proud, C.G. (2005). The Tuberous Sclerosis Protein TSC2 Is Not Required for the Regulation of the Mammalian Target of Rapamycin by Amino Acids and Certain Cellular Stresses. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 18717-18727.

Soulard, A., and Hall, M.N. (2007). SnapShot: mTOR Signaling. Cell 129, 434.e431-434.e432.

Steffes, M.W., Gross, M.D., Schreiner, P.J., Yu, X., Hilner, J.E., Gingerich, R., and Jacobs, D.R. (2004). Serum adiponectin in young adults--interactions with central adiposity, circulating levels of glucose, and insulin resistance: the CARDIA study. Annals of Epidemiology 14, 492-498.

Subramanian, V., Rothenberg, A., Gomez, C., Cohen, A.W., Garcia, A., Bhattacharyya, S., Shapiro, L., Dolios, G., Wang, R., Lisanti, M.P., and Brasaemle, D.L. (2004). Perilipin A Mediates the Reversible Binding of CGI-58 to Lipid Droplets in 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 42062-42071. Sztalryd, C., Xu, G., Dorward, H., Tansey, J.T., Contreras, J.A., Kimmel, A.R., and Londos, C. (2003). Perilipin A is essential for the translocation of hormone-sensitive lipase during lipolytic activation. J. Cell Biol. 161, 1093-1103.

Takeda, S., Elefteriou, F., Levasseur, R., Liu, X., Zhao, L., Parker, K.L., Armstrong, D., Ducy, P., and Karsenty, G. (2002). Leptin Regulates Bone Formation via the Sympathetic Nervous System. Cell 111, 305-317.

Tamori, Y., Masugi, J., Nishino, N., and Kasuga, M. (2002). Role of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-{gamma} in Maintenance of the Characteristics of Mature 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. Diabetes 51, 2045-2055.

Tanaka, T., Yoshida, N., Kishimoto, T., and Akira, S. (1997). Defective adipocyte differentiation in mice lacking the C/EBPbeta and/or C/EBPdelta gene. The EMBO journal 16, 7432-7443.

Tee, A.R., Manning, B.D., Roux, P.P., Cantley, L.C., and Blenis, J. (2003). Tuberous Sclerosis Complex Gene Products, Tuberin and Hamartin, Control mTOR Signaling by Acting as a GTPase-Activating Protein Complex toward Rheb. Current Biology 13, 1259-1268.

Thedieck, K., Polak, P., Kim, M.L., Molle, K.D., Cohen, A., Jenö, P., Arrieumerlou, C., and Hall, M.N. (2007). PRAS40 and PRR5-Like Protein Are New mTOR Interactors that Regulate Apoptosis. PLoS ONE 2, e1217.

Tomas, E., Tsao, T.-S., Saha, A.K., Murrey, H.E., Zhang, C.c., Itani, S.I., Lodish, H.F., and Ruderman, N.B. (2002). Enhanced muscle fat oxidation and glucose transport by ACRP30 globular domain: Acetyl-CoA carboxylase inhibition and AMP-activated protein kinase activation. PNAS 99, 16309-16313.

Tontonoz, P., Graves, R.A., Budavari, A.I., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Lui, M., Hu, E., Tempst, P., and Spiegelman, B.M. (1994a). Adipocyte-specific transcription factor ARF6 is a heterodimeric complex of two nuclear hormone receptors, PPAR gamma and RXR alpha. Nucleic Acids Res 22, 5628-5634.

Tontonoz, P., Hu, E., and Spiegelman, B.M. (1994b). Stimulation of adipogenesis in fibroblasts by PPAR[gamma]2, a lipid-activated transcription factor. Cell 79, 1147-1156.

Tremblay, F., Brule, S., Hee Um, S., Li, Y., Masuda, K., Roden, M., Sun, X.J., Krebs, M., Polakiewicz, R.D., Thomas, G., and Marette, A. (2007). Identification of IRS-1 Ser-1101 as a target of S6K1 in nutrient- and obesity-induced insulin resistance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104, 14056-14061.

Tzatsos, A., and Kandror, K.V. (2006). Nutrients Suppress Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase/Akt Signaling via Raptor-Dependent mTOR-Mediated Insulin Receptor Substrate 1 Phosphorylation. Mol. Cell. Biol. 26, 63-76. Ueno, M., Carvalheira, J.B., Tambascia, R.C., Bezerra, R.M., Amaral, M.E., Carneiro, E.M., Folli, F., Franchini, K.G., and Saad, M.J. (2005a). Regulation of insulin signalling by hyperinsulinaemia: role of IRS-1/2 serine phosphorylation and the mTOR/p70 S6K pathway. Diabetologia 48, 506-518.

Ueno, M., Carvalheira, J.B.C., Tambascia, R.C., Bezerra, R.M.N., Amaral, M.E., Carneiro, E.M., Folli, F., Franchini, K.G., and Saad, M.J.A. (2005b). Regulation of insulin signalling by hyperinsulinaemia: role of IRS-1/2 serine phosphorylation and the mTOR/p70 S6K pathway. Diabetologia 48, 506-518.

Uldry, M., Yang, W., St-Pierre, J., Lin, J., Seale, P., and Spiegelman, B.M. (2006). Complementary action of the PGC-1 coactivators in mitochondrial biogenesis and brown fat differentiation. Cell Metabolism 3, 333-341.

Um, S.H., Frigerio, F., Watanabe, M., Picard, F., Joaquin, M., Sticker, M., Fumagalli, S., Allegrini, P.R., Kozma, S.C., Auwerx, J., and Thomas, G. (2004). Absence of S6K1 protects against age- and diet-induced obesity while enhancing insulin sensitivity. Nature 431, 200-205.

Urban, J., Soulard, A., Huber, A., Lippman, S., Mukhopadhyay, D., Deloche, O., Wanke, V., Anrather, D., Ammerer, G., Riezman, H., Broach, J.R., De Virgilio, C., Hall, M.N., and Loewith, R. (2007). Sch9 Is a Major Target of TORC1 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Molecular cell 26, 663-674.

Usui, I., Haruta, T., Iwata, M., Takano, A., Uno, T., Kawahara, J., Ueno, E., Sasaoka, T., and Kobayashi, M. (2000). Retinoblastoma Protein Phosphorylation via PI 3-Kinase and mTOR Pathway Regulates Adipocyte Differentiation. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 275, 115-120.

Vellai, T., Takacs-Vellai, K., Zhang, Y., Kovacs, A.L., Orosz, L., and Muller, F. (2003). Genetics: Influence of TOR kinase on lifespan in C. elegans. Nature 426, 620-620.

Vgontzas, A.N., Tan, T.L., Bixler, E.O., Martin, L.F., Shubert, D., and Kales, A. (1994). Sleep apnea and sleep disruption in obese patients. Arch Intern Med 154, 1705-1711.

Villena, J.A., Roy, S., Sarkadi-Nagy, E., Kim, K.-H., and Sul, H.S. (2004). Desnutrin, an Adipocyte Gene Encoding a Novel Patatin Domain-containing Protein, Is Induced by Fasting and Glucocorticoids: ECTOPIC EXPRESSION OF DESNUTRIN INCREASES TRIGLYCERIDE HYDROLYSIS. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 47066-47075.

Wang, C., Mao, X., Wang, L., Liu, M., Wetzel, M.D., Guan, K.-L., Dong, L.Q., and Liu, F. (2007a). Adiponectin Sensitizes Insulin Signaling by Reducing p70 S6 Kinase-mediated Serine Phosphorylation of IRS-1. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 7991-7996.

Wang, L., Harris, T.E., Roth, R.A., and Lawrence, J.C., Jr. (2007b). PRAS40 Regulates mTORC1 Kinase Activity by Functioning as a Direct Inhibitor of Substrate Binding. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 20036-20044.

Wanner, K., Hipp, S., Oelsner, M., Ringshausen, I., Bogner, C., Peschel, C., and Decker, T. (2006). Mammalian target of rapamycin inhibition induces cell cycle arrest in diffuse large B cell lymphoma (DLBCL) cells and sensitises DLBCL cells to rituximab. British Journal of Haematology 134, 475-484.

Weigle, D.S., Duell, P.B., Connor, W.E., Steiner, R.A., Soules, M.R., and Kuijper, J.L. (1997). Effect of Fasting, Refeeding, and Dietary Fat Restriction on Plasma Leptin Levels. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82, 561-565.

Weisberg, S.P., Hunter, D., Huber, R., Lemieux, J., Slaymaker, S., Vaddi, K., Charo, I., Leibel, R.L., and Ferrante, A.W., Jr. (2006). CCR2 modulates inflammatory and metabolic effects of high-fat feeding. J Clin Invest 116, 115-124.

Weisberg, S.P., McCann, D., Desai, M., Rosenbaum, M., Leibel, R.L., and Ferrante, A.W., Jr. (2003). Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest 112, 1796-1808.

Weisman, R., and Choder, M. (2001). The Fission Yeast TOR Homolog, tor1+, Is Required for the Response to Starvation and Other Stresses via a Conserved Serine. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 7027-7032.

Werner, E.D., Lee, J., Hansen, L., Yuan, M., and Shoelson, S.E. (2004). Insulin Resistance Due to Phosphorylation of Insulin Receptor Substrate-1 at Serine 302. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 35298-35305.

Weyer, C., Funahashi, T., Tanaka, S., Hotta, K., Matsuzawa, Y., Pratley, R.E., and Tataranni, P.A. (2001). Hypoadiponectinemia in Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes: Close Association with Insulin Resistance and Hyperinsulinemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86, 1930-1935.

Wu, Z., Rosen, E.D., Brun, R., Hauser, S., Adelmant, G., Troy, A.E., McKeon, C., Darlington, G.J., and Spiegelman, B.M. (1999). Cross-Regulation of C/EBP[alpha] and PPAR[gamma] Controls the Transcriptional Pathway of Adipogenesis and Insulin Sensitivity. Molecular cell 3, 151-158.

Wullschleger, S., Loewith, R., and Hall, M.N. (2006). TOR signaling in growth and metabolism. Cell 124, 471-484.

Xu, H., Barnes, G.T., Yang, Q., Tan, G., Yang, D., Chou, C.J., Sole, J., Nichols, A., Ross, J.S., Tartaglia, L.A., and Chen, H. (2003). Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. J Clin Invest 112, 1821-1830.

Yamaguchi, T., Omatsu, N., Matsushita, S., and Osumi, T. (2004). CGI-58 Interacts with Perilipin and Is Localized to Lipid Droplets: POSSIBLE INVOLVEMENT OF CGI-58 MISLOCALIZATION IN CHANARIN-DORFMAN SYNDROME. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 30490-30497.

Yamauchi, T., Hara, K., Kubota, N., Terauchi, Y., Tobe, K., Froguel, P., Nagai, R., and Kadowaki, T. (2003). Dual roles of adiponectin/Acrp30 in vivo as an anti-diabetic and antiatherogenic adipokine. Curr Drug Targets Immune Endocr Metabol Disord 3, 243-254.

Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Minokoshi, Y., Ito, Y., Waki, H., Uchida, S., Yamashita, S., Noda, M., Kita, S., Ueki, K., Eto, K., Akanuma, Y., Froguel, P., Foufelle, F., Ferre, P., Carling, D., Kimura, S., Nagai, R., Kahn, B.B., and Kadowaki, T. (2002). Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. Nat Med 8, 1288-1295.

Yang, Q., Inoki, K., Ikenoue, T., and Guan, K.-L. (2006a). Identification of Sin1 as an essential TORC2 component required for complex formation and kinase activity. Genes Dev. 20, 2820-2832.

Yang, Q., Inoki, K., Kim, E., and Guan, K.L. (2006b). TSC1/TSC2 and Rheb have different effects on TORC1 and TORC2 activity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 6811-6816.

Yang, S.Y., He, X.Y., and Schulz, H. (1987). Fatty acid oxidation in rat brain is limited by the low activity of 3- ketoacyl-coenzyme A thiolase. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 13027-13032.

Yeh, W.C., Bierer, B.E., and McKnight, S.L. (1995a). Rapamycin inhibits clonal expansion and adipogenic differentiation of 3T3-L1 cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92, 11086-11090.

Yeh, W.C., Cao, Z., Classon, M., and McKnight, S.L. (1995b). Cascade regulation of terminal adipocyte differentiation by three members of the C/EBP family of leucine zipper proteins. Genes Dev. 9, 168-181.

Young, T., Palta, M., Dempsey, J., Skatrud, J., Weber, S., and Badr, S. (1993). The Occurrence of Sleep-Disordered Breathing among Middle-Aged Adults. N Engl J Med 328, 1230-1235.

Zhang, H., Stallock, J.P., Ng, J.C., Reinhard, C., and Neufeld, T.P. (2000). Regulation of cellular growth by the Drosophila target of rapamycin dTOR. Genes Dev. 14, 2712-2724.

Zhang, H.H., Souza, S.C., Muliro, K.V., Kraemer, F.B., Obin, M.S., and Greenberg, A.S. (2003a). Lipase-selective Functional Domains of Perilipin A Differentially Regulate Constitutive and Protein Kinase A-stimulated Lipolysis. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 51535-51542.

Zhang, J.-W., Klemm, D.J., Vinson, C., and Lane, M.D. (2004). Role of CREB in Transcriptional Regulation of CCAAT/Enhancer-binding Protein {beta} Gene during Adipogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 4471-4478.

Zhang, X., Shu, L., Hosoi, H., Murti, K.G., and Houghton, P.J. (2002). Predominant Nuclear Localization of Mammalian Target of Rapamycin in Normal and Malignant Cells in Culture. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 28127-28134.

Zhang, Y., Gao, X., Saucedo, L.J., Ru, B., Edgar, B.A., and Pan, D. (2003b). Rheb is a direct target of the tuberous sclerosis tumour suppressor proteins. Nature cell biology 5, 578-581.

Zhou, Z., Yon Toh, S., Chen, Z., Guo, K., Peng Ng, C., Ponniah, S., Lin, S.-C., Hong, W., and Li, P. (2003). Cidea-deficient mice have lean phenotype and are resistant to obesity. Nat Genet 35, 49-56.

Zimmermann, R., Strauss, J.G., Haemmerle, G., Schoiswohl, G., Birner-Gruenberger, R., Riederer, M., Lass, A., Neuberger, G., Eisenhaber, F., Hermetter, A., and Zechner, R. (2004). Fat Mobilization in Adipose Tissue Is Promoted by Adipose Triglyceride Lipase. Science 306, 1383-1386.

PRAS40 and PRR5-Like Protein Are New mTOR Interactors that Regulate Apoptosis

For several months during my Ph.D. research period I was involved in a side project with my colleague Kathrin Thedieck. This project included the discovery of two new mTOR interacting partners, and the characterization of their role in the mTOR signaling pathway.

The discovery of these new interactors was by Kathrin via purification of members of the mTORCs and analysis of the interactors by mass spectrometry. The biochemical characterization was performed together by Kathrin and me. In addition, we collaborated with Man-Lyang Kim from the lab of Cécile Arrieumerlou, who prepared the siRNA and did the apoptosis analysis.

The results of this project have been published in the journal PLoS one (Thedieck et al., 2007). Since this project was not directly related to my main research theme of mTORC1 in adipose tissue, I only attach a copy of the manuscript to this thesis, without putting it into a broader context.



PRAS40 and PRR5-Like Protein Are New mTOR Interactors that Regulate Apoptosis

Kathrin Thedieck⁹, Pazit Polak⁹, Man Lyang Kim, Klaus D. Molle, Adiel Cohen, Paul Jenö, Cécile Arrieumerlou, Michael N. Hall*

Biozentrum, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

TOR (Target of Rapamycin) is a highly conserved protein kinase and a central controller of cell growth. TOR is found in two functionally and structurally distinct multiprotein complexes termed TOR complex 1 (TORC1) and TOR complex 2 (TORC2). In the present study, we developed a two-dimensional liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (2D LC-MS/MS) based proteomic strategy to identify new mammalian TOR (mTOR) binding proteins. We report the identification of Proline-rich Akt substrate (PRAS40) and the hypothetical protein Q6MZQ0/FLJ14213/CAE45978 as new mTOR binding proteins. PRAS40 binds mTORC1 via Raptor, and is an mTOR phosphorylation substrate. PRAS40 inhibits mTORC1 autophosphorylation and mTORC1 kinase activity toward eIF-4E binding protein (4E-BP) and PRAS40 itself. HeLa cells in which PRAS40 was knocked down were protected against induction of apoptosis by TNFa and cycloheximide. Rapamycin failed to mimic the pro-apoptotic effect of PRAS40, suggesting that PRAS40 mediates apoptosis independently of its inhibitory effect on mTORC1. Q6MZQ0 is structurally similar to proline rich protein 5 (PRR5) and was therefore named PRR5-Like (PRR5L). PRR5L binds specifically to mTORC2, via Rictor and/or SIN1. Unlike other mTORC2 members, PRR5L is not required for mTORC2 integrity or kinase activity, but dissociates from mTORC2 upon knock down of tuberous sclerosis complex 1 (TSC1) and TSC2. Hyperactivation of mTOR by TSC1/2 knock down enhanced apoptosis whereas PRR5L knock down reduced apoptosis. PRR5L knock down reduced apoptosis also in mTORC2 deficient cells. The above suggests that mTORC2-dissociated PRR5L may promote apoptosis when mTOR is hyperactive. Thus, PRAS40 and PRR5L are novel mTOR-associated proteins that control the balance between cell growth and cell death.

Citation: Thedieck K, Polak P, Kim ML, Molle KD, Cohen A, et al (2007) PRAS40 and PRR5-Like Protein Are New mTOR Interactors that Regulate Apoptosis. PLoS ONE 2(11): e1217. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001217

INTRODUCTION

TOR (Target of Rapamycin) kinase is a highly conserved, central controller of cell growth [1-3]. The fundamental importance of TOR is underscored by genetic studies showing TOR to be essential for cell growth and development; disruption of the TOR gene is lethal in all examined species [4-12]. In humans, dysfunctional mTOR signaling plays an important role in many if not most cancers, as well as in diseases such as tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC, #191100 OMIM) and lymphangiomyelomatosis (LAM. #606690 OMIM). TOR is found, from yeast to human, in two functionally and structurally distinct multiprotein complexes termed TOR complex 1 (TORC1) and TORC2 [13-15]. The rapamycin-sensitive mammalian TOR complex 1 (mTORC1) consists of mTOR, mLST8 and Raptor [13,16,17]. mTORC2 contains Rictor and SIN1 instead of Raptor, and is rapamycininsensitive [14,15,18-20]. Knock out of Raptor, SIN1 or Rictor in mice is embryonic lethal, indicating that both mTORC1 and mTORC2 are essential [19-22].

mTORC1 is activated by nutrients (amino acids), anabolic growth factors (e.g., insulin and insulin-like growth factor), and cellular energy (ATP) [1–3]. The growth factor signal and energy status are transmitted to mTORC1 via the essential tumor suppressor tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) proteins TSC1 and TSC2 [23,24]. The TSC heterodimer (TSC1-TSC2) is a GTPase activating protein (GAP) that inhibits the essential small GTPase Rheb [25,26]. Rheb-GTP binds and activates mTORC1 [27]. Akt (also known as PKB) phosphorylates and inactivates TSC2 in response to growth factors [28], whereas AMPK phosphorylates and activates TSC2 in response to low energy (high AMP) [29,30]. Nutrients impinge on mTORC1 at the level of Rheb or mTORC1 by a poorly understood mechanism involving the type III PI3K hVps34 [27,31]. The upstream regulators of the more recently identified mTORC2 are not known, but mTORC2 appears to respond at least to growth factors, possibly via TSC1-TSC2 [32]. mTORC1 and mTORC2 separately control many cellular processes that collectively determine cell growth and development. mTORC1 controls transcription, protein synthesis, ribosome biogenesis, nutrient transport, and autophagy, among other processes. mTORC1 controls protein synthesis via phosphorylation of S6 kinase (S6K) and eIF-4E binding protein (4E-BP), two key regulators of translation initiation [3,33,34]. mTORC2 controls organization of the actin cytoskeleton via small Rho-type GTPases and Protein Kinase C [14,15,35], and thereby determines the shape and possibly motility of the cell. In addition, mTORC2 phosphorylates Ser473 in the hydrophobic motif of Akt and thereby activates Akt toward substrates such as the Forkhead transcription factor FOXO and the apoptosis regulator BAD [19–21,36].

Academic Editor: Mark Cookson, National Institutes of Health, United States of America

Received May 23, 2007; Accepted November 3, 2007; Published November 21, 2007

Copyright: © 2007 Thedieck et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: We acknowledge support from the Peter und Traudl Engelhorn Stiftung zur Förderung der Biotechnologie und Gentechnik (KT), the Roche Research Foundation (PP), and the Swiss National Science Foundation and the Canton of Basel (MNH). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

* To whom correspondence should be addressed. E-mail: m.hall@unibas.ch

• These authors contributed equally to this work.

DLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

1

Although upstream regulators of mTOR, at least for mTORC1, are relatively well characterized, astonishingly few direct substrates and downstream effectors of the mTORCs are known. This is particularly true for mTORC2 which was discovered only recently and, due to its rapamycin insensitivity, is not pharmacologically addressable. To identify additional regulators, substrates, and/or components of the mTORCs, we developed a highly sensitive mass spectrometry-based screen. Here we report the identification of two novel mTOR binding proteins, PRAS40 (Q96B36 Swiss-Prot) and PRR5L (Q6MZQ0 Swiss-Prot), which bind specifically to mTORC1 and mTORC2, respectively. We further characterize the roles of these two proteins in mTOR complex formation and function.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

PRAS40 and PRR5L bind specifically to mTORC1 and mTORC2

To identify new mTOR binding proteins, we used a 'gel-less' mass spectrometry-based method to screen for mTOR associated proteins. mTOR complexes, first purified by large scale immunoprecipitations (IPs) with antibody directed against mTOR, were digested with trypsin and after detergent removal subjected directly to two-dimensional liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (2D LC-MS/MS). Within a single 2D LC-MS/MS run up to 270 different proteins were identified. To identify specific mTOR interactors, we compared mTOR and mock IPs, and chose those proteins that were present only in the mTOR IPs. Furthermore, to qualify as a specific interactor, a protein had to be identified in at least three out of four independent mTOR IP experiments. We reproducibly identified all known members of the mTOR complexes (Table 1). The sequence coverage for mTOR, Rictor, mLST8 and Raptor was about 20%, while sequence coverage for SIN1 was 13.8%. The above experiment was repeated with antibodies specific for Rictor or Raptor and, as expected, mTOR and mLST8 were found in both the Rictor and Raptor IPs, whereas SIN1 was found only in the Rictor IP.

In addition to the known mTORC partners, we also identified novel mTOR interacting proteins. The proline-rich Akt substrate PRAS40 (10.6% sequence coverage) was found in mTOR and Raptor IPs but not in Rictor IPs (Table 1). These interactions were confirmed by co-IP experiments with HeLa and HEK293 cells (Figure 1). PRAS40 is therefore a specific mTORC1 binding

PRAS40 and PRR5L Bind mTOR

partner (Figure 1A). PRAS40 was originally discovered as an Akt substrate of unknown function [37]. During the preparation of this manuscript, two studies appeared suggesting that PRAS40 is an mTORC1 inhibitor [38,39]. In addition to PRAS40, we identified the hypothetical protein Q6MZQ0/FLJ14213/CAE45978 as a specific mTORC2 interactor (Table 1). Q6MZQ0 was cloned with an N-terminal GST tag and its interaction with mTORC2 was confirmed by co-IP and GST pull downs from HeLa and HEK293 cells (Figure 1B). Since Q6MZQ0 displays 39% sequence similarity with the proline rich protein PRR5, we named it PRR5-Like protein (PRR5L). PRR5L is an uncharacterized protein. The related protein PRR5, however, is highly expressed in kidney and has been suggested to be a tumor suppressor since it is down regulated in a subset of breast tumors [40].

Earlier studies on the mTORCs failed to detect PRAS40 and PRR5L possibly because both have an apparent molecular weight of approximately 40 kDa as measured by SDS-PAGE. Former searches for mTOR binding proteins relied on IPs followed by SDS-PAGE analysis. The co-migrating heavy chain of the IP antibody used in these earlier experiments might have masked PRAS40 and PRR5L. Our 2D LC-MS/MS approach also identified Transferrin Receptor 1 (P02786 Swiss-Prot), NICE-4 (Q14157 Swiss-Prot), Plectin 1 (Q6S383 Swiss-Prot), and Thymopoietin (P42166 Swiss-Prot) as potential mTOR binding proteins, but direct co-IP experiments indicated that these were non-specific binding proteins (data not shown).

PRAS40 binds mTORC1 via Raptor

Following rapamycin treatment, PRAS40 dissociated from mTOR (Figure 1A). However, released PRAS40 remained bound to Raptor which, as reported previously [41], is also released from mTOR upon rapamycin treatment. Furthermore, PRAS40 binding to mTOR was strongly reduced when Raptor was knocked down (Figure 2A). These findings indicate that PRAS40 binds mTORC1 via Raptor. We also observed that PRAS40 associated less well with a kinase dead version of mTOR (Figure 2B), suggesting that mTORC1-mediated phosphorylation of PRAS40 (see below) may affect the PRAS40- mTORC1 interaction. Our findings are in agreement with recent PRAS40 studies showing that PRAS40 binds preferentially to Raptor [38], and that the mTOR kinase domain is also involved in PRAS40 binding [39].

Table 1. mTORC1 and mTORC2 associated proteins identified by 2D-LC-MS/MS

Protein	# Identifications (out of 4 independent IPs)	Sequence Coverage	Identified in IP of			Predicted MW (Da)	Length (aa)
			mTOR	Rictor	Raptor		
mTOR	4	26.2%	x	x	x	288892	2549
Rictor	4	21%	х	x		192217	1708
Raptor	4	18.2%	×		x	149038	1335
SIN1	4	13.8%	×	x		59123	522
PRR5L	3	5.2%	x	x		40866	368
mLST8	4	21.5%	×	×	×	35902	326
PRAS40	3	10.6%	×		x	27383	256

mTOR complexes were purified by immunoprecipitation (IP) with antibody directed against mTOR, Rictor or Raptor. Immunoprecipitates were analyzed by 2D LC-M5/ MS. Proteins that were found in at least three out of four mTOR IPs, but not in mock IPs, were considered specific. IPs with antibodies directed against Rictor or Raptor indicated whether a candidate was specific for mTORC1 or mTORC2, respectively. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001217.t001

DLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

2



Figure 1. Confirmation of PRAS40 and PRRSL binding to mTOR. A. PRAS40 is associated specifically with mTORC1. mTOR, Rictor, Raptor and mock Is were performed with HeLa and HEK293 extracts and analyzed by immunoblotting. PRAS40 was found specifically in mTOR and Raptor IPs. 1 h rapamycin treatment of cells dissociated a Raptor-PRAS40 subcomplex from mTOR. **B. PRR5L is associated specifically with mTOR22.** HeLa or cells were transfected with GST-PRR5L or the empty plasmid. mTOR, Rictor, Raptor and mock IPs and GST pull downs were analyzed by immunoblotting. GST-PRR5L is detected specifically in mTOR and Rictor IPs. mTOR, Rictor and SIN1, but not Raptor, are detected specifically in GST-PRR5L pull downs.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001217.0001

PRAS40 is a substrate and an inhibitor of mTORC1 in vitro

The above results suggested that PRAS40 is phosphorylated by mTORC1. To investigate if PRAS40 is an mTORC1 substrate, we performed in vitro kinase assays with mTORC1 or mTORC2 and purified PRAS40. PRAS40 was phosphorylated weakly by both mTORC1 and mTORC2. Importantly, we also found that PRAS40 inhibited mTORC1 autophosphorylation but not mTORC2 autophosphorylation (Figure 3A), suggesting that the weak phosphorylation of PRAS40 by mTORC1 might be due to PRAS40-mediated inhibition of mTORC1. To investigate whether PRAS40 inhibits mTORC1 kinase activity, we performed in vitro kinase assays with the known mTORC1 substrate 4E-BP and increasing concentrations of purified PRAS40. PRAS40 inhibited both mTORC1 autophosphorylation and mTORC1 phosphorylation of 4E-BP, in a concentration dependent manner (Figure 3B). In addition, PRAS40 phosphorylation inversely correlated with the concentration of PRAS40 in the kinase reaction, suggesting that PRAS40 is indeed both a substrate and an inhibitor of mTORC1 kinase activity. Our finding that PRAS40 inhibits mTORC1 kinase activity toward 4E-BP and PRAS40 is in agreement with the observation of Sancak et al. [38] and Vander Haar et al. [39] that PRAS40 inhibits mTORC1 toward S6K1. Hence, we conclude that PRAS40 is a broad mTORC1 inhibitor that inhibits mTORC1 kinase activity toward itself, 4E-BP, S6K1, and PRAS40. It remains to be determined whether mTORC1-mediated phosphorylation of PRAS40 plays a role in PRAS40's ability to bind and inhibit mTORC1.

Interestingly, we found that phosphorylation of the Akt consensus site T246 in PRAS40 is moderately reduced in Rictor knock down cells (data not shown). This suggests that mTORC2 may activate Akt toward PRAS40. This in turn suggests that mTORC2, via PRAS40,

💮 PLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

3

November 2007 | Issue 11 | e1217

may be upstream of mTORC1. If mTORC2 is indeed upstream of

mTORC1, it might be only under specific conditions or only with

regard to particular mTORC1 substrates (other than S6K1), as we

and others failed to detect an effect of mTORC2 disruption on S6K1

phosphorylation [14,15]. The potential regulation of mTORC1 by

PRAS40 deficiency prevents induction of apoptosis

Constitutively active mTOR reduces apoptosis [42] whereas

inhibition of mTORC1 with rapamycin induces or facilitates

apoptosis in several cell lines [43-48]. We therefore reasoned that

the mTORC1 inhibitor PRAS40 might promote apoptosis and

that PRAS40 knock down would thus protect cells against the

induction of apoptosis. To investigate this possibility, we examined

the effect of PRAS40 knock down on the sensitivity of HeLa cells

to apoptosis induction by $TNF\alpha$ in combination with cyclohex-

imide. To monitor apoptosis, treated cells were processed for

visualization of DNA and cleaved PARP. We found that apoptosis

was reduced in PRAS40 knock down cells (Figure 4A), suggesting

that PRAS40 is indeed pro-apoptotic. To analyze if PRAS40

promotes apoptosis via its inhibitory effect on mTORC1, we

investigated if rapamycin suppressed the effect of a PRAS40

deficiency on TNFa/cycloheximide induced apoptosis in HeLa

cells. Rapamycin failed to prevent the reduction in apoptosis

caused by PRAS40 knock down (Figure 4B). In addition,

rapamycin treatment did not affect apoptosis induction by

TNFa/cycloheximide in control cells (Figure 4B), even after 6h

of rapamycin treatment (data not shown). The finding that

rapamycin failed to mimic the pro-apoptotic effect of PRAS40,

suggests that PRAS40 mediates apoptosis independently of its

mTORC2 requires further investigation.

by TNF α and cycloheximide



Figure 2. PRAS40 interacts with mTORC1. A. PRAS40 binds mTOR via Raptor. HEK293 cells were transfected with Raptor or control siRNA vectors and incubated for 4 days, followed by mTOR IP and immunoblotting. mTOR IPs and cell extracts were probed with antibodies directed against the indicated proteins. Since knock down of Raptor reduced the cellular amount of PRAS40, the PRAS40 signal in the IPs was quantified relative to PRAS40 levels in the corresponding extract. Quantitations were averaged over three independent experiments. Raptor knock down reduced the amount of PRAS40 signal in with a plasmid expressing wild type (WT) HA-mTOR or kinase domain is involved in PRAS40 binding. HEK293 cells were transfected with a plasmid expressing wild type (WT) HA-mTOR or kinase dead (KD) HA-mTOR or an empty control plasmid, and incubated for 48 h followed by extract preparation and IP with an anti-HA antibody. PRAS40 levels in the extracts remained unaltered. PRAS40 association with mTORC1 containing HA-mTOR WT. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001217.g002

inhibitory effect on mTORC1. However, PRAS40 T246 phosphorylation (PRAS40-pT246) appears to protect neuronal cells from apoptosis after stroke [49]. PRAS40-pT246 has also been proposed to promote cell survival in cancer cells [50]. The fact that T246 is the site via which Akt negatively regulates PRAS40's ability to inhibit mTORC1 [38] suggests that PRAS40 may indeed be pro-apoptotic via its ability to inhibit mTORC1. To explain the apparent discrepancy with our inability to induce apoptosis with rapamycin, PRAS40 may have to inhibit both mTORC1 and a second, unknown rapamycin insensitive target (or only this second target) to perform its pro-apoptotic function. mTORC1 may be the more important target in those cell lines where rapamycin induces or facilitates apoptosis [43–48].

DLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

4

PRR5L binds mTORC2 via Rictor/SIN1

Since we initially identified endogenous PRR5L as an mTORC2 binding protein in HeLa cells, we verified PRR5L expression in HEK293 cells by RT-PCR (Figure 5A). PRR5L is strongly expressed in both HeLa and HEK293 cells. Subsequent experiments were performed with HEK293 cells due to the higher transfection efficiency with these cells. To investigate whether PRR5L binds directly to mTOR or via other mTORC2 members, we examined PRR5L binding to mTOR in SIN1 knock down cells. As reported previously [18,19], we observed a reduction in the amount of Rictor when SIN1 was knocked down (Figure 5B), supporting the earlier suggestion that these two proteins stabilize each other. We found that the amount of mTOR in GST-PRR5L pull downs from the SIN1/Rictor deficient cells was substantially reduced compared to control cells (Figure 5B). This suggests that PRR5L binds to mTOR via Rictor and/or SIN1. To investigate whether PRR5L is required for mTORC2 integrity, we examined the binding of mTOR and SIN1 to Rictor in cells knocked down for PRR5L (Figure 5C). The amount of mTOR and SIN1 bound to Rictor, as measured by co-IP, remained unchanged in PRR5L knock down cells. We then investigated if PRR5L is required for mTORC2 kinase activity. Phosphorylation of Akt S473 and Paxillin Y118 is reduced upon mTORC2 disruption [14,15]. However, in PRR5L deficient cells the levels of Akt-pS473 and Paxillin-pY118 remained unchanged (Figure 5D). The findings that PRRL5 is not required for mTORC2 integrity or for phosphorylation of known mTORC2 targets suggest that PRR5L is not an mTORC2 upstream regulator or an integral component of mTORC2.

PRR5L is phosphorylated by mTOR in vitro

To determine whether PRR5L is a phosphorylation substrate for mTOR, we performed *in vitro* kinase assays with mTORC1 or mTORC2 and purified PRR5L. We found that PRR5L is phosphorylated by both mTORC1 and mTORC2, the former but not the latter phosphorylation being sensitive to rapamycin treatment (Figure 3A). Hence, PRR5L might be regulated through mTOR phosphorylation. PRR5L addition did not affect mTORC1 or mTORC2 autophosphorylation (Figure 3A), suggesting that PRR5L does not function as an mTORC2 inhibitor like PRAS40 for mTORC1. The significance of the phosphorylation of PRR5L by mTOR, in particular by mTORC1, remains to be determined. The above results taken together suggest that PRR5L is a downstream effector of mTORC2.

PRR5L dissociates from mTORC2 in TSC1/2 deficient cells

To investigate whether TSC1-TSC2 influences PRR5L binding to mTORC2, we examined GST-PRR5L pull downs from TSC1/2 deficient cells. TSC1/2 deficient cells exhibited reduced amounts of Rictor and mTOR bound to GST-PRR5L (Figure 6A). The above finding suggests that PRR5L dissociates from mTORC2 in cells with hyperactive mTOR signaling. It remains to be determined whether the effect of TSC1/2 knock down on PRR5L binding is via mTORC1 or mTORC2. TSC1/2 knock down hyperactivates mTORC1 [1–3] and possibly also mTORC2 (K.D.M and M.N.H., unpublished).

PRR5L promotes apoptosis

Hyperactive mTOR signaling, in TSC knock out MEFs, enhances induction of apoptosis by FCS starvation or TNFa/cycloheximide [51,52]. In agreement, we found that TSC1/2 knock down in human cells, in which PRR5L dissociates from mTORC2, also



Figure 3. mTOR phosphorylates PRAS40 and PRRSL, and PRAS40 inhibits mTOR kinase activity. A. mTOR phosphorylates PRAS40 and PRRSL. Kinase assays were performed using mTORC1 or mTORC2 immunopurified from HEK293 cells, and purified PRAS40, GST-PRRSL (PRRSL) or 4E-BP as substrates. Rapamycin (100 nM) and purified FKBP12 were added directly to the reaction. Both PRRSL and PRAS40 are phosphorylated *in vitro* by both mTORCs. Phosphorylation by mTORC1 was rapamycin-sensitive. **B. PRAS40** inhibits mTORC1 kinase activity toward 4E-BP and PRAS40 itself. Kinase assays were performed using mTORC1 immunopurified from HEK293 cells, purified 4E-BP as a substrate, and increasing concentrations of PRAS40. PRAS40 inhibits mTORC1 autophosphorylation and mTORC1 phosphorylation of 4E-BP and PRAS40, in a concentration-dependent manner. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001217.g003

enhances TNF α /cycloheximide induced apoptosis (Figure 6B). To investigate whether PRR5L plays a role in apoptosis, we examined if PRR5L knock down affects TNFa/cycloheximide induced apoptosis. PRR5L knock down cells were less apoptotic compared to control cells, at various time points after ${\rm TNF}\alpha/{\rm cycloheximide}$ treatment, suggesting that $\ensuremath{\mathsf{PRR5L}}$ is pro-apoptotic (Figure 4A and S1). The finding that $\ensuremath{\mathsf{PRR5L}}$ is pro-apoptotic is consistent with the suggested role of the related protein PRR5 as tumor suppressor [40]. Furthermore, the observation that PRR5L is pro-apoptotic and is released from mTORC2 in cells with enhanced apoptosis (TSC1/2 deficient cells) suggests that released PRR5L may promote apoptosis. This in turn suggests that PRR5L is downstream of mTORC2 in mediating apoptosis. To test this possibility, we investigated whether a PRR5L deficiency still reduces apoptosis in cells knocked down for TORC2. We found that cells knocked down for both PRR5L and the mTORC2 component SIN1 were similar to cells knocked down only for PRR5L, with regard to induction of apoptosis by $\text{TNF}\alpha/$ cycloheximide (Figure 4C). This observation is consistent with a model in which PRR5L acts downstream of mTORC2. In particular, in response to hyperactive mTOR signaling, PRR5L may dissociate from mTORC2 to promote apoptosis. However, our data do not rule out the possibility that PRR5L controls apoptosis independently of mTORC2. It is important to note that mTORC2 also promotes cell survival via a mechanism other than tethering PRR5L. mTORC2 phosphorylates and activates Akt which then phosphorylates and inactivates the pro-apoptotic factors BAD and FOXO1/3a [19,20,36]. The above taken together suggests that either too much or too little mTOR signaling predisposes a cell to apoptosis. There seems to be a delicate balance between cell growth and cell death that may be mediated at least in part by PRR5L.

In summary, we describe two new mTOR interactors, PRAS40 and PRR5L. PRAS40 binds specifically to mTORC1 whereas PRR5L is mTORC2 specific. PRAS40 binding to mTORC1 is primarily via Raptor but also requires mTOR kinase activity. mTORC1 phosphorylates PRAS40 and this phosphorylation may contribute to the mTORC1-PRAS40 interaction. Furthermore, PRAS40 inhibits mTORC1 autophosphorylation and mTORC1 kinase activity toward its substrates 4E-BP and PRAS40. This observation extends two recent studies showing that PRAS40 inhibits mTORC1 toward its substrate S6K [38,39]. Thus, PRAS40 is an upstream negative regulator of mTORC1. We also show that PRAS40 is pro-apoptotic, but this may be an mTORC1 independent function of PRAS40. PRR5L, the new mTORC2-specific interactor, binds mTOR via SIN1 and/or Rictor. Unlike Rictor and SIN1, PRR5L is not required for mTORC2 integrity or mTORC2 kinase activity toward its downstream readouts Akt and Paxillin. Furthermore, we observed that PRR5L binding to mTORC2 is reduced in TSC1/2 deficient cells. We conclude that PRR5L dissociates from mTORC2 in cells with hyperactive mTOR signaling. We show that a TSC1/2 deficiency enhances TNFa/cycloheximide induced apoptosis. Conversely, knock down of PRR5L prevents apoptosis, even in mTORC2 deficient cells. We suggest that PRR5L is downstream of mTORC2 and is pro-apoptotic. It will be of interest to determine whether PRR5L is a tumor suppressor as suggested for the related protein PRR5 [40].

DLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

5

PRAS40 and PRR5L Bind mTOR



Figure 4. PRAS40 and PRR5L are pro-apoptotic. A. PRR5L and PRAS40 knock down cells are resistant to TNF*a*/cycloheximide induced apoptosis. HeLa cells were transfected with PRR5L, PRA540 or control siRNA and incubated for 48 h, followed by 2 h induction of apoptosis with TNF*x* and cycloheximide. Cells were fixed and stained with DAPI and cleaved PARP antibody, and the percentage of apoptotic cells was quantified. **B. PRAS40's effect on apoptosis is independent of mTORC1.** HeLa cells were transfected with PRA540 or control siRNA and incubated for 48 h, and treated with 100 nM rapamycin or carrier for 1 h before incubation with TNF*x* and cycloheximide for 2 h to induce apoptosis. Extracts were analyzed by immunoblotting with the indicated antibodies. **C. PRSL deficiency protects against apoptosis in SIN1 deficient cells.** HeLa cells were transfected with diced PRSL siRNA and incubated for 48 h, and treated with diced PRSL siRNA and/or synthetic siRNA against SIN1 as indicated, or the appropriate control siRNAs. Cells were incubated for 48 h, and apoptosis was induced with TNF*x* and cycloheximide for 2 h. Cells were fixed and stained with DAPI and cleaved PARP antibody, and the percentage of apoptotic cells was quantified. The efficiency of SIN1 knock down was assessed in parallel by immunoblotting (right panel). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001217.g004

DLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

6

PRAS40 and PRR5L Bind mTOR

TSCsi293 Contro



Figure 5, PRR51, binds to mTORC2 via SIN1 and/or Rictor but does not affect mTORC2 integrity or kinase activity. A. PRRSL expression in HeLa and HEK293 cells, and PRRSL knock down efficiency. Top panel: Total RNA was purified from HeLa or HEK293 cells, followed by reverse transcription and PCR with primers corresponding to PRR5L. As a negative control, reverse transcription without the transcriptase enzyme was performed. Endogenous PRR5L is expressed in both cell lines. Bottom panel: HEK293 cells were cotransfected with a GST-PRR5L vector and PRR5L siRNA or control siRNA, and incubated for 48 h. Immunoblots were performed on with antibody against GST or Actin. B. PRR5L binds mTOR via SIN1 and/or Rictor. HEK293 cells were cotransfected with a GST-PRR5L vector and a SIN1 siRNA vector or a control siRNA vectors, and incubated for 4 days. GST pull downs were immunoblotted with the indicated antibodies. GST-PRR5L was detected with an anti-GST antibody. mTOR binding to GST-PRR5L is weaker in the absence of SIN1 and Rictor. C. mTORC2 remains intact in PRR5L knock down cells. HEK293 cells were transfected with PRR5L siRNA or control siRNA and incubated for 48 h. Rictor IPs were immunoblotted with the indicated antibodies. D. mTORC2 readouts are unaltered in PRR5L knock down cells. HEK293 cells were transfected with PRR5L siRNA or control siRNA and incubated for 48 h. Immunoblots were performed on protein extracts with the indicated antibodies. The phosphorylation of Akt S473 and paxillin Y118 is unaltered by PRR5L knock down. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001217.g005

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Screen for mTOR binding proteins and mass spectrometry

mTOR binding proteins were purified essentially as reported [14]. For each IP experiment, 6 10 cm dishes of HeLa cells at 70% confluence were used. IPs were performed with 6 μ g of mTOR (Santa Cruz), Rictor or Raptor (Bethyl), or control goat (Santa Cruz) or rabbit (Bethyl) antibodies. Antibodies were bound to 300 μ L magnetic Protein G coupled Dynabeads (Invitrogen). Digestion was

DLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

7

November 2007 | Issue 11 | e1217

PARF mTOR TSCI TSC2 TSC2 TSCI Actin Actin Figure 6. Analysis of TSC1/2 knock down cells. A. PRR5L is released from mTORC2 in TSC1/2 deficient cells. TSC knock down was induced in TSCsi293 cells by tetracycline treatment for 4 days. Cells were cotransfected with GST-PRR5L vector and incubated for 2 days. followed by GST pull downs and immunoblots with the indicated antibodies. GST-PRR5L was detected with an anti-GST antibody. B. TSC1/2 knock down facilitates apoptosis. TSCsi293 and T-REx-293 (control) cells were treated with tetracycline for 4 days. Apoptosis was induced by 1.5 h treatment with TNFa and cycloheximide. Extracts were probed with the indicated antibodies.

B)

TSC1/2 siRNA

tetracycline

Cleaved PARP

performed on the beads [53] with 1 μg of Trypsin (Promega). After

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001217.g006

drying, detergents were removed by hydrophilic interaction chromatography on PolyHYDROXYETHYL TopTips (PolyLC Inc.) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Ammonium acetate remainders were removed by repeated drying of the samples.

LC-MS/MS

A)

TSC1/2 siRNA

ntrol siRNA

GST-PRR5L

Rictor

GST

Extract

The peptides were analyzed by two-dimensional capillary liquid chromatography and tandem MS using a PolySULFOETHYL A ion-exchange column (0.15×50 mm, PolyLC, Columbia, MD), connected in series to a C18 trap column (Zorbax 300SB, 0.3×50 mm, Agilent Technologies, Basel, Switzerland), and to a Magic C18 separation column (0.1×100 mm, Thermo Scientific, Basel, Switzerland). The peptides were injected first onto the cation exchange column. Unadsorbed peptides were trapped on the Zorbax column and eluted onto the separation column with a linear 75 min gradient from 2 to 75% B (0.1% acetic acid in 80% acetonitrile) in solvent A (0.1% acetic acid in 2% acetonitrile). Next, peptides that had been retained by the ion-exchange column were sequentially eluted and trapped on the C18 trap column with 10 mL pulses of 50, 100, 150, 200, 250, 300, 350, 400, and 500 mM ammonium acetate, pH 3.3. Peptides eluted by each individual salt pulse were separated by the acetonitrile gradient as described above. The flow was delivered with a Rheos 2200 HPLC system (Thermo Scientific, Basel, Switzerland) at 50 mL/min. A precolumn splitter reduced the flow to approximately 500 nl/min. The eluting peptides were ionized by a Finnigan nanospray ionization source (Thermo Scientific, Basel, Switzerland). The LTQ orbitrap instrument was operated in the data-dependent mode. A survey scan was performed in the Orbitrap between m/z 400-1600 Da at 60,000 resolution. The three most abundant ions detected were fragmented in the LTO mass spectrometer and mass analyzed in the Orbitrap at a resolution of 7,500. Singly charged ions were not subjected to fragmentation. The normalized collision energy was set to 35%. Individual MS/MS spectra were searched against the NCBI non-redundant databank using the TurboSequest software [54]. The Sequest filter parameters were as follows: Xcorr versus charge state was 1.50 for singly, 2.00 for doubly, and 2.50 for triply charged ions, respectively; the $\varDelta\mathrm{CN}$ was 0.1, and the protein probability was set to 0.01.

Plasmids and reagents

Rictor, Raptor and SIN1 siRNA constructs were previously described [14,20]. An empty pSuper-GFP-neo construct was used as a control. HA-mTOR and kinase dead HA-mTOR constructs were a kind gift from Dr. G. Thomas and were described previously [29], the control empty vector was created by cutting out the mTOR fragment using NotI and PstI.

The coding region of PRR5L was cloned from human cDNA made from HeLa cells, using the following primers: 5' ATG ACC CGC GGC TTC G 3' (forward, contained also restriction sites for either BamHI or Spel), and 5' T CAG CTG AGG GAA GCA CAG 3' (reverse, contained also a NotI restriction site). The PCR product was digested either with BamHI and NotI or with Spel and NotI, and cloned into pGEX-6P-1 or pEBG, respectively. Recombinant GST-PRR5L was expressed from pGEX-6P-1 and purified from *E. coli*.

The generation of the inducible TSC knock down cell line TSCsi293 from an HEK293 cell line (T-REx-293, Invitrogen), that expresses the tetracycline repressor protein TetR, and its handling were as described (K. D. M. and M. N. H., submitted). Cycloheximide was dissolved in water and used at a final concentration of 2.5 μ g/mL (Calbiochem), rapamycin was dissolved in DMSO and used at a final concentration of 100 nM (LC laboratories), TNFz was dissolved in PBS containing 0.1% BSA, and used at a final concentration of 10 ng/mL (R&D systems). Purified PRAS40 was from Biosource, purified 4E-BP was from Stratagene.

RNA interference

siRNAs against PRAS40 and PRR5L and control siRNA against Luciferase were generated as described [55] using the following reagents: 5× Megascript T7 Kit (Ambion); Turbo Dicer siRNA Generation Kit (Genlantis); RNA Purification System (Invitrogen). Primers for PRAS40 were as follows: gene specific primers: forward: ttgcctccacgacatcgcac, reverse: tatttccgcttcagcttctgg, T7 primers: forward: gcgtaatacgactcactataggccacagggctgccactg, reverse: gcgtaatacgactcactataggaagtcgctggtgttaagcc. Primers for PRR5L were as follows: gene specific primers: forward: tcgtccattgtccagatgttg, reverse: agctgagggaagcacagttc, T7 primers: forward: gcgtaatacgactcactataggctcatcctgcagagtgttc, reverse: gcgtaatacgactcactataggagctccgagccctcctg. For SIN1 knock down, synthetic pool siRNA or the appropriate control pool siRNA (Dharmacon) were used as described [19].

Cell culture and transfections

HEK293 and HeLa cells were maintained in DMEM containing 10% fetal bovine serum. Small RNAi was transfected with INTERFERin (Polyplus transfection). For combined transfection of small RNAi and DNA, jetSI-ENDO (Polyplus transfection) was used. DNA was transfected using either lipofectamin (Invitrogen) or jetPEI (Polyplus transfection). All transfections were done according to the manufacturers' instructions, for 48 h for expression or small RNAi, or for 4 days in the case of pSuperbased siRNA. Cells were harvested with lysis buffer that contained 40mM HEPES pH 7.5, 120 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.3% CHAPS, supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche). In the cases where phosphorylation was to be detected, the lysis buffer was also supplemented with10 mM NaF, 10 mM NaN3, 10 mM p-nitrophenylphosphate, 10 mM sodium pyrophosphate, and 10 mM beta-glycerophosphate. Lysates were incubated for 20 minutes on ice, then cleared by a spin at 600 g for 3 minutes. Supernatants were collected and used for immunoprecipitations, GST pull downs or immunoblots.

RT-PCR

RNA was purified using the RNAeasy mini kit (Qiagen), according to the manufacturer's instructions. One microgram of total RNA was reverse transcribed using Superscript II reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen) and random nonamers (Sigma). The reverse transcription reaction was used as a template for PCR, with the PRR5L primers described above.

Immunoblotting

Protein extracts were prepared as described [14], resolved on SDS-PAGE and transferred to PVDF membranes (Immobilon-P, Millipore). Immunoblots were performed using the following antibodies: Rictor, Raptor (Bethyl); mTOR (Santa Cruz); S6K, phospho-S6K, Akt, phospho-Akt (Thr308), phospho-K1 (Ser473), PARP, cleaved PARP (Cell signaling); PRAS40 (Biosource; PRAS40 antibodies were previously described [37]); SIN1 (kind gift from Dr. Bing Su, University of Yale, CT). GST-PRR5L was detected with a GST antibody (GE Healthcare), since no antibody for PRR5L was available.

Apoptosis assay

RNAi experiments were performed by transfecting HeLa cells for 48 hours in a 96-well format. 48 hours after siRNA transfection, apoptosis was induced for the indicated times as described [56]. Apoptosis, in response to TNFa and cycloheximide treatment, was quantified by a cleaved PARP (cPARP) immunofluorescence assay (Cell Signaling). The assay was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, after apoptosis induction, cells were fixed with pre-chilled 100% methanol for 5min and then washed with 0.1% Triton X-100 and PBS sequentially. Cells were then incubated with anti-cPARP antibody (1/200 dilution) overnight at 4°C, washed and incubated for 1 hour with a mixed solution containing Alexa 568 goat anti-Rabbit antibody (1/500 dilution) and Hoechst (Invitrogen, 1/1000 dilution). Images were automatically taken by an ImageXpress Micro (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, USA). Apoptosis was quantified by automated image processing. The multi-wavelength cell scoring application module of the analysis software MetaXpress was used to quantify, at the single cell level, the intensity of cPARP staining (200 was used as the intensity above background for cPARP images). More than 6000 cells per condition were analyzed. For analysis by immunoblotting cPARP levels were detected by human or mouse specific antibodies (Cell Signaling). mTORC1 was inhibited by preincubation with 100 nM rapamycin for 1 h, and apoptosis was subsequently induced by $TNF\alpha/$ cycloheximide for $1.5~\mathrm{h}$ in the presence of rapamycin.

Immunoprecipitation and GST pull down

Immunoprecipitations were performed as described [14]. Pull downs of GST-PRR5L were similar to immunoprecipitations, with glutathione-coupled beads (GE Healthcare).

Kinase assay

Kinase assays were performed as described [14].

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Figure S1 Time course for apoptosis induction. HeLa cells were transfected with PRR5L or control siRNA and incubated for 48 h, followed by apoptosis induction for the indicated time spans by TNFalpha and cycloheximide. Cells were fixed and stained with cleaved PARP antibody, and the percent of apoptotic cells was quantified.

Found at: doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001217.s001 (0.64 MB TIF)

DLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

8
ACKNOWI EDGMENTS

We thank Drs. Estela Jacinto and Bing Su for kindly providing the SIN1 antibody and knock down construct, Dr. Tom Sturgill for critical reading of the manuscript, and Andrea Löschmann for excellent technical assistance.

REFERENCES

- Wullschleger S, Loewith R, Hall MN (2006) TOR Signaling in Growth and Metabolism. Cell 124: 471–484.
 Corradetti MN, Guan KL (2006) Upstream of the mammalian target of rapamycin: do all roads pass through mTOR? Oncogene 25: 6347–6360.
 Hay N, Sonenberg N (2004) Upstream and downstream of mTOR. Genes Dev 10, 1006 1045.
- 18: 1926-1945.
- Menand B. Desnos T. Nussaume L. Berger F. Bouchez D. et al. (2002) Menand B, Desnos T, Nussaume L, Berger F, Bouchez D, et al. (2002) Expression and disruption of the Arabidopsis TOR (target of rapamycin) gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 6422–6427.
 Long X, Spycher C, Han ZS, Rose AM, Muller F, et al. (2002) TOR deficiency in C. elegans causes developmental arrest and intestinal atrophy by inhibition of mRNA translation. Curr Biol 12: 1448–1461.
 Oldham S, Montagne J, Radimerski T, Thomas G, Hafen E (2000) Genetic and biochemical characterization of dTOR, the Drosophila homolog of the target of rapamycin. Genes Dev 14: 2689–2694.
 Zhang H, Stallock JP, Ng JC, Reinhard C, Neufeld TP (2000) Regulation of cellular growth by the Drosophila target of rapamycin dTOR. Genes Dev 14: 2712–2724.
 Brown EI Albers MW. Shin TB, Ichikawa K, Keith CT, et al. (1994) A 4.

- 8. Brown EJ, Albers MW, Shin TB, Ichikawa K. Keith CT. et al. (1994) A mammalian protein targeted by G1-arresting rapamycin-receptor complex. Nature 369: 756–758.
- Chiu MI, Katz H, Berlin V (1994) RAPT1, a mammalian homolog of yeast Tor, 9. cts with the FKBP12/rapamycin complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91: 12574-12578
- Sabatini DM, Erdjument-Bromage H, Lui M, Tempst P, Snyder SH (1994) 10. RAFT1: a mammalian protein that binds to FKBP12 in a rapamycin-dependent
- Ken Tr. a mammana protein data biols of KDT2 in a rapanyun-dependent fashion and is homologous to yeast TORs. Cell 78: 35–43.Kunz J, Henriquez R, Schneider U, Deuter-Reinhard M, Movva NR, et al. (1993) Target of rapamycin in yeast, TOR2, is an essential phosphatidylinositol
- kinase homolog required for G1 progression. Cell 73: 585-596. Gangloff YG, Mueller M, Dann SG, Svoboda P, Sticker M, et al. (2004) Disruption of the mouse mTOR gene leads to early postimplantation lethality and prohibits embryonic stem cell development. Mol Cell Biol 24: 9508-9516. 12
- Loewith R, Jacinto E, Wullschleger S, Lorberg A, Crespo JL, et al. (2002) Two TOR complexes, only one of which is rapamycin sensitive, have distinct roles in cell growth control. Mol Cell 10: 457–468. 13.
- Jacinto E, Loewith R, Schmidt A, Lin S, Ruegg MA, et al. (2004) Mammalian 14. ToR complex 2 controls the actin cytoskeleton and is rapamycin insensitive. Nat Cell Biol 6: 1122–1128. Sarbassov DD, Ali SM, Kim DH, Guertin DA, Latek RR, et al. (2004) Rictor,
- barbasov D_2 , an ord ping partner of mTOR, defines a rapanycin independent pathway that regulates the cytoskeleton. Curr Biol 14: 1296–1302. Kim DH, Sarbasov DD, Ali SM, King JE, Latek RR, et al. (2002) mTOR interacts with raptor to form a nutrient-sensitive complex that signals to the cell
- growth machinery, Cell 110; 163-175, Hara K, Maruki Y, Long X, Yoshino K, Oshiro N, et al. (2002) Raptor, a binding partner of target of rapamycin (TOR), mediates TOR action. Cell 110: 177–189.
- 18. Frias MA, Thoreen CC, Iaffe ID, Schroder W, Scullev T, et al. (2006) mSin1 is eccessary for Akt/PKB phosphorylation, and its isoforms define three distinct nTORC2s. Curr Biol 16: 1865–1870.
- 19.
- mTORČ2s. Curr Biol 16: 1865–1870. Yang Q, Inoki K, Ikenoue T, Guan KL (2006) Identification of Sin1 as an essential TORC2 component required for complex formation and kinase activity. Genes Dev 20: 2820–2032. Jacinto E, Facchinetti V, Liu D, Soto N, Wei S, et al. (2006) SIN1/MIP1 maintains rictor-mTOR complex integrity and regulates Akt phosphorylation and substrate specificity. Cell 127: 125–137. Shiota C, Woo JT, Lindner J, Shelton KD, Magnuson MA (2006) Multialelici disruption of the rictor gene in mice reveals that mTOR complex 2 is essential for fetal growth and viability. Dev Cell 11: 583–589. Guertin DA Streyen DM Thoreen CC Burds AA Kalsany, NY, et al. (2006) 21
- 99
- Guerrin DA, Stevens DM, Thoreen CC, Burds AA, Kalaany NY, et al. (2006) Ablation in mice of the mTORC components raptor, rictor, or mLST3 reveals that mTORC2 is required for signaling to Akt-FOXO and PKCalpha, but not S6K1. Dev Cell 11: 859–871. Kwiatkowski DJ (2003) Tuberous sclerosis: from tubers to mTOR. Ann Hum 23.
- Genet 67: 87–96. Crino PB, Nathanson KL, Henske EP (2006) The tuberous sclerosis complex. 24.
- Mind 11, Med 335: 1345–1356. Zhang Y, Gao X, Saucedo IJ, Ru B, Edgar BA, et al. (2003) Rheb is a direct target of the tuberous sclerosis tumour suppressor proteins. Nat Cell Biol 5: 25.

DLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

578-581

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: MH KT PP. Performed the experiments: KT PP MK PJ. Analyzed the data: MH KT PP MK CA. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: KM AC CA. Wrote the paper: MH KT PP.

- Garami A, Zwartkruis FJ, Nobukuni T, Joaquin M, Roccio M, et al. (2003) Insulin activation of Rheb, a mediator of mTOR/S6K/4E-BP signaling, is inhibited by TSCI and 2. Mol Cell 11: 1457–1466.
 Avruch J, Hara K, Lin Y, Liu M, Long X, et al. (2006) Insulin and amino-acid regulation of mTOR signaling and kinase activity through the Rheb GTPase. Oncogene 25: 6361–6372.
 Shaw RJ, Cantley LC (2006) Ras, Pl(3)K and mTOR signalling controls tumour cell growth. Nature 441: 424–430.
 Dennis PB, Jaeschke A, Saitoh M, Fowler B, Kozma SC, et al. (2001) Mammalian TOR: a homeostatic ATP sensor. Science 294: 1102–1105.
 Inoki K, Zhu T, Guan KL (2003) TSC2 mediates cellular energy response to control cell growth and survival. Cell 115: 577–590.
 Nobukuni T, Joaquin M, Roccio M, Dann SG, Kim SY, et al. (2005) Amino acids mediate mTOR/raptor signaling through activation of class 3 phospha-

- Nobukum 1, Joaquin M, Koccio M, Dain SG, Kim SJ, et al. (2005) Amino acids mediate mTOR/rappor signaling through activation of class 3 phospha-tidylinositol 3OH-kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 14238–14243.
 Yang Q, Inoki K, Kim E, Guan KL (2006) TSC1/TSC2 and Rheb have different effects on TORC1 and TORC2 activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 6811–6816. 32.
- Burnett PE, Barrow RK, Cohen NA, Snyder SH, Sabatini DM (1998) RAFT1 33.
- phosphorylation of the translational regulators p70 86 kinase and 4F.P.P. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 1432–1437. Brunn GJ, Fadden P, Haystead TA, Lawrence JC Jr (1997) The mammalian target of rapamycin phosphorylates sites having a (Ser/Thr)-Pro motif and is
- target or rapamycin prospnorylates sites naving a (Ser/Thr)-Pro motil and is activated by antibodies to a region near its COOH terminus. J Biol Chem 272: 32547-32550
- 3/23/1-3/23/20. Schmidt A, Bickle M, Beck T, Hall MN (1997) The yeast phosphatidylinositol kinase homolog TOR2 activates RHO1 and RHO2 via the exchange factor ROM2. Cell 88: 531–542. 35. 36
- ACMUZ, Cett 88: 531–542.
 Sarbasov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM (2005) Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. Science 307:1098–1101.
 Kovacina KS, Park GY, Bae SS, Guzzetta AW, Schaefer E, et al. (2003) Identification of a proline-rich Akt substrate as a 14-3-3 binding partner. J Biol Chem 278:10189–10194. Sancak Y, Thoreen CC, Peterson TR, Lindquist RA, Kang SA, et al. (2007) 38
- Sandas Y, Horten GC, Fieldson FK, EndequerKer, Kang Os, et al. (2007) PRAS40 is an insulin-regulated inhibitor of the mTORCI protein hisase. Mol Cell 25: 903–915. Vander Haar E, Lee SI, Bandhakavi S, Griffin TJ, Kim DH (2007) Insulin signalling to mTOR mediated by the Akt/PKB substrate PRAS40. Nat Cell Biol
- 316-323
- 9: 316–323. Johnstone CN, Castellvi-Bel S, Chang LM, Sung RK, Bowser MJ, et al. (2005) PRR5 encodes a conserved proline-rich protein predominant in kidney: analysis of genomic organization, expression, and mutation status in breast and colorectal carcinomas. Genomics 85: 338–351. Sarbassov DD, Ali SM, Sengupta S, Sheen JH, Hau PP, et al. (2006) Prolonged rapamycin treatment inhibits mTORC2 assembly and Akt/PKB. Mol Cell 22: 159–168.
- 41
- Edinger AL, Thompson CB (2004) An activated mTOR mutant supports 42. growth tac 5654–5663. factor-independent, nutrient-dependent cell survival. Onco
- 43. Treeck O. Wackwitz B. Haus U. Ortmann O (2006) Effects of a combined Treece O, Wackwitz B, Halls C, Ortinanii O (2000) Latects of a Combined treatment with mTOR inhibitor RAD001 and tamoxifen in vitro on growth and apoptosis of human cancer cells. Gynecol Oncol 102: 292–299. Teachey DT, Obzut DA, Cooperman J, Fang J, Carroll M, et al. (2006) The
- Fractice DT, Outer DA, cooperinan J, Fag J, Gatton M, J mTOR inhibitor CCI-779 induces apoptosis and inhibits growth in preclinical models of primary adult human ALL. Blood 107: 1149–1155. Avellino R, Romano S, Parasole R, Bisogni R, Lamberi A, et al. (2005) Rapamycin stimulates apoptosis of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. 45. Blood 106: 1400-1406
- Hahn M, Li W, Yu C, Rahmani M, Dent P, et al. (2005) Rapamycin and UCN-46
- 47.
- Hahm M, Li W, Yu C, Rahmani M, Dent P, et al. (2005) Rapamycin and UCN-01 synergistically induce apoptosis in human leukemia cells through a process that is regulated by the Raf-1/MEK/ERK, Akt, and JNK signal transduction pathways. Mol Cancer Ther 4: 457–470.
 Beuvink I, Boulay A, Fumagalli S, Zilbermann F, Ruetz S, et al. (2005) The mTOR inhibitor RAD001 sensitizes tumor cells to DNA-damaged induced apoptosis through inhibition of p21 translation. Cell 120: 747–759.
 Thimmaiah KN, Easton J, Huang S, Veverka KA, Germain GS, et al. (2003) Insulin-like growth factor I-mediated protection from rapamycin-induced apoptosis is independent of Ras-Erk1-Erk2 and phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase-Akt signaling pathways. Cancer Res 63: 364–374.
 Saito A, Narasimhan P, Hayashi T, Okuno S, Ferrand-Drake M, et al. (2004) Neuroprotective role of a proline-rich Akt substrate in apoptotic neuronal cell death after stroke: relationships with nerve growth factor. J Neurosci 24: 1584–1593. 49.

November 2007 | Issue 11 | e1217

9

PRAS40 and PRR5L Bind mTOR

- Huang B, Porter G (2005) Expression of proline-rich Akt-substrate PRAS40 in cell survival pathway and carcinogenesis. Acta Pharmacol Sin 26: 1253–1258.
 Shah OJ, Wang Z, Hunter T (2004) Inappropriate activation of the TSC/ Rheb/mlTOR/S6K casette induces IRS1/2 depletion, insulin resistance, and cell survival deficiencies. Curr Biol 14: 1650–1656.
 Ghosh S, Tergaonkar V, Rothlin CV, Correa RG, Bottero V, et al. (2006) Easential role of tuberous selerossi genes TSC1 and TSC2 in NF-kappaB activation and cell survival. Cancer Cell 10: 215–226.
 Chrestensen CA, Schroeder JJ, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Pelo JW, et al. (2004) MAPKAP kinase 2 phosphorylates tristetraprolin on in vivo sites including Ser178, a site required for 14-3-3 binding. J Biol Chem 279: 10176–10184.
- Gaulin CL, Eng JK, Cross ST, Detter JC, Yates JR III (2000) Automated identification of amino acid sequence variations in proteins by HPLC/ microspray tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chem 72: 757-763.
 Liou J, Kim ML, Heo WD, Jones JT, Myers JW, et al. (2005) STIM is a Ca2+ sensor essential for Ca2+-store-depletion-triggered Ca2+ influx. Curr Biol 15: 1235-1241.
 Kettrizz R, Scheumann J, Xu Y, Luft FC, Haller H (2002) TNF-alpha-accelerated apoptosis abrogates ANCA-mediated neutrophil respiratory burst by a caspase-dependent mechanism. Kidney Int 61: 502-515.

DLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

10

November 2007 | Issue 11 | e1217

Erklärung

Ich erkläre hiermit, dass ich diese Dissertation 'Regulation of adipogenesis and adipose maintenance by the mammalian TOR complex 1' nur mit der darin angegebenen Hilfe verfasst und bei keiner anderen Fakultät eingereicht habe.

Pazit Polak